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Who we are
Aberdeen Asset Management is an 
independent asset management group 
that has been listed on the London  
Stock Exchange since 1991 and is today 
a FTSE-250 company.  Founded 25 years 
ago in Aberdeen, Scotland, the Group 
has 24 offices in 20 countries.  We invest 
worldwide on behalf of clients across 
the three major asset classes of equities, 
fixed income and property and aim 
for superior investment performance 
through original thinking and first-hand 
research.

What we do
Our business is the active management 
of financial assets, chiefly equities, 
fixed income and property, for third 
parties.  We package and sell that 
expertise in the form of segregated and 
pooled products across borders.  Our 
key clients include leading national and 
corporate pension funds, central banks 
and other investment institutions.  

About Aberdeen  
Asset Management
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Our culture
Given Aberdeen's roots as an investment 
boutique, we value a flat management 
structure, openness and accessibility 
both to each other and our clients.  We 
believe this openness, allied to small, 
tight-knit investment teams, helps to 
build trust and long-lasting business 
relationships.  The Group has expanded 
quickly through organic growth and 
selective acquisition.  Over the years, 
the Group has acquired knowledge as 
to how to integrate new teams and 
staff members.  Change is part of our 
industry and we respect the innovation, 
new ideas and the experience that our 
new colleagues bring to our business.

Our approach
We know global markets from the 
local level upwards.  We are big  
enough to have global coverage of 
stocks and markets.  But we are small  
enough to focus on each and every 
portfolio decision.  Our teams value  
original thinking and knowledge, so 
decisions are only based on our own  
research.  Clear investment decisions 
matter to us.  We aim for our funds 
to be the right size and scale and 
not become too large or unwieldy 
which can detract from performance. 
We think our size and approach are 
optimum to deliver effective asset 
management and superior client service. 
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Dividend per share (pence)

*  adjusted for the effects of the rights issue in September 2005  

 and adoption of IFRS.

Historical summary
Earnings per share (pence)

Operational highlights
•	 Assets	under	management	increased	 
 to £111.1 billion (2007: £95.3 billion)

•	 Clean	profit	before	tax	£95.1	million	 
 (2007: £94.3 million)

•	 Final	dividend	of	3.0p	per	share,		 
 5.8p for the full year

•	 New	business	wins	of	£21.8	billion		 	
 funded in the year, plus £1.9 billion   
 awarded but not funded at year end

•	 Promising	demand	across	diverse	 
 asset classes 

2008  9.01

2007  11.09

2006  8.95

2005  4.60*

2004  3.01*

2008  5.80

2007  5.50

2006  4.40

2005  3.00*

2004  2.57*

Assets under management (£bn)

2008  111.1

2007  95.3

2006  73.2

2005  59.7

2004  22.1

Operational and Financial Highlights



REvENuE

2008:  £430.1m 
2007:  £347.8m     

DILuTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

2008:  9.0p 
2007:  11.1p

PRE-TAx PROFIT

2008:  £95.1m 
2007:  £94.3m

TOTAL DIvIDEND PER SHARE

2008:  5.8p 
2007:  5.5p

GROSS NEW BuSINESS (FuNDED)

2008:  £21.8bn 
2007:  £22.8bn

ASSETS uNDER MANAGEMENT 

2008: £111.1bn 
2007: £95.3bn

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS PERCENTAGE CHANGE

+23.6%
+0.9%
-18.8%
+5.5%
-4.4%

+16.6%
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Chairman’s statement

The Group continued to attract healthy levels 
of new business, particularly from Continental 
Europe, with gross inflows running at similar 
levels to last year.  However, to a large 
extent these wins have been offset by higher 
redemptions because of increased risk aversion.  
Nevertheless, gross new business for 2008 
of £21.8 billion, with a further £1.9 billion of 
mandates awarded but not funded at the year 
end, are testament to our product strength.  
After deducting redemptions of £20.8 billion, net 
new business for the year totalled £1.0 billion, 
a respectable balance in the circumstances.  
Margins overall however remain under pressure 
in volatile conditions and our previously reported 
cost reduction programme continues in light of 
the difficult market environment. 

Financials 
Revenue has increased by 24% to £430.1 
million.  This increase has been spread over 
the investment management and property 
divisions, with the benefit of new revenues from 
acquisitions outweighing the adverse effects of 
the generally lower market levels.

Operating costs have increased by 32%, largely 
as a result of businesses acquired during the year.  
However, as reported in the Interim Management 
Statement in July 2008, we have implemented a 
programme to reduce annual operating costs by 
approximately £57 million which, after factoring 
in the consequent income reduction, will deliver 
a net annualised benefit of approximately £40 
million.  Some £3 million of this net benefit is 
reflected in the second half of the reported year, 
with the balance of the savings to come through 
in 2008/09.  Restructuring costs of £10.3 million 
associated with these savings have been incurred 

in the year to 30 September 2008.  Additionally, 
we are now implementing further annualised  
cost savings of approximately £20 million,  
which we expect to be fully implemented by 
September 2009.

Overall, the Group’s operating profit is slightly 
ahead of last year at £100.0 million, although  
the operating margin is somewhat lower this year 
at 23.2%.  We will continue to manage the cost 
base to ensure that the Group is positioned to 
benefit from an eventual improvement in market 
conditions.

The balance sheet remains healthy, with 
approximately £137 million of net debt 
supported by £743 million of equity.  Whilst we 
chose to finance two of the three acquisitions 
completed during the year from borrowings, 
new equity was issued to fund the acquisition of 
Goodman Property Investors,  thus maintaining 
the Group’s gearing at a comfortable level  
of 18%. 

Results and dividend
The Group’s underlying profit, which we define 
as profit before taxation, exceptional items and 
amortisation of intangible assets, was £95.1 
million compared to £94.3 million in 2007.  This 
represents underlying earnings per share, on a 
diluted basis, of 9.0p, a decrease of 19% on last 
year.  After accounting for exceptional items and 
amortisation, we report a pre-tax profit of £60.5 
million, compared to £23.7 million in 2007.

The board is recommending a final dividend of 
3.0p per share, making a total payment for the 
year of 5.8p per share, an increase of 5.5% on the 
total payment for 2007.   

Charles Irby Chairman 

2008 marked Aberdeen’s twenty-fifth year as an independent asset management 
group; it has also been a year of unprecedented uncertainty in financial markets 
and volatility in the asset classes that we manage.  Nonetheless, I am pleased 
to report that the Group has shown considerable resilience.  It has continued to 
achieve success both organically, through new business flows, and strategically, 
through several acquisitions, thus diversifying and strengthening the Group’s 
distribution as well as its investment capabilities.
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Corporate activity
After the year end, the Group announced a 
business and capital alliance with Mitsubishi uFJ 
Trust and Banking Corporation (‘MuTB’), under 
which MuTB will promote selected Aberdeen 
products to the Japanese institutional market.  
MuTB has also purchased approximately 10% 
of Aberdeen’s issued share capital, with the right 
to purchase further shares in the market up to a 
maximum holding of 19.9%.  

In October 2007, we purchased a uS fund 
management business from Nationwide Financial 
Services adding approximately uS$7 billion (£3.5 
billion) of assets under management (‘AuM’), 
principally in sub-advisory mandates.  This 
acquisition not only broadened and strengthened 
our uS equity capability but will increase 
Aberdeen’s distribution resources and presence in 
the uS mutual fund market.  We intend to build 
our uS mutual fund activities from this platform.  

Two further acquisitions have added to our 
property division: DEGI, the German-based 
property asset manager, and Goodman Property 
Investors (‘GPI’), which brings a uK capability to 
complement our European operations.  As well as 
broadening Aberdeen’s client base, bringing £5.8 
billion of additional AuM, the DEGI transaction 
also further strengthened our distribution base 
and profile in Germany.  In May 2008, the GPI  
deal added further AuM of £7.0 billion.  Our 
property division is now the second largest 
property fund manager in the uK and a top ten 
global property manager, with AuM of £25.4 
billion at the year end.  

Overall, these transactions added £16.3 billion to 
AuM and total AuM at the year end increased by 
17% to £111.1 billion (2007: £95.3 billion).   

The operating environment
Without doubt, we are now operating in an 
environment that is challenging all asset 
management firms in a number of ways.  At the 
most fundamental level, fee income is under 
pressure, as assets fall and margin pressures 
increase.  The management team has addressed 
this through a cost reduction programme I have 
described above.  

We have seen extraordinary declines in 
asset prices over the past twelve months.  
unfortunately, whatever action is undertaken 
by governments and central banks, markets are 
likely to remain difficult in the shorter term 
even if a measure of confidence does return.  
Traditional managers with transparent processes 
and business models at least can offer products 
that can be understood; as independent asset 
managers we can provide these services without 
conflicts of interest or balance sheet risk.  

Our investment philosophy is to identify 
fundamentals that will drive asset prices over 
the long term.  Our global equities team have 
continued to deliver performance well ahead 
of benchmark over both the short and long 
term.  Our fixed income teams have experienced 
unprecedented market conditions because of 
the global credit crunch.  Whilst the credit teams 
managed to avoid the perils of the CDO market, 
the magnitude of deleveraging and illiquidity in 
many areas of the market have led to even high 
quality securities moving to extreme valuations.  
The impact of this has hurt our uS credit 
performance, and to a lesser extent our other 
credit teams globally.  Property as an asset class 
has also suffered during this turbulent period.  
We are fortunate that most clients by value are 
institutional investors that have long-term time 
horizons and have invested in funds with lengthy 
lock-in periods.  

OuR stRAtEGy
The Group has a balanced business with 
principal investment centres in the three  
main time zones.

Our expertise is the management of client 
portfolios from a fundamental perspective.   
This forms the basis of our core investment 
competence.

We intend to develop our investment capability 
and distribution platforms in order to enter 
new markets and segments where we have a 
competitive and sustainable edge.

 
We will add new offices where it will enhance 
our services to clients and prospects or deepen 
our investment coverage.

We also build our assets and skills through 
acquisitions where we see a fit to our  
existing business.

To manage costs, we outsource or  
centralise non-core functions.  We prefer  
to own investment competence, product 
development and client relations ourselves.
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Funded 
£m

yet to fund 
£m

total 
£m

Fixed income: Gross inflows 8,515 629 9,144
Outflows (9,955) – (9,955)
Net flow (1,440) 629 (811)

Equities: Gross inflows 9,459 507 9,966
Outflows (8,399) – (8,399)
Net flow 1,060 507 1,567

Property: Gross inflows 3,293 724 4,017
Outflows (1,648) – (1,648)
Net flow 1,645 724 2,369

Multi-asset: Gross inflows 487 50 537
Outflows (765) – (765)
Net flow (278) 50 (228)

Group total: Gross inflows 21,754 1,910 23,664
Outflows (20,767) – (20,767)
Net flow 987 1,910 2,897

Chairman’s statement continued

New business
The Group continued to attract new business 
from a broad range of investment disciplines 
and the office network afforded by our property 
division is now also helping to contribute across 
a number of key European countries outside the 
uK.  Whilst our operations in the Netherlands, 
Germany and the Nordic regions have again been 
successful in gaining new local clients, we are 
further encouraged by the breadth of our newer 

 
client base in other domiciles worldwide, with 
new asset flows of note from the Middle East, 
Canada and Korea.  Gross inflows were sourced 
from Continental Europe (33%), the uK (18%), 
the united States and Canada (20%), Asia Pacific 
(14%) and the Middle East and Africa (15%).  The 
composition of new business flows is summarised 
in the following table.  

Outlook
The first two months of our new financial year 
have seen the turmoil in global markets deepen.  
However, we enter it with a stable balance 
sheet, a strong range of core products and a well 
diversified global client base.  Our priorities are 
to make sustainable cost reductions, achieve 
synergies from new business and identify avenues 
to further profitable growth, such as our recent 
partnership with Mitsubishi.  The turmoil in our 
industry and world financial markets will create 
numerous opportunities for growth as well as 
obstacles and we remain alert to both.  Finally, 
we are aware of the importance of our people, 
and the board recognises the commitment and 
professionalism of our staff in what have been, 
and remain, extremely challenging times.

 
I will be retiring from the board at the 
forthcoming AGM after nine years as chairman 
and I am delighted that Roger Cornick, who 
joined the board in 2004, has agreed to succeed 
me as chairman.  These last nine years have been 
an exhilarating period of growth for Aberdeen 
and, although we are currently experiencing 
unprecedented economic conditions, I firmly 
believe that we have the platform in place to 
grow the business in the years ahead and become 
an even more significant player in the global asset 
management industry.  None of this would have 
been possible without the continual hard work 
and commitment of all of our staff, for which I 
am deeply grateful and I would also like to thank 
my colleagues on the board for their contribution 
and support during my term as chairman.  

 

Charles Irby 
Chairman

New business flows
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What we do

At Aberdeen, asset management is our business.  

We operate independently and only manage assets for third 

parties, allowing us to focus solely on their needs, without 

conflicts of interest.  We now manage over £111 billion 

of third party assets from our offices around the world.

Our clients access our investment expertise across the  

three asset classes: equities, fixed income and property.  

We package our skills in the form of segregated and pooled 

products across borders.  We invest worldwide and follow a 

predominantly long-only approach, based on fundamentally 

sound investments – we do not chase market fads.  

Our investment teams are based in the markets or 

regions in which they invest.  Clients understand our 

process and portfolios because they are transparent.  
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Equities breakdownEquity investment process

Company visit note

Quality
Pass or fail?

Potential
revisit

Watchlist/
review

Monitor

Aberdeen
universe

Price
Cheap or
expensive

Portfolio
construction

Risk
controls

1
STEP

2
STEP

3
STEP

UK 
£3.3bn

Asia Pacific 
£12.4bn

European
£0.6bn

Global emerging
markets
£4.7bn

Global/
EAFE

£4.9bn

Specialist
equities
£4.0bn

North America
£2.7bn

Total £32.6bn (2007: £34.0bn)

What we do continued

•	 Bottom-up	investment	style,	emphasising	 
company fundamentals

•	 Team	approach,	with	asset	managers	based	 
in the regions where we invest

•	 Low	portfolio	turnover,	buying	stocks	 
and holding them for the long term

•	 First-hand	research	is	central	to	our	process

•	 No	investment	without	interviewing	the	 
company’s management first

Aberdeen’s mainstream equity process dates from the  
early 1990s and we believe its advantage lies in the 
consistency of its approach, irrespective of market 
conditions.  From the company visits and analysis carried 
out regionally, through to portfolio construction decisions, 
we adopt a team approach.  Cross-coverage of securities 
locally ensures objectivity; we avoid cultivating ‘star’ 
managers.  Diversification at the stock level is our main 
control of risk.  We aim to add value by capitalising on 
original research.  We see equity risk in terms of investing 
in a poor quality company, or overpaying for a good one.

Equities
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Active management
We aim to add value by identifying good 
quality securities, defined chiefly in terms of 
management and business model, which are 
attractively priced.  Good stockpicking is the key 
to our performance.  We downplay benchmarks 
in portfolio construction since these provide little 
clue to future performance.  Our asset managers 
avoid businesses that we do not understand or 
those with discriminatory shareholder structures. 

Proprietary research
Our mainstream equity managers always visit 
companies before investing, making thousands 
of visits annually to existing and prospective 
holdings.  Every contact is documented in detail.  
If a security fails our screens, we will not own it, 
irrespective of its index weight.

Long-term focus
Our mainstream strategies are simple; we buy 
and hold, add on the dips and take profits on 
price rises.  This reduces transaction costs and 
keeps portfolios focused.  We rarely pursue short-
term returns for mainstream equity strategies, 
albeit for specialist portfolios, activity may be 
more dynamic. 

Team approach
We employ around 90 equity investment 
professionals, based globally.  Portfolio decisions  
are made collectively, and we avoid cultivating 
‘star’ fund managers.  Cross-coverage of securities 
also increases objectivity and lessens reliance  
on individuals.
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Fixed income breakdown

Unfunded
strategies 
£0.4bn

UK 
£14.1bn

High yield
£0.4bn

Global
£8.9bn

Asia Pacific
£3.7bn

Europe
£2.6bn

Emerging markets
£1.9bnUS 

£14.9bn

Total £46.9bn (2007: £44.5bn)

What we do continued

Fixed income •		Active	management,	operating	globally,	 
aiming to deliver outperformance

•	 Belief	that	diversified	sources	of	added	value	 
improve the risk-return profile

•	 	Decisions	made	by	specialists,	within	allocated	 
risk budgets

•	 Local	presence	in	London,	Philadelphia,	Singapore	 
and Sydney

•	 Strong	derivatives	capability	for	both	active	 
and liability management

Aberdeen’s fixed income process dates back to the 
1980s.  Its core characteristics are a focus on proprietary 
research, identifying the opportunities with attractive 
risk-reward characteristics and combining different 
and uncorrelated sources of outperformance, known 
as alpha.  Our discrete alpha teams cover five areas of 
expertise, each of which operates independently of the 
other.  These areas are investment grade credit, high yield, 
emerging market debt, interest rates and currency.  

Fixed income investment process

 
 

1
Clients
Agree your risk and 
return requirements

2
Investment teams

Idea generation in an
unconstrained universe

4
Portfolio managers
Tailored implementation
with no individual discretion

3
Portfolio Selection

Team (PST)
Risk budgeting

and asset allocation
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Active management
We aim to add value by exploiting market 
inefficiencies in the areas of relative value, credit, 
interest rate and currency management.  We have 
dedicated portfolio managers and analysts in the 
three main time zones.  They operate as close- 
knit teams, with investment decision-making 
devolved to specialists, based on their knowledge 
and expertise. 

Team approach
We employ around 100 investment professionals 
across our teams.  They invest within clearly 
delineated parameters, with defined reporting 
lines.  Our team structures exploit the inherent 
advantages of independent alpha sources, and we 
are well established in these strong standalone  
capabilities, as well as in co-ordinating risks  
for individual strategies.  

Flexible and disciplined investment process
Our investment structure enables us not only to 
follow a disciplined investment process but also 
to be flexible to manage portfolios for a wide 
variety of client requirements.  This may range 
from strategies which employ multiple sources of 
uncorrelated returns to those that are focused on 
a particular specialist area, for example emerging 
market debt. 

Diverse solutions
Many clients are moving to higher performance 
or core plus mandates.  Another trend is the move 
away from market-based indices and the use of 
liability driven benchmarks.  We aim to deliver 
performance across the full range of our fixed 
income capabilities.  We also use derivatives, such 
as interest rate and credit default swaps, to add 
value and also to match liability exposures.  
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Property breakdown

Other
£0.3bn

Asia
£0.5bn

Continental &
Eastern Europe

£10.2bn

UK
£6.8bn

Nordic
£7.6bn

Total £25.4bn (2007: £9.4bn)

What we do continued

Property •	 An	active	property	investment	manager

•	 Unrivalled	local	presence	in	key	international	markets

•	 	Separate	accounts	and	collective	funds,	including	 
funds-of-funds

•	 	Disciplined	investment	process,	supported	by	 
research on the ground 

•	 Team	approach,	with	managers	based	in	the	 
regions where we invest

We offer a wide range of well-structured property  
investment vehicles that provide strong risk-adjusted  
returns and a choice of geographic and sector allocation.  
In addition to funds holding direct property, Aberdeen 
has pioneered the development of funds of property 
funds, with exposure to Continental Europe and Asia.  
Active management, top-class research, local presence 
and a rigorous investment process are the means 
by which we add value to property investment.

Property investment process

Investment
Strategy

Forecasts
& Relative
Pricing

Investment
Plan

Selection

Management

Allocation
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Active management
Our understanding of the factors that drive 
returns stems from our local presence and our 
dedicated research capability.  A unique feature of 
property is the value that can be added by active 
asset management, and selecting assets with this 
potential enables a skilful investment manager  
to create alpha and outperform the market.  

Local presence
Active property investment requires a local 
presence.  We have expanded in Europe’s 
heartland and, through our Singapore office, into 
Asia.  We are based in 13 countries and have 
added the 135-strong Deutsche Gesellschaft für 
Immobilienfonds (DEGI) team in Frankfurt and  
160 people from Goodman Property Investors in 
the uK and in Continental Europe.  This unrivalled 
local reach is essential to our understanding 
of local markets and our commitment to local 
decision making.  

Structured investment process
Our proven investment process links the three 
essential disciplines of allocation, selection and 
asset management.  We apply it rigorously to all 
property sectors and geographies.  Our principle 
is to combine advanced top-down research with 
a pragmatic, but structured, bottom-up approach 
from our local professionals.  The former focuses 
on managing beta, or portfolio risk, the latter on 
creating alpha.  

Delivering risk-adjusted returns
We aim to help our institutional clients achieve 
well diversified property exposure by delivering 
superior risk-adjusted returns through funds that 
offer a clear choice of geographic or sectoral 
exposure.  With our advanced portfolio modelling 
techniques, we provide an understanding of 
the risk of different property investments 
and their place in multi-asset portfolios.
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Business  
review

Market background
The past twelve months have corresponded with 
exceptional weakness across asset classes, leading 
to perhaps the worst market conditions for a 
generation.  Warning signs were evident when we 
wrote last year, but problems seemed confined 
to esoteric areas of ‘credit’.  We now know better.  
Mortgage-backed securities were just the visible 
part of a derivatives-led bubble in structured 
finance, much of which went unsupervised.  

Governments have now committed billions of 
taxpayers' funds to prevent systemic failure; but 
the withdrawal of credit, as financial institutions 
try to raise capital, is also a symptom of a lack 
of trust between banks and their counterparties.  
Corporates and households alike across the West 
have taken on too much debt, which means 
balance sheets will have to be rebuilt.  Meanwhile, 
assets continue to deflate to more realistic levels, 
led by housing.  

 
So, the developed world is in recession and 
large emerging economies such as China, 
which accounted for perhaps a quarter of 
global growth in 2007, are facing a sharp 
slowdown.  Any hope of economic decoupling 
between developed and developing markets 
has evaporated.  Globalisation has accelerated 
financial contagion and markets today are 
volatile and directionless.  Investors face huge 
losses and the only thing up is market correlation.  

This, then, is a difficult time for asset managers; 
yet an honest confrontation with the 
consequences of debt and excesses is essential.  
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Industry development 
Steep falls in markets, and no early sign of 
recovery, have put pressure on revenues.  A rise in 
redemptions has made the situation worse.  As a 
recent McKinsey study showed, cost margins have 
been increasing across the asset management 
industry for the last two years.  At Aberdeen,  
costs are under review and we have already  
acted on a £57 million savings programme this 
year and targeted an additional £20 million for 
the coming year.

Against this background a debate continues on 
the merits of traditional long-only management 
versus alternatives, such as hedge funds.  This 
reflects a broader client quest to separate market 
returns (or ‘beta’) from value-added skill (or 
‘alpha’).  Trends suggest more allocations will 
be made to absolute return strategies, despite 
questions over fees and performance; at the 
same time indexation – such as Exchange Traded 
Funds – grows in popularity, and influential 
pension managers are moving to run active 
assets in-house.  Surveys also show that clients 
want to move away from equities and put more 
money to work in hedge funds and increasingly 
what are known as ‘real assets’ such as property, 
commodities and infrastructure.

For managers, this polarity poses organisational 
challenges, and leads logically to the ‘multi-
boutique’ wherein different specialist brands 
and styles co-exist under one roof.  New rules, 
meanwhile, are blurring boundaries.  Certain

 
‘class III’ Luxembourg-based uCITS funds are 
now allowed to use derivatives and uCITS 
have become the default for pooled products 
outside the uS because of their cross-border 
marketability.  Further changes are expected on 
the use of sophisticated instruments to help 
generate absolute returns.  

All along we have stuck to what we do best, 
which is the active, fundamentally-driven 
management of client strategies.  Far from seeing 
ourselves on the wrong side of developments, we 
believe the collapse in markets may actually have 
sharpened our competitive points of difference.  
It is a lack of transparency that has forced clients’ 
hands.  Yet our disciplined, easy-to-understand 
approach has resulted in strong relative 
performance, particularly in equities.  By contrast, 
fixed income has been disappointing this year 
and we misjudged the depth of contagion, even 
as we avoided the more toxic credit.  

Looking ahead, we must be careful about 
embracing ‘innovative’ strategies that would 
dilute our positioning.  As it stands, by having 
avoided moving into non-core areas where we 
lacked expertise, we do not now face a more 
drastic need to exit non-performing businesses 
or raise capital, unlike many integrated financial 
houses.  In fact, as the industry consolidates, 
there may be acquisition opportunities for 
independent operators such as ourselves.

Comparison of financial crises
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From a distribution stance, we think the ‘pure 
play’ manager has advantages, particularly 
to intermediaries as open architecture 
becomes the global norm.  After recent market 
experience, products from such managers 
that offer transparency should carry more 
credibility with underlying investors.  Against 
this, competition to get onto the leading 
distributor platforms has grown, and at a 
price, in terms of fee sharing and servicing.  

In recent years, we have expanded client 
management and services to meet such 
challenges and earn the platforms’ trust.   
Faced with rising cost margins, we must 
reduce overheads, but without hollowing out 
our core business, which could be counter-
productive later.  So far, our focus has been 
on eliminating extraneous expenses.  We are 
also seeking to extract economies of scale 
following the integration of Goodman Property 
Investors (‘GPI’) and DEGI into Aberdeen 
Property Investors.  Meanwhile, our mutual 
funds' business in the uS is progressing well.  
We remain committed to organic expansion 
and have opened offices in Switzerland, Taiwan 
and China over the past year.  These are all 
markets where we have existing business to 
support, and where we would expect to grow 
net assets once market sentiment improves.  

 

Investment performance review

Fixed Income 
Fixed income markets experienced a tumultuous 
year.  The collapse in credit, which was initially 
associated with sub-prime and CDOs, gradually 
infected the whole financial system, leading 
to massive global deleveraging and the seizing 
up of markets.  Banks withdrew capital in the 
face of massive writedowns leading to a denial 
of credit to even well-funded companies.  This 
remains, in spite of huge liquidity injections and 
public bailouts, with the result that extreme risk 
aversion prevails and credit spreads have widened 
to unprecedented levels.

The ramifications for our portfolios were negative.  
Credit is important to yield enhancement and 
our performance suffered, noticeably in our uS 
business where we held non-agency mortgage-
backed securities.  Although not sub-prime, these 
securities have clearly been affected by the crisis.  
Between October 2007 and July 2008 we closed 
temporarily a number of fixed income strategies 
to new business.  This period allowed us to absorb 
a significant proportion of the new business 
pipeline that had built up.  Throughout the year 
we have expended much effort maintaining 
relationships with key clients.

Business review continued
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There were some bright spots, namely the 
emerging markets and global strategies, 
which continued to gain acceptance, even 
as the fundamentals in emerging markets 
worsened, with downgrades to those 
countries with weak external balances 
that are dependent on foreign funding.  By 
contrast, government bond markets generally 
performed well once inflation concerns eased.  

With recession imminent in the developed 
world and much of its banking system on life 
support, the current illiquidity of markets and 
extremely wide credit spreads are likely to persist.  
But over time this situation offers significant 
opportunities for investors in fixed income.  Our 
efforts next year will be focused on converting 
these opportunities to outperformance for our 
clients and developing appropriate products.  

Equities
Our equity division had a tough time, the MSCI 
World Index falling by 15% in sterling terms in 
the 12 month period, with the result that many 
markets are back to 2003 levels.  Emerging 
markets fared worse as leveraged investors took 
profits to meet cash needs elsewhere.  Some of 
2007’s star performers, such as China, where we 

had justified our caution by warning of excessive 
buying momentum, plunged even more steeply.  

Still, in relative terms, these falls played to our 
strengths.  Our portfolios were generally light in 
areas such as cyclicals, which proved vulnerable, 
and their emphasis instead on good cashflow 
businesses cushioned relative declines.  

For our global portfolios, the minimal exposure 
to uK and uS banks was a cornerstone of 
outperformance, with many active manager 
competitors caught by the fallout on Wall Street.  
We were successful in winning new mandates 
around the world, but particularly in the uS, 
Canada, Korea and the Netherlands.  As we have 
seen before, a clear process and genuine team 
approach underpinned our presentations, as well 
as consistent performance.

With the Nationwide take-on, which has added 
investment managers as well as funds, we now 
have a sizeable and fully integrated team in 
Philadelphia under one roof.  We expect this to 
address a key consultant perception, namely that 
we have been under-resourced in the world’s 
largest market.  
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Meanwhile our global emerging market (‘GEM’) 
capability continued to gather interest; and 
once again the wins we achieved were across 
the globe, and mainly at good margins.  In July, 
we decided to close GEM to new segregated 
business, following the same action in Asia Pacific 
two years previously.  In the latter, we are once 
again top quartile across most significant periods 
up to five years and longer, which has reinforced 
our high standing.

The only blight was in the uK and Europe where 
the emergent resources sector has skewed indices, 
and has only recently corrected.  We have been 
underweight because the majority of firms in this 
sector are based overseas and lack transparency.  
But we were also unfortunate in owning stocks 
that have done poorly, either because they lost 
their way or because pricing simply fails in our  
view to reflect their value (and in our view may  
only be temporary).  

Property
This has been another eventful year for our 
property division Aberdeen Property Investors 
(‘API’).  Having launched a range of new products 
in 2007, our priority has been to consolidate 
recent acquisitions.  In December we announced 
the acquisition of DEGI, a leading fund manager 
in Germany.  This has raised our profile in 
Europe’s biggest market for open-ended real 

estate funds, where previously we had only a 
toehold, and gives us reach well beyond our 
original Nordic base.  DEGI has 135 professionals 
based in Frankfurt and £5.8 billion under 
management.

In May we then completed the purchase of 
GPI, which added another £7.0 billion in AuM.  
GPI strengthens our local presence throughout 
Europe, particularly in the uK, Europe’s biggest 
property market.  This was a good fit as we 
had been underweight in our home market, 
an anomaly we were keen to correct.  GPI also 
shares our investment approach and runs both 
direct and indirect businesses, with institutional 
investors, such as life insurers and pension funds, 
making up its clients.

The integration of GPI and API was 
straightforward, and importantly led to high 
levels of client retention.  We believe clients are 
already seeing synergies as we are able to offer 
an expanded service range.  The significance 
of the DEGI purchase is more localised since 
the German market is sizeable and has a high 
wholesale component (the open-ended sector is 
around £70 billion).  But the core expertise we 
have gained is highly transferable.  With more 
than £25 billion in assets under management we 
are now a top ten property manager globally and  
one of Europe’s largest.  

Business review continued
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In many respects, therefore, the latest 
developments have allowed API to step up 
another level, which should be to the eventual 
benefit of clients.  There is considerable scope 
to manufacture and cross-sell products, through 
our sector and geographical expertise, and to 
exploit the platform of an independent global 
management group.

Our investment strategies now run from balanced 
country-specific mandates to specialist and 
international funds, including the funds-of-funds 
range under our indirect division.  These are all 
supported by rigorous investment processes, 
independent in-house research and local active 
management.  We consider our local knowledge, 
which comes directly from the markets, to 
contribute much to the added value of the 
research team’s outputs.  A local presence 
moreover means that the enlarged API has one of 
the most comprehensive deal sourcing networks 
in the market and a high market profile.  

Lastly, we have an increased ability to offer staff 
international career development opportunities.  
This assists us in attracting and retaining world-
class talent.  

In common with other asset classes, property 
has not been immune to the fallout in financial 
markets.  In October, just after the year end, 
heavy redemptions led us to close some of our 
German property funds temporarily.

During the year, Aberdeen has continued to 
integrate property teams within the wider 
Group, adapting the policy of allocating Client 
Relationship Managers (CRM) to each of our 
clients.  The CRM is not involved in the day-
to-day running of the portfolio, but has overall 
responsibility for the effective delivery of 
appropriate levels of service, and ensuring that 
the requirements of mandates are being fulfilled.  
Although headline figures are distorted by 
acquisitions, underlying AuM and profits in this 
division remained at a satisfactory level. 

Business development 
Traditional asset managers have had to ask 
themselves hard questions.  Mutual fund 
flows have been negative across asset classes.  
Continental Europe, which is an area we had 
targeted for development, has seen a massive 
exodus from the funds industry overall (around 
£45 billion in the nine months to September).  
Much of this appears to have flowed out of 
money market funds and back into deposits to 
the benefit of bank distributors, which may need 
to rebuild capital.  Conditions have dissuaded new 
product launches.  

Even so, unlike our pure retail competitors, we 
also sell to institutions, including other asset 
managers.  Institutional monies have been more 
‘sticky’ of late, generally in part because of good 
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relative performance in our key asset classes (uS 
and Australian fixed income being an exception). 
In addition to these existing clients, we filed a 
record number of requests for proposals (rfps) 
over the year and pitched for new mandates.

We have sought to build a global client base 
and service infrastructure to penetrate faster-
growing markets, as well as more mature ones 
like the uS where we can position as a specialist 
international manager.  In gross terms, we have 
been successful.  New institutional mandates 
awarded amounted to £4.6 billion, with major 
wins in the Middle East, South Korea, Germany, 
the Netherlands and North America.  Gross 
outflows, by contrast, amounted to £4.1 billion.

On the pooled funds side, we raised £10.4 billion 
in new money but leakage of the same amount 
occurred from our dominant Asia Pacific equity 
funds (including China and India).  This was 
disappointing, if outwith our control: despite (or 
because of) plunging markets, performance has 
been exceptional in relative terms. 

We have looked hard at how we can improve 
distribution, both to support existing and 
prospective business.  In Europe that job is 
made easier by the relative portability of 
products (pooled funds being marketable 
across borders).  But local and cultural factors 
can inhibit a too centralised approach.  A key 
driver of AuM growth has been countries where 
we had no presence three years ago.  On the 
Continent, our Dutch office stands out for 

the quality and depth of its client base, with 
significant assets in fixed income, equities 
and balanced mandates.  Dutch assets under 
management exceeded £6 billion at year end.

The Dutch institutional market is also an 
early adopter of new asset management 
techniques and products.  We see a couple of 
major trends, the first being a move towards 
fiduciary management by both large and smaller 
pension funds; many are clients, and sometimes 
competitors (for example in smaller multi-asset 
mandates, where we won our first such account).  
The second development is demand for Socially 
Responsible Investing, especially among the 
largest and industry wide pension funds.  

In Germany, after an excellent first year we 
continued to win mandates, equal to more than 
£184 million over the year, nearly all from large 
institutions.  We had success in Austria also 
with two mandate wins, equating to more than 
£60 million.  Our aim is to improve our reach 
in Austria and German-speaking Switzerland, 
because they are more open to direct manager 
approaches than other markets.  We are also 
establishing contact with the consultant 
community.   

Apart from these developments we opened 
an office in Zurich, in the main to service the 
wealth management business we have built from 
London, but which has now become large enough 
to warrant local servicing. 

Business review continued
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Europe has also been a testbed for organising our 
business development teams around function.  
With property of growing importance, we have 
brought over many colleagues from that division 
in order to promote products for the whole 
Group.  This has been of particular benefit in the 
Nordic region; equally we now have an ability to 
sell our property capability outside that area.

At the same time, as a manager of third 
party funds, we have identified the growing 
transnational power of Global Financial 
Institutions, the significance of which grows 
now that we have the capability to service 
their networks locally.  The intention here is 
to develop not only high level contacts in the 
key centres but to formalise relationships in 
local jurisdictions alongside; this positions us to 
implement regional campaigns more easily, using 
standardised servicing and cleaner fee structures.  

But the most significant change to our 
distribution capability this year has been the 
recent signing of a business alliance with MuTB, 
part of Japan’s Mitsubishi uFJ group, announced 
in October 2008.  This offers us access to the 
second largest pension market in the world; 
MuTB has scale, market share and reach.  

While it is too early to have had an impact, 
the alliance coincides with the granting of a 
full discretionary fund manager licence for our 
office in Tokyo.  We are hopeful therefore of the 
potential for asset gathering, and aware of the 
often difficult experience of longer established 
competitors who have not used local partners.

Among other Asian countries, we won new 
institutional mandates in South Korea, which 
are in the course of being funded, and this has 
propelled our decision to open a representative 
office in Seoul shortly.  Markets otherwise have 
been challenging, and made harder by our Asian 
equity bias, hence in the retail business outflows 
were common to all our markets.  Against this we 
picked up some smaller mandates in Malaysia.   

The least welcome development was in 
Australia where some large clients sold out of 
our fixed income funds whose performance 
has been weak and market illiquidity led 
us to suspend pricing on one product.  The 
result was that funds under management in 
this market fell steeply.  But on the bright 
side, interest remains in our international 
and emerging market equities' capabilities.

Aberdeen net new business: fixed income by asset type 
to 30 september 2008, £m
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Business review continued

Last, in the uS, we acquired Nationwide Financial 
Services’ uS equity asset management business 
a year ago.  Since then, we have developed fund 
administration, distribution and marketing.  
This includes the branding of several former 
Nationwide funds, establishing a separate 
broker-dealer for sales to intermediaries; and 
soon the merger of the two offices we have in 
the Philadelphia area.  On the institutional front, 
we have also made satisfactory progress with 
our global and emerging market equity products 
where we won several new mandates.  

Among closed end funds, we announced in 
March 2008 the redemption of all the issued and 
outstanding shares of Aberdeen Global Income’s 
series of auction market preferred stock (AMPS) 
We took a similar initiative in April with the 
Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Fund.  These actions helped 
boost liquidity at a sensitive time. 

Outlook
The current crisis is different in some important 
ways from previous ones.  Its underlying causes 
are complex, with deregulation and lack of 
oversight at its core.  Central to recovery is bank 
recapitalisation because, without that, lending 
cannot resume.  Further writedowns at this 
juncture may be evidence that this process has 
started; but still-frozen capital markets have 
necessitated taxpayer-led rescues that may 
create their own distortions.  

Most worrying is that massive monetary 
easing has had little positive effect so far.  This 
underscores the fact that debt levels are strikingly 
high and the solution is to cut capacity.  We could 
never be in a mere ‘financial’ crisis; global growth 
has been built on leverage.  So unlike in previous 
cycles it is the economy, not interest rates, that 
will need to revive markets, and that presupposes 
a drawn-out process that will probably require 
housing and jobs to stabilise first.  

In our uK home market, recession is biting.  
Economic data has been dire and shares and the 
pound continue to plunge.  The rate of decline 
in output, even before expected widespread job 
losses, is a concern especially for services.  The 
uS has it no better and now Germany and Japan, 
whose economies are built on exports, are in 
recession too.  

This is perhaps a bleak assessment, unconducive 
to investment in general.  But times of distress 
eventually bring opportunities because of 
mispricing.  At present there is little consensus 
over earnings, so valuations are hard to read.   
As fundamental investors, we expect the more 
cash-rich companies to emerge stronger because 
of the potential for market consolidation, 
provided market forces are allowed to work.   
In bond markets, meanwhile, the critical action 
would appear the Federal Reserve’s attempt to 
steepen a yield curve, to allow banks to generate 
capital, anchor inflationary expectations and  
head off the threat of deflation.
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until clarity returns, we expect risk aversion 
to remain high.  Our industry is already seeing 
lower levels of profitability.  The attraction of 
derivatives in mainstream funds will therefore 
continue, for protection or active risk-taking.   
At the same time we see an opposite pendulum 
swing back in favour of clear, uncomplicated 
products that are fully ring-fenced for investors.  
Now we have a genuinely global network, this is 
an area in which we can excel.

various secular trends remain that offer 
encouragement for the asset management sector.  
The pensions gap in the West, for example in the 
uS and uK, will continue to need to be funded.  
Secondly the emerging market economies are 
seeing a rapid growth in funds as those nations 
seek to establish pensions and retirement 
capital.  So whilst the nature of products and 
their degrees of complexity (and innovation) 
will continue to ebb and flow, the drivers for 
competent asset management will continue 
beyond the volatility and current financial storms. 

Financial objectives
The Group is committed to delivering long-term 
shareholder value by pursuing a strategy that 
involves an appropriate mix of organic growth 
and selective acquisitions.

The Group’s principal aims are to grow the 
recurring revenues generated from AuM and 
to maintain an efficient cost base from which 

to service this business.  The level of net new 
business inflows is a key driver of the growth in 
revenues and profits.

Acquisitions
Three acquisitions were completed during the 
year, adding approximately £16.3 billion to AuM 
and introducing additional revenue and profit 
streams to both the investment management and 
property divisions.

The purchase of certain uS fund management 
businesses from Nationwide Financial Services 
in October 2007 brought a broad range of uS 
equity sub-advisory mandates and a second 
stage to the transaction resulted in the Group's 
uS subsidiary being appointed as investment 
advisor to a number of these funds.  The total 
cash consideration paid for these businesses was 
uS$32 million (£16 million).

In March 2008 we completed the purchase  
of the German property fund management  
business operated by DEGI for a cash 
consideration of e110 million (£87.4 million).  
under the terms of the purchase agreement, 
the economic benefits transferred to the 
Group with effect from 1 January 2008 and 
the results of this business have therefore 
been consolidated within the property division 
for 9 months of the 2008 financial year.

The purchase of Goodman Property Investors 
(‘GPI’) was completed at the end of May 2008, 
adding a uK capability to our property division 
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and adding £7.0 billion of new AuM.  The 
purchase consideration of £88.8 million, plus  
£5.2 million for GPI’s tangible net assets, was 
settled in cash and financed by the placing of 
65.1 million new ordinary shares with investors.  
Further deferred consideration of up to £12.5 
million may be payable, contingent upon GPI 
meeting agreed new business targets over the 
two years to 31 May 2010; based on current 
market conditions, the board estimates that the 
maximum deferred consideration which may 
become payable will be £3.1 million.

Review of results
Against a background of falling global markets 
and the consequent adverse impact on the 
Group’s AuM and revenues, the results for the 
year to 30 September 2008 disclose underlying 
profit before taxation of £95.1 million, which 
is slightly ahead of the previous year.  Organic 
growth from net new business flows has been 
supplemented by the benefits of a number of 
acquisitions completed during the year.

At the gross level, new business flows have 
continued to be very strong, delivering £21.8 
billion of new AuM during the year (2007: £22.8 
billion).  However, in common with many others 
in the industry, we have seen an increased level 
of withdrawals and redemptions as clients have 

demonstrated reduced risk appetites.  Outflows 
for the year were £20.8 billion, a 46% increase 
on the £14.2 billion of outflows reported for 
2007.  Despite the increased outflows, net new 
business flows remained positive at £1.0 billion 
(2007: £8.7 billion).  A further £1.9 billion of new 
mandates had been awarded at 30 September 
2008 for which the funding was not received 
from clients until after the year end.  The 
continuing uncertainty in global bond and stock 
markets inevitably means that new business 
generation is more difficult, but we continue to 
have a healthy pipeline of potential opportunities.  
Indeed, having reopened our main fixed income 
classes to new segregated business, we have 
taken a conscious decision to undertake a 
temporary closure to new segregated business in 
our global emerging markets equity capability, so 
that we can manage the quality and flow rate of 
assets we take on.

Consistent with the approach we adopted in 
previous years, this business review discusses the 
results on the basis of presentation adopted for 
management purposes, which we refer to as the 
underlying basis.  The board considers that the 
separation of recurring and non-recurring items 
in this way will provide more helpful information 
to investors.  

Business review continued

Key performance indicators

2008 2007 2006

Growth in underlying profit before taxation +1% +18% +132%

Growth in underlying EPS (diluted) -19% +53% +92%

Operating margins

Investment management division 26.8% 30.7% 29.7%

Property management division 13.8% 20.9% 17.0%

Gross new business – funded in year £21.8bn £22.6bn £14.9bn

Net new business – funded in year £1.0bn £8.7bn £5.0bn

New business awarded but unfunded at year end £1.9bn £3.1bn £1.0bn
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The following table summarises the principal differences between the IFRS and underlying numbers.

The Group’s revenue increased by 24% to £430.1 
million, while the underlying operating profit was 
flat at £100.0 million.  Net finance costs reduced 
to £4.9 million, resulting in an underlying profit 
before taxation of £95.1 million, a 1% increase 
on 2007.

2008 has been a challenging year for the Group, 
as for others, with the impact of weaker markets 
reflected in lower revenues and reduced operating 
margins.  The effect on each of the two divisions 
will be discussed in more detail below but the 
Group’s overall operating margin, which is defined 
as the operating profit divided by total income, 
reduced from 28.5% in 2007 to 23.2% this year.

underlying earnings per share, which is probably 
the most meaningful measure of progress, as it 
takes account of the increased number of shares 
in issue as well as the rise in profits, declined by 
19% to 9.01 pence per share on a diluted basis.

Exceptional expenses, net of exceptional gains, 
of £20.9 million were incurred during the year.  
The largest element, £10.3 million, was in respect 
of costs associated with the cost reduction 
programme communicated to investors in our 
Interim Management Statement in July 2008, 

with a further £4.1 million of one-off costs 
incurred on the integration of the acquisitions 
completed during the year.  As reported at 
the half year, an impairment charge totalling 
£8.6 million arose on a property seed capital 
investment; this loss was partly offset by a gain 
of £4.1 million which arose on the sale of another 
property later in the year.  Finally, we have made 
provision of £2 million for the estimated costs 
arising from changes in vAT regulations as they 
apply to the fees which we charge to our uK 
investment trust clients.   

Financial Review 
Revenue
Revenue increased by 24% to £430.1 million, 
with both acquisitions and the net new business 
wins contributing to this growth.  The investment 
management division has seen revenue grow 
from £278.8 million in 2007 to £312.8 million 
in 2008, an increase of 12%.  Revenue from the 
property management division, boosted by the 
two acquisitions concluded during the year,  rose 
70%  from £69.0 million in 2007 to £117.3 
million in the current year.

underlying 
£'000

Reclassifications
£'000

IFRs
£'000

Revenue 430,086 – 430,086

Other operating income 724 4,129 4,853

Total income 430,810 4,129 434,939

Operating expenses (330,794) (38,787) (369,581)

Operating profit 100,016 (34,658) 65,358

Net finance costs (4,901) – (4,901)

Profit before taxation 95,115 (34,658) 60,457

Tax expense (16,491) 2,881 (13,610)

Profit after taxation 78,624 (31,777) 46,847

Exceptional income & costs (20,873) 20,873 –

Amortisation of intangible assets (13,785) 13,785 –

Tax on exceptional items and amortisation 2,881 (2,881) –

Profit for the year 46,847 – 46,847

Results on an underlying basis
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Business review continued

Operating profit and margin
underlying operating profit for 2008 was virtually unchanged at £100.0 million, representing an 
operating margin of 23.2%.  In a period characterised by challenging market conditions, the movement 
in operating margins for the two operating segments were as follows: 

Net finance costs
The main elements of net finance costs are 
interest paid on the bonds and convertible bonds 
issued by the Group and on bank borrowings 
drawn from time to time, less interest earned on 
cash balances.  Net finance costs have reduced 
from £5.7 million in 2007 to £4.9 million this 
year; the charge was reasonably low in the first 
half year, due to the repayment of debt in May 
2007 from the proceeds of the issue of 7.9% 
Perpetual subordinated capital securities, but 
increased in the second half year following the 
drawdown of additional bank debt to finance the 
purchase of DEGI.

tax
The effective tax rate, defined as the tax charge 
divided by profit before taxation, was 17.3% in 
2008.  This relatively low rate is achieved because 
significant elements of the Group’s profits are 
earned in jurisdictions which charge tax at lower 
rates than the uK corporation tax rate of 28%.  
This pattern is expected to continue, resulting in 
an effective tax rate in the 17%-20% range for 
the foreseeable future.

Earnings per share
As discussed above, the board believes that 
the most appropriate measure of the Group’s 
profitability is the underlying EPS number, 
which excludes from its calculation exceptional 
costs, exceptional income and gains and the 
amortisation of intangible assets.  On this 
measure the Group’s EPS has decreased by 19% 
to 9.01p per share.

Coupon on 7.9% Perpetual  
subordinated capital securities
The coupon payable on these securities, which 
were issued in 2007 to introduce additional 
flexibility to the capital structure, is fully 
deductible for uK tax purposes, so that the 
post-tax cost is approximately 5.6% pa 
(rising to approximately 5.7% pa in the year 
to 30 September 2009 when the reduction 
in the uK tax rate to 28% will be effective 
for the full year).  This is considerably less 
than the cost of ordinary share capital, 
currently estimated at around 11% pa.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 2.8p per share was paid to 
ordinary shareholders in June 2008 and the board 
is recommending payment of a final dividend 
of 3.0p per share, resulting in a total payment 
for 2008 of 5.8p, a 5% increase on 2007.  This 
dividend is covered 1.6 times by recurring 
earnings per share.

2008 
£m

2007
£m % change

Operating profit

Investment management 83.8 85.6 -2.1

Property 16.2 14.4 +12.5

Operating margin

Investment management 26.8% 30.7%

Property 13.8% 20.9%

Operating profit and margins
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Financial position
Total equity increased by £123.4 million to £743.3 million at 30 September 2008.  The main 
components of this increase were as follows:

Net borrowings at 30 September 2008 were 
£136.7 million, equivalent to a gearing ratio of 
18.4% of total equity.  Net borrowings include 
£2.9 million of convertible bonds which holders 
may elect to convert to ordinary shares at any 
time up to March 2010.  Due to the considerable 
uncertainty surrounding the global banking 
sector around the year end, higher than normal 
levels of cash were retained by the Group but 
these have been used subsequently to repay an 
element of bank debt.  The Group also has access 
to approximately £3.5 million of committed but 
undrawn bank facilities and an overdraft facility 
of £15 million.  These facilities are used for the 
management of working capital requirements 
including the provision of seed capital to enable 
fund launches.

Pension deficits
The net deficit on the Group’s legacy defined 
benefit pension schemes has reduced to £11.9 
million at 30 September 2008, compared to 
£18.3 million at the previous year end – note 
that we are required to disclose separately in the 
balance sheet the surplus of £5.5 million (2007: 
nil) on one scheme separately from the aggregate 
deficit of £17.4 million (2007: £18.3 million) on 
the others.  The 2008 total includes an amount of 
£6.4 million in respect of pension arrangements 

taken on as part of the DEGI acquisition.  This 
improvement may seem somewhat perverse 
given the ongoing turmoil in global financial 
markets and the consequent reduction in the 
assets of these schemes.  However, IAS 19 
requires that we value the liabilities of the 
schemes using a discount rate calculated by 
reference to the yield on AA-rated corporate 
bonds; the discount rate used this year is 7.0%, 
compared to 5.9% in 2007 and, as a result, 
the aggregate liabilities of the schemes have 
reduced considerably.  The Group’s ongoing cash 
contribution to these schemes is approximately 
£5 million per annum.

Capital raised
The principal capital raising during the year was 
the placing of 65.1 million new ordinary shares 
at a price of 150p per share in May 2008.  This 
issue raised £95.2 million after expenses and the 
proceeds were used to finance the purchase of 
Goodman Property Investors Limited.  

21.9 million new ordinary shares were issued  
in December 2007 on the conversion of  
£23.6 million of the 4.5% Convertible bonds 
2010 and 993,000 new ordinary shares were 
issued pursuant to the exercise of share options 
by employees.

£'000

Profit for the year 46,847

Net expense recognised directly in equity (463)

Issue of ordinary shares 117,248

Preference dividends paid (5,395)

Coupon paid on perpetual capital securities (11,461)

Ordinary dividends paid (38,103)

Release from reserves to match charge for share-based payments in Income Statement 14,716

Increase in total equity 123,389

Changes in equity
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Business review continued

Cash flow
Operating cashflow before interest and tax has doubled in 2008, with £100.0 million of underlying 
operating profit delivering £106.3 million of cash inflows.  The Group’s cash flow performance over the 
last three years is summarised below. 

Financial risk management
Interest rate risk
We finance our activities from a combination 
of share capital and debt, including convertible 
debt and perpetual capital securities.  Interest is 
charged at fixed rates on the convertible bonds 
and the coupon on the preference shares in issue 
is payable, at the discretion of the board, at a 
fixed rate.

Bank borrowings under the Group’s multi-currency 
revolving credit facility are drawn in the desired 
currency at variable interest rates.  Interest on 
the uS dollar subordinated loan is charged at a 
fixed rate for five years from the date of issue, 
July 2006.

The board believes that the current balance 
between floating rate and fixed rate borrowings 
is appropriate to the Group’s business needs and 
will continue to monitor this position on a  
regular basis.

Liquidity risk
The Group's approach to managing liquidity risk 
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due under both normal and stressed 

conditions without incurring unacceptable losses 
or risking damage to the Group's reputation.  
Details of the bank facilities available to the 
Group are provided in note 28.

Foreign currency risk
Revenues are earned principally from fees which 
are calculated on the basis of the value of 
AuM managed for clients and many mandates 
include investments valued in currencies other 
than sterling.  Fluctuations in the rates at which 
overseas currencies are convertible to sterling can 
therefore affect the value of the Group’s revenues 
on an ongoing basis.

The fact that we operate on a global basis, with 
offices in a number of countries worldwide, 
means that a proportion of operating costs is 
also incurred in foreign currencies and interest on 
the Group’s uS$125 million subordinated debt 
and 7.9% perpetual capital securities is incurred 
in uS dollars.  variations in the sterling value of 
these operating costs and interest cost will, to an 
extent, offset any similar impact of fluctuating 
exchange rates on revenues and the board has 
therefore decided that it is not appropriate to 
undertake any specific hedging of exchange rates.

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2006
£'000

Operating cashflow before interest & tax 106,276 51,663 59,567

Interest and tax paid (27,416) (14,512) (7,000)

Cash flow from operating activities after  
interest & tax

78,860 37,151 52,567

Maintenance capital expenditure* (2,959) (6,345) (3,446)

Dividends & coupons paid (54,959) (39,409) (28,110)

Free cash flow 20,942 (8,603) 21,011

Exceptional costs and gains (10,229) (67,077) (49,118)

Acquisitions and disposals (202,296) (58,432) (109,067)

Issue of perpetual capital securities – 196,465 –

Debt drawn (repaid) 98,209 (2,736) 90,678

Issue of share capital 95,206 1,571 873

Purchase of own shares – (29,473) (3,024)

Exchange fluctuations (351) 845 (249)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents 1,481 32,560 (48,896)

*  Maintenance capital expenditure represents the purchase, less disposals, of property, plant and equipment used in the  
Group’s ongoing activities.

Cash flow performance
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Fair value of financial instruments
As explained in note 30 to the accounts, there is  
no material difference between the book value  
and fair value of financial instruments as at  
30 September 2008.

Client relationships
Our relationships with clients are fundamental. 
Our client relations teams keep in regular contact 
with them to ensure that we address their 
changing needs.  More widely, we aim to provide 
a high level of information to our customers, 
through a variety of means. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
In common with many businesses, the Group is 
exposed to a range of risks.  Some of these risks 
are an inherent part of the business, such as 
taking investment decisions on behalf of clients 
and our energies are focused on managing this 
risk, as opposed to eliminating it.  There is also 
regulatory and compliance risk which we actively 
seek to manage.

The management of risk is embedded in the 
culture of the business and the way we conduct 
it.  The risk management committee together 
with the risk, compliance and internal audit 
departments are responsible for overseeing the 
implementation of our risk strategies and this 
involves the provision of regular reports to the 
board.

In order to mitigate risk, the Group manages risk  
in a variety of ways depending on the nature of 
the risk and the areas of potential impact.  The 
key risks for the Group include:

Investment performance risk
The majority of the Group’s revenue is derived 
from management fees which are calculated on 
the basis of the value of AuM from time to time.  
The value of AuM will be affected by general 
movements, positive or negative, in the markets in 
which the assets are invested but, more specifically, 
will be affected by the actual investment 
performance achieved by the asset managers.

Our investment performance will, from time 
to time and measured over various time 
periods, exceed or lag general market or 

benchmark performance – referred to as relative 
performance.  We deliberately adopt a long 
term investment style, founded on a robust 
investment process which involves detailed 
research of individual stocks, both before 
and following investment.  This investment 
style is designed to deliver superior returns 
over the longer term but it may result in 
below benchmark returns in periods when 
markets generally are driven forward by 
positive (and often shorter term) sentiment.

We seek to mitigate this risk by ensuring that 
both clients and investment consultants are  
kept fully aware of the nature of our investment 
philosophy and by openly discussing the drivers  
of such performance, supported by relevant 
analysis of the components of performance, and 
comparing this with benchmark performance.

Employee risk
We operate internationally and the Group's 
most important resource is its staff.  Their 
knowledge and abilities are central to meeting 
clients’ needs and expectations.  Retention of 
key staff is vitally important in maintaining this 
focus on client service.  The Group runs graduate 
recruitment programmes and ongoing training 
and development courses.  Appropriate incentive 
packages are in place to encourage and reward 
strong performance.

Business continuity risk
We have an obligation to ensure that the 
business can operate at all times.  We have 
continuity plans which are tested regularly.  Our 
main back office is outsourced to third parties.  
We monitor these providers closely.  As well, we 
have off-site back up to our systems in place 
for each of the Group’s principal operating sites.  
We are insured in the event of loss of revenue 
through business interruption.

Project risk
We are reliant on the smooth and efficient 
delivery of key projects and manage the 
risks involved in these through a clearly 
defined process which is overseen by a senior 
management team.  This Group projects 
committee ensures prioritisation and allocation 
of resources across Group projects. 

 

Martin Gilbert 
Chief Executive

 

Bill Rattray 
Finance Director
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NORTH AMERICA

 Philadelphia

Philadelphia, PA is our hub for 
North America and includes 
fixed income, mainstream 
uS equity and specialist uS 
equity teams that manage 
over £24 billion on behalf of 
uS clients.  It is also the base 
for uS client servicing and 
consultant relations staff.  With 
the uS mutual fund range 
acquired from Nationwide, we 
now have a strong platform on 
which to service institutional 
and wholesale channels.   

CONTINENTAL EuROPE

 Amsterdam   
 Brussels 
 Copenhagen 
 Frankfurt  
 Helsinki 
 Luxembourg 
 Oslo 
 Paris 
 Stockholm 
 St Petersburg 
 Zurich

We have been developing our 
presence across Continental 
Europe, led by our expanding 
property division.  From its 
Nordic base, we have added 
Paris and most recently St 
Petersburg.  Amsterdam is a 
key marketing office for the 
Dutch pensions market and also 
European property clients.  The 
Frankfurt office was opened 
in January 2007 to develop 
our business with German 
institutions.  Luxembourg is 
the domicile for the Aberdeen 
Global fund range: a range of 
pooled funds that is distributed 
cross-border to 22 countries 
worldwide.  Continental 
Europe now accounts for 
28% of group AuM.

BRITISH ISLES

 Aberdeen (Head office) 
 Edinburgh 
 Glasgow 
 Jersey 
 London

As our home market, we have 
several offices around the 
British Isles.  By AuM, 38% 
of our clients are based in 
the British Isles, accounting 
for £41.7 billion.  The city of 
Aberdeen is our headquarters, 
and where we locate many 
Group functions including 
legal, group information and 
human resources; London is 
the investment centre for uK 
& European equity and fixed 
income teams, our largest 
office by number of staff, and 
where we locate most uK 
client servicing and business 
relationship staff.  

Edinburgh is the investment 
centre for global equity, multi-
asset and structured product 
teams, as well as the company 
secretarial teams for the uK 
investment trust range.  Other 
offices reflect longstanding 
businesses such as private 
equity and, in the case of  
Jersey, private client operations.

KEY 
 Main investment centres 

 Sales and distribution offices only  

 Key property centres only
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ASIA PACIFIC

 Bangkok 
 Hong Kong 
 Kuala Lumpur 
 Singapore 
 Taipei 
 Tokyo

The Asian headquarters of the  
Group is in Singapore, and home  
to most of our Asian fund 
managers covering the main 
asset classes, as well as to 
substantial marketing, client 
servicing and administrative 
functions, over 140 staff in all.  
Other full service offices are 
in Hong Kong, Kuala Lumpur 
and Bangkok, plus we have 
research and client servicing 
in North Asia.  Asian clients 
account for £4.0 billion of 
AuM and our investment in 
Asian securities, both equities 
and fixed income, is a core 
competence for the group.

AuSTRALIA

 Sydney

With 45 employees and £3.3 
billion invested by Australian 
clients in our products, the 
Group's Sydney operation 
has a sizeable presence in 
this relatively sophisticated 
retirement savings market.  Our 
funds in Australia offer local 
investors a comprehensive 
choice of domestic, regional, 
global and emerging market 
investments.  We manage 
eleven locally registered funds 
and one listed investment 
company that is listed on the 
Australian Stock Exchange.

Global reach, local understanding

We know global markets from the local level upwards,  
drawing on 1,900 staff, across 24 offices in 20 countries.

We believe our focus, size and approach enable us to provide 
effective asset management and superior client service.

Our teams champion original thinking and knowledge, so 
investment decisions are based only on our own research.

As a group, we have the scale to provide global coverage of 
financial markets; yet we are small enough to focus on each  
and every portfolio decision.  

Close-knit teams, clear investment processes and flat structures 
are important to us.  We seek to grow our clients’ assets in a 
way that is manageable and sustainable over the longer term.  

MIDDLE EAST

The Middle East is an important 
source of institutional funds, and  
we have a strong client base 
there which we service from 
London.  We currently manage 
over £7.5 billion of assets for 
institutional and sovereign 
wealth entities in the region.
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Board of Directors

 1

 4  5  6

 7  8  9

 2  3
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1

Charles Irby FCA2

Chairman (Age 63)

Charles was appointed to the board on 1 August 1999 and became 
chairman on 14 January 2000.  He is also a director of Great 
Portland Estates plc, North Atlantic Smaller Companies Investment 
Trust plc and QBE Insurance Group Limited and a trustee and 
governor of King Edward vII’s Hospital, Sister Agnes.  A chartered 
accountant, Charles spent 27 years with ING Barings Limited, 
specialising in corporate finance and is a former member of the 
Takeover Panel.  Charles is chairman of the Group’s nomination 
committee.

2

Martin Gilbert MA LLB LLD CA
Chief Executive (Age 53)

Martin is a founding director and shareholder of the company 
having been appointed a director on 1 July 1983.  Martin trained  
as a chartered accountant in Aberdeen before moving into 
investment management with an Aberdeen firm of solicitors.  
Martin is chairman of FirstGroup plc and Chaucer Holdings PLC.  
Martin is also a director of Aberdeen Asian Smaller Companies 
Investment Trust PLC, Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Income Fund, Inc, 
Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Income Investment Company Limited, 
Aberdeen Australia Equity Fund Inc, Aberdeen Development Capital 
PLC, Aberdeen Football Club plc, Aberdeen Global Income Fund, Inc,  
and Primary Health Properties PLC.

3

Andrew Laing MA LLB
Deputy Chief Executive (Age 56)

Andrew joined the Group in 1986 with responsibility for the  
private equity division.  He was subsequently appointed chief 
operating officer, originally joining the board in 1997 and then 
again on 23 January 2004.  During 2008, Andrew was appointed 
deputy chief executive.  Andrew graduated from Aberdeen 
university with an MA in Politics and International Relations  
and a degree in Law.  After a period of practising commercial 
law, Andrew entered private equity in Edinburgh, before joining 
Aberdeen.  Andrew is a director of the Group’s property division 
and a number of group subsidiaries.

4

Bill Rattray MA CA
Finance Director (Age 50)

Bill joined the Group in 1985 as company secretary and 
subsequently became Group financial controller.  He was 
appointed finance director on 31 January 1991.  Before joining the 
Group, he trained as a chartered accountant with Ernst & Whinney 
in Aberdeen and qualified in 1982.  Bill is a director of a number of 
group subsidiaries.

5

Donald Waters OBE CA1,2

senior Independent Non Executive Director (Age 70)

Donald was appointed to the board on 1 February 2000.  A 
chartered accountant, Donald is a director of James Johnston & 
Co of Elgin Limited.  He was formerly deputy chairman and chief 
executive of Grampian Television plc and a director of SMG plc.  
Donald is chairman of the Group’s audit committee.

6

Roger Cornick 3

Independent Non Executive Director (Age 64)

Roger joined the board on 23 January 2004.  Roger was with 
Perpetual PLC for over 20 years, serving latterly as deputy 
chairman.  Roger has over 30 years' experience of sales and 
marketing in financial services and is currently a trustee of the 
River and Rowing Museum.

7

Anita Frew BA MPHIL 1,3

Independent Non Executive Director (Age 51)

Anita was appointed to the board on 1 October 2004.  Anita 
started her career at The Royal Bank of Scotland before moving 
to Scottish Provident where she became head of uK Investment.  
Anita then joined WPP Group PLC as director of corporate 
development and was an executive director at Abbott Mead vickers 
plc in 1997.  Anita is currently chairman of victrex PLC and a non 
executive director of City of London Investment Trust plc, IMI plc, 
Northumbrian Water Limited and Securities Trust of Scotland PLC.

8

The Rt.  Hon.  Sir Malcolm Rifkind KCMG QC 2,3

Independent Non Executive Director (Age 62)

Sir Malcolm joined the board on 1 August 2000.  He is Conservative 
Member of Parliament for Kensington and Chelsea having 
previously served as uK defence secretary and uK foreign secretary.  
Sir Malcolm served on the boards of British Assets Investment Trust 
and F&C Emerging Markets Investment Trust.  Sir Malcolm is also 
a consultant to BHP Billiton Plc.  Sir Malcolm is chairman of the 
Group's remuneration committee.

9

Giles Weaver FCA1,3

Independent Non Executive Director (Age 62) 

Giles was appointed to the board on 1 December 2000.  A 
chartered accountant, Giles was formerly managing director and 
chairman of the Murray Johnstone Group until its acquisition by 
Aberdeen in 2000.  He is currently chairman of Charter European 
Trust PLC, AH Medical Properties PLC, Kenmore European Industrial 
Fund Limited and Helical Bar PLC.  Giles is also a director of Anglo 
& Overseas PLC, Investec High Income Trust PLC and ISIS Property 
Trust 2 Limited.

1 Member of the audit committee 

2 Member of the nominations committee 

3 Member of the remuneration committee
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Rickard Backlund
CEO, Aberdeen Property Investors
Rickard joined Aberdeen in 2001 having 
previously been the CEO of Celexa 
Fastighetskapital from 1998.  He has a masters 
degree in Civil Engineering from The Swedish 
Royal Institute of Technology and completed a 
course in Business Administration and Managerial 
Economics at umeå university.  Rickard is 
a member of the board of FASTIGO, The 
Federation of Swedish Real Estate Employers 
and is a member of the board of SIPA, the 
Scandinavian International Property Association.

Gary Bartlett
Head of Fixed Income and Chief  
Executive Officer – us
Gary is head of fixed income globally and 
chief executive officer of our uS operations.  
Gary joined Aberdeen via the acquisition of 
Deutsche Asset Management’s Philadelphia 
fixed income businesses in 2005 where he was 
a senior portfolio manager and led the uS team.  
Previously, he worked for PNC Financial as an 
analyst and fixed income portfolio manager.  
Gary graduated with a BA in Economics from 
Bucknell university in Lewisburg, Pennsylvania 
in 1982, and an MBA from Drexel university, 
Philadelphia in 1989, and is a CFA charterholder.

Chris Ellyatt
Head of Distribution 
Chris is Group head of distribution, overseeing 
Business Development, client service and 
marketing staff in our worldwide offices.  He 
joined Aberdeen in 2002, initially based in the 
Singapore office before moving to London in 
2003.  Chris was educated at the university 
of London where he obtained an MSc in 
Development Studies from the School of 
Oriental and African studies.  Chris has over 
20 years experience in financial services sales 
and marketing, having worked previously 
for HSBC James Capel and BZW, focused 
predominantly on Asian and Emerging markets.

Ken Fry
Chief Operating Officer
Ken Fry graduated from the university of Essex 
with a BA in Computer Science and joined 
Aberdeen with the acquisition of Frederick’s 
Place Holdings in 1989 as Group IT manager.  
He was appointed to the Group management 
board in 2006 and to his current role in 2008.

Rod MacRae
Group Head of Risk
Rod is responsible for uK and global risk including 
internal audit, regulatory compliance, business 
and investment risk and serves as chairman of the 
Group risk management committee.  Rod joined 
Aberdeen in 2003, following the acquisition of 
Edinburgh Fund Managers.  Rod graduated with 
a MA (Hons) in Economics from the university 
of Edinburgh and is a member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Scotland.

Gary Marshall
Head of Collective Funds
Gary is head of collective funds, chief 
executive of Aberdeen unit Trust Managers 
Ltd and chief executive of Aberdeen Asset 
Management Life and Pensions Ltd.  He also 
sits on the boards of the Group’s Dublin and 
Luxembourg based offshore fund ranges.  Gary 
graduated with a BSc (Hons) in Actuarial 
Mathematics and Statistics from Heriot 
Watt university and is a qualified actuary.

Charles McKenzie
Head of Fixed Income – EMEA
Charles joined Aberdeen via the acquisition 
of Deutsche Asset Management’s London and 
Philadelphia fixed income businesses in 2005.  
Charles was head of uK fixed income at Deutsche 
Asset Management in London which he joined 
in 1993.  Charles graduated with a BSc from 
Southampton university and an MBA in Finance 
from London City university Business School.

Anne Richards
Chief Investment Officer
Anne is chief investment officer and head of 
multi-asset investment.  She was formerly 
chief investment officer and joint managing 
director of Edinburgh Fund Managers.  Before 
that, Anne worked for Merrill Lynch Investment 
Managers.  Anne graduated in Electronics and 
Electrical Engineering from the university 
of Edinburgh and has a MBA from Insead. 

Hugh Young
Managing Director – Asia 
Hugh is managing director of Aberdeen Asset 
Management Asia Limited, the Group’s regional 
HQ, and is also Group head of equities.  He  
co-founded Singapore based Aberdeen Asia in 
1992, having been recruited in 1985 to manage 
Asian equities from London.  Hugh graduated 
with a BA (Hons) in Politics from Exeter 
university.

Management board
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their 
annual report and financial statements for the 
year to 30 September 2008.  

Principal activity and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the 
provision of asset management services.  
Further information on the Group’s business, 
which is required by section 417 of the 
Companies Act 2006, can be found in the 
following sections of the Annual report, which 
are incorporated into this report by reference:

•	 Chairman’s	statement	on	pages	4	to	6;	
•	 Business	review,	including	details	of	principal	

risks and uncertainties, on pages 14 to 29; 
and

•	 Environmental,	social	and	community	
matters and employees on page 48 to 55.

Financial
The results for the year are shown in the 
Group Income Statement on page 68.  

An interim ordinary dividend of 2.8p per share 
was paid on 19 June 2008.  The directors 
recommend a final ordinary dividend of 3.0p 
per share, making a total of 5.8p per share for 

the year to 30 September 2008.  The proposed 
final dividend, if approved, will be paid on 29 
January 2009 to shareholders on the register at 
the close of business on 12 December 2008.  
The total distribution of dividends and coupon 
payments for the year to 30 September 2008 
is £55 million.

Directors
The names and biographical details of the 
present directors of the company, all of whom 
served throughout the year, are given on page 
33.  The Company’s Articles of Association 
require a director to retire from office no later 
than the third Annual General Meeting 
following his or her last election or re-election 
and for a minimum of one third of the board 
to retire annually.  Accordingly, Charles Irby, 
Martin Gilbert and Andrew Laing retire by 
rotation.  Charles Irby, having served as a 
director for nine years, has chosen not to stand 
for re-election, while Martin Gilbert and 
Andrew Laing, being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election.  

Directors’ interests in the share capital of the 
Company at the year end were as follows:

Ordinary shares 
of 10p Options

Convertible Preference  
share units

2008
Number

2007
Number

2008
Number

2007
Number

2008
Number

2007
Number

Beneficial

Martin Gilbert 8,471,515* 8,392,121* 653,000 653,000 100 100

Bill Rattray 2,125,698* 2,064,796* 244,000 244,000 50 50

Andrew Laing 873,959* 813,057* 378,000 378,000 13 13

Donald Waters 163,530 163,530 – – – –

Charles Irby 112,500 112,500 – – – –

Giles Weaver 110,000 110,000 – – 2 2

Anita Frew 37,500 37,500 – – – –

Roger Cornick 11,000 11,000 – – – –

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 7,500 7,500 – – – –

* The holdings for Messrs Gilbert, Rattray and Laing include shares awarded under the Group’s LTIP and which remain subject to 
forfeiture pending achievement of the relevant performance criteria.  Full details are given in the Remuneration report.   

There have been no changes to the above holdings between 30 September 2008 and  
8 December 2008.
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Directors’ report continued

Substantial interests
At 8 December 2008 the Company has been notified of the following interests, other than 
directors’, of 3% or more in the ordinary shares:

Number % of class

Tosca Asset Management LLP 178,366,055 24.9

Mitsubishi uFJ Trust & Banking Corporation 79,024,680 11.0

Newton Investment Management Limited 33,170,425 4.6 

Legal & General Group Plc 31,227,703 4.4

Schroder Investment Management Limited 28,679,454 4.0

Share capital
Details of changes in share capital are set out 
in note 24.  The authority for the Company to 
purchase, in the market, up to 31,448,620 of 
its ordinary shares, representing approximately 
5% of its issued ordinary share capital, expires 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  
This authority was not required during the 
year, however shareholders will be asked, at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, to 
renew such authority for a further year.

Employees
Details of the Company’s employment 
practices, including the employment of 
disabled persons, can be found in the 
Corporate governance report on pages  
48 to 55.

Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance and 
compliance with the provisions of the 
Combined Code on Corporate Governance is 
set out on pages 48 to 55.

Going concern
As described in note 28 to the financial 
statements, the Group entered into a three 
year revolving credit bank facility in April 2007 
which will fall due for renewal according to the 
Group's then business needs in April 2010.  The 
board has prepared forecasts taking account of 
the current uncertain market conditions which 
demonstrate that the Group will continue to 
operate within available facilities.  The board 
has also reviewed the ability and willingness of 
lenders to continue to provide such facilities 
and considers that facilities appropriate to the 
Group's business needs will continue to be 
available on acceptable terms.

After making these enquiries, the board 
considers that the Group has adequate 

resources to meet its business needs and it is 
therefore appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing these financial 
statements.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made various 
charitable contributions totalling £172,000 
(2007: £140,000).  It is the Group’s policy not 
to make contributions for political purposes.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance which provides appropriate 
cover for any legal action brought against its 
directors.

Policy on payment of creditors
As required by the Financial Services Authority, 
all open end fund repurchase settlements are 
paid within four working days of receipt of the 
appropriate documentation from investors.  
unless otherwise agreed payments to other 
creditors are made within thirty days of receipt 
of an invoice.  At the year end, the Group and 
Company had an average of 12 days’ purchases 
outstanding in respect of trade creditors and 
an average of 4 days outstanding in respect of 
open end fund repurchase settlements.

Audit information
The directors who held office at the date of 
approval of this directors’ report confirm that, 
so far as they are each aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditors are unaware; and each 
director has taken all the steps that they ought 
to have taken as directors to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information.   
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2009 Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at  
The Marcliffe Hotel, North Deeside Road, 
Aberdeen at 12 noon on Thursday 22 January 
2009.  Details of all resolutions being put to 
shareholders are contained in the Notice of 
the Annual General Meeting on pages 124  
to 127.

Electronic proxy voting
Registered shareholders have the opportunity 
to submit their votes (or abstain) on all 
resolutions proposed at the Annual General 
Meeting by means of an electronic voting 
facility operated by the Company’s registrar, 
Equiniti Limited.  This facility can be accessed 
by visiting www.sharevote.co.uk.  CREST 
members may appoint a proxy or proxies by 
using the CREST electronic appointment 
service.

Electronic copies of the annual report 
and financial statements 2008 and other 
publications
Copies of the 2008 Annual Report and 
financial statements, the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting, other corporate publications, 
press releases and announcements are 
available on the Company’s website at  
www.aberdeen-asset.com.  Shareholders are 
encouraged to take advantage of the 
provisions allowing the Company to deliver 
notices of meetings and associated 
documentation electronically via the 
Company’s website or by email.  

By order of the board

scott E Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG

8 December 2008
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Remuneration report

The board’s report to shareholders on 
remuneration and details of the compensation 
and contractual arrangements for directors are 
set out below.  This report has been prepared 
in compliance with the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (‘the 
Regulations’), which impose certain statutory 
requirements for the disclosure of directors’ 
remuneration.  The Remuneration report (‘the 
Report’) also meets the relevant requirements 
of the Listing Rules of the uK Listing Authority 
and describes how the Company has complied 
with the Combined Code throughout the year 
to 30 September 2008 as it relates to 
directors’ remuneration.  A resolution to 
approve this report will be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Regulations require the auditors to report 
to shareholders on the auditable part of the 
Report and to state whether, in their opinion, 
that part of the Report has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985 (as amended by the Regulations).  
The tables detailing directors’ emoluments, 
interests in deferred shares, share options and 
shares awarded under the Group’s Long Term 
Incentive Plan on pages 45 to 47 have been 
audited.  The remainder of the Report, which is 
unaudited, sets out the remuneration policy 
that applied during 2008 and describes 
arrangements which are intended to apply  
for 2009.

Remuneration committee
The current members of the remuneration 
committee (‘the committee’) are Sir Malcolm 
Rifkind (chairman), Roger Cornick, Anita Frew 
and Giles Weaver, all of whom are independent 
non executive directors.  All of the members 
served throughout the year under review 
except Anita Frew who was appointed on  
11 October 2007.  Their biographical details 
are shown on page 33.  

The committee, which operates on the basis of 
detailed written terms of reference, has been 
established by the board to: 

a)  determine and recommend to the board the 
Company’s policy on remuneration of 
executive directors and senior employees;

b)  determine the specific remuneration levels 
of the chairman, the executive directors and 
other senior employees;

c)  ensure that appropriate performance targets 
are set and that any payments made to 
executive directors and senior employees 
reflect achievement against such targets;

d)  consider individual awards to executive 
directors and senior employees under all 
incentive schemes;

e)  consider any award which might result in an 
employee receiving a total remuneration 
package of £250,000 or more;

f)  consider the recruitment of any employee 
on a basic salary of £125,000 or more or 
with a basic salary plus guaranteed bonus of 
£125,000 or more;

g)  approve the award of any annual bonus in 
excess of £100,000;

h)  consider any redundancy or severance 
payment which exceeds the terms of the 
Company’s standard policies, subject to a de 
minimis limit of £25,000;

i)  ensure that the Company maintains contact 
with its principal shareholders on 
remuneration matters, and to demonstrate 
that decisions on executive remuneration are 
taken independently and are complementary 
to the financial and commercial well-being 
of the Company;

j)  approve all substantial changes to the 
Group’s pension arrangements;

k)  report to shareholders in accordance with 
relevant legal requirements and associated 
codes of practice.

The terms of reference of the committee, 
which are reviewed annually, are available on 
request and are published on the  
Company’s website.

The committee is authorised to take external 
advice in order to fulfil its duties and 
appointed an external firm of consultants,  
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, to advise on the 
levels of salaries and composition of benefits 
packages of the executive directors and other 
senior employees.  
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Remuneration policy
The Group’s remuneration policy is designed to 
reflect the importance of recruiting, retaining 
and motivating senior executives of the calibre 
necessary to maintain and improve the Group’s 
position in the asset management sector.  The 
policy seeks to reward performance in a manner 
which aligns the interests of clients, 
shareholders, executives and other employees.  
The remuneration policy will support the 
Company’s aim, which is to maximise long-
term shareholder value.  To meet this aim, the 
Company's strategy, contained within the 
Chairman's statement on pages 4 to 6,  
continues to be followed and is reflected 
closely in the remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy, which applies to 
executive directors and senior employees, will 
remain unchanged for 2009 and subsequent 
years.  The aim, within the overall policy design 
of retention and motivation, is to pay basic 
salaries and award benefit packages which are 
reasonable and competitive within the asset 
management sector.  In addition, the policy is 
designed, and will remain designed, to deliver 
additional rewards through appropriate 
incentive schemes, both annual and long term.  
These are directly linked to performance at 
both a corporate and an individual level.  

The committee recognises that any 
remuneration policy must be sufficiently 
flexible to take account of changes in the 
business environment.  In accordance with this 
need for flexibility, the committee takes into 
account the overall competitiveness of the 
total remuneration packages of all senior 
executives.  The committee has reviewed 
remuneration in light of the current conditions 
and remains satisfied that the current 
remuneration policy and framework support 
the achievement of the Company's long terms 
goals and will assist in the maximisation of 
long term shareholder value.  When justified by 
performance, the ‘at risk’ performance 
elements will form the most significant 
element of total remuneration for executive 
directors and senior employees.  The 
committee has considered the levels of 
remuneration paid throughout the Group, 
having regard to the advice of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and having also 
consulted with Charles Irby and Martin Gilbert 
when considering the remuneration packages 
of the executive directors and senior 
employees.

Outlined below are the details of the individual 
reward components of the remuneration 
policy.  In providing details, the report 
identifies those elements which are 
performance linked and the participation of 
the executive directors in them.

Executive remuneration
Executive remuneration comprises a number of 
elements:

i)  Basic salary
 The salaries of all employees, including 

executive directors, are reviewed annually 
and are determined by reference to external 
market research.  The Group’s policy is to 
pay salaries which are market competitive in 
the asset management sector as this will 
enable the retention and recruitment of the 
key talent required to achieve the Group’s 
strategy.  The Group participated in the 
McLagan Partners 2007 compensation 
survey and the Investment Management 
Reward Survey 2008 carried out by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.  Both provided 
salary comparisons for a range of employees 
across the Aberdeen Group, including the 
executive directors.  In addition, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP provided data 
and comment on the salaries and benefits 
packages for the executive directors and 
other senior employees.  The committee also 
considered information included in other 
publicly available research and survey results.  
Having taken into consideration all relevant 
factors, the committee has taken the 
decision to maintain executive directors' 
salaries at the same level as last year.

ii)  Annual bonus
 The policy is to recognise corporate and 

individual achievements each year through 
an appropriate annual bonus scheme.  The 
aggregate amount of cash bonus available in 
any year is dependent on the Group’s overall 
performance and profitability.  Consideration 
will also be given to the levels of bonuses 
paid in the marketplace.  Individual awards, 
payable to all members of staff and which 
are non-pensionable, are determined by a 
rigorous assessment of achievement against 
defined objectives, and are reviewed and 
approved by the committee.  The bonus 
awarded in any year will be paid partly in 
cash with a further element to be settled by 
the award of the Company’s shares, which 
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will vest in tranches over the following three 
year period.  A significant proportion of the 
executive directors’ remuneration is 
expected to be paid by annual bonus, such 
awards to be based on the achievement of 
defined objectives.  The objectives may vary 
each year to ensure that they are linked to 
the principal objectives of the Group, but for 
2008 the principal objectives selected by the 
committee for the executive directors 
focused on the integration of the businesses 
acquired during the year, management of 
costs and achievement of operating 
efficiencies and ensuring key client and staff 
retention.  

 Martin Gilbert has been awarded a bonus of 
£1,937,500 for meeting his defined 
objectives for the year which included those 
detailed above.  £412,500 of this award will 
be paid in cash and £1,525,000 will be used 
to acquire a number of the Company’s 
shares which will vest in equal tranches in 
December 2009, 2010 and 2011.  

 Andrew Laing has been awarded a bonus of 
£275,000 for meeting his defined objectives 
for the year which included those detailed 
above.  £75,000 of this award will be paid in 
cash and £200,000 will be used to acquire a 
number of the Company’s shares which will 
vest in equal tranches in December 2009, 
2010 and 2011.  

 Bill Rattray has been awarded a bonus of 
£275,000 for meeting his defined objectives 
for the year which included those detailed 
above.  £75,000 of this award will be paid in 
cash and £200,000 will be used to acquire a 
number of the Company’s shares which will 
vest in equal tranches in December 2009, 
2010 and 2011.  

 In line with the Group’s remuneration policy 
of retaining flexibility, and in common with 
practice in the asset management sector, it 
has been decided to continue the policy of 
not imposing any maxima based on a 
relationship to basic salary.

iii)  Long term Incentive Plan
 The Group operates a share based long term 

incentive plan (‘LTIP’) which was approved 
and adopted by Shareholders on 24 March 
2005.  The LTIP is administered by an 
independent professional trustee based in 
the Channel Islands (‘the Trustee’) which, 
when exercising its discretion, will have 

regard to the recommendations of the 
remuneration committee.  After taking into 
account the recommendations of the 
committee, the Trustee will make awards 
under the LTIP to selected executive 
directors and other senior executives.  

 The LTIP encourages focus on the longer 
term performance of the Group against an 
appropriate group of comparator companies 
based on the increase in earnings per share 
over a three year period.  Awards can be 
made in either of two forms: an LTIP 
Conditional Ownership Award or an LTIP 
Incentive Option.  LTIP Conditional 
Ownership Awards will be made of a 
specified number of shares and take the 
form of the acquisition of shares by a 
participant on terms which mean that the 
ownership of the shares remains conditional 
during the relevant measurement period.  

 The participant will not obtain absolute 
ownership of any of the shares until the end 
of the measurement period and then only to 
the extent that the performance targets 
have been satisfied.  Participants will be 
entitled to receive any dividends paid on the 
shares during the measurement period, even 
though the shares held will not have vested 
unconditionally.  However, any overpayment 
of dividends arising on shares which do not 
subsequently vest will be recovered by 
deduction from annual bonus awards.  

 Similarly, LTIP Incentive Option awards will 
be made over a specified number of shares 
and, following the third anniversary of the 
date of grant, the participant will be told the 
extent to which the LTIP Incentive Option 
has vested.  The total vested number of 
shares will then be split into three equal 
tranches, the first tranche being exercisable 
from the vesting date, the second tranche 
one year after vesting and the third tranche 
two years after vesting.  

 This deferral of the acquisition of vested 
shares will provide an additional incentive 
for the award holder and continue to link his 
interests with that of all other shareholders.  
LTIP Incentive Options must be exercised 
before the tenth anniversary of the grant 
date.  Participants will not be entitled to 
receive dividends on LTIP Incentive Option 
shares until the LTIP Incentive Option has 
been exercised.

Remuneration report continued
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 vesting of shares over which an award has 
been made will be dependent upon the 
extent to which the performance target has 
been satisfied.  The committee has reviewed 
the appropriateness of the existing criterion 
and has decided that there should be no 
changes for awards to be made in 2008 and 
2009.  The performance target which will 
determine the extent to which any LTIP 
award will vest requires the growth in 
earnings per share over the relevant 
measurement period to exceed the average 
movement in the stock markets in which the 
assets managed by the Group are invested.  

 This criterion has been chosen as being 
reflective of success in the asset 
management sector as it compares the 
Group’s performance to a dynamic and 
meaningful comparator.  The committee will 
thereafter consider whether these targets 
remain appropriate and challenging and any 
amendments to these targets in respect of 
intended awards in later years will be 
disclosed in the Remuneration report  
for 2009.

a)  if earnings per share have increased 
over the measurement period by a 
percentage that is at least 5% per 
annum greater than the average 
movement in the stock markets over 
the same period then 30% of the LTIP 
award will vest;

b)  if earnings per share have increased 
over the measurement period by a 
percentage that is at least 10% per 
annum greater than the average 
movement in the stock markets over 
the same period then 100% of the 
LTIP award will vest;

c)  growth in earnings per share that 
falls between these limits will result 
in a pro rated vesting of the LTIP 
award occurring between 30% and 
100% depending upon the actual 
growth in earnings per share; 

d)  if growth in earnings per share over 
the measurement period is less than 
the lower limit set out in paragraph 
a) above no part of the award made 
under the LTIP will vest, the award 
will lapse and the participant will 
cease to have any entitlement to any 
of the shares over which the award 
was originally made.  

 The movement in the stock markets will be 
measured by indices appropriate to the 
assets managed by the Group and shall be 
determined by the committee.  The indices 
identified at the date of the first award 
included the FTSE All-Share, Russell 1000, 
FTSE Europe ex uK, FTSE Asia Pacific ex 
Japan, FTSE Japan, MSCI Emerging Markets 
and the FTSE-A British Government All 
Stocks.  The committee subsequently 
included two additional indices, the Lehman 
uS Aggregate Bond and IPD Pan European 
Property Index, to ensure that the basket of 
indices remained fully representative of the 
assets managed by the Group.

 For the purposes of calculating earnings per 
share for any period, adjustments will be 
made to the earnings per share figure 
disclosed in the audited financial statements 
to exclude the effects of (i) amortisation and 
impairment of intangible assets; (ii) 
impairment of goodwill; (iii) any charges 
arising from share options and LTIP awards; 
(iv) exceptional items, unless the committee 
consider this to be inappropriate; and (v) any 
other adjustments deemed reasonable and 
appropriate by the committee.

 To the extent that an LTIP Conditional 
Ownership Award has not vested, shares will 
be re-acquired from relevant participants by 
the Trustee for a nominal consideration of 
£1.  LTIP Incentive Options that do not meet 
the performance criteria will lapse on the 
third anniversary of the date of the award.  
The committee remains satisfied that the 
performance condition is considered to be 
an appropriate measure of the Company's 
success within the asset management sector 
and is clearly linked to the focus on 
improving efficiency and profitability.

 In addition to the performance condition 
summarised above, the Plan rules state that 
no award will vest unless, in the opinion of 
the committee, the underlying financial 
performance of the Company has been 
satisfactory over the relevant measurement 
period.  The length of the measurement 
period for any award will be three years.   
The life of the LTIP will be ten years and no 
awards may therefore be made after 24 
March 2015.  LTIP awards over ordinary 
shares are designed to incentivise senior 
executives in a manner which is consistent 
with the creation of value for shareholders.  
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 On 5 May 2008, a total of 20,506,233 
shares issued in 2005, under the LTIP 
Conditional Ownership Award vested fully 
into the names of the individual directors 
and employees at a price of 150 pence per 
share.  The weighted average growth in  
the relevant market indices over the 
measurement period from 1 October 2005 
to 30 September 2008 was +35.6%.  As 
described above, in order to achieve full 
vesting, the Company was required to grow 
its underlying earnings per share by 
+65.65% over the same period.  The actual 
growth in the Company's underlying EPS 
over the same period was +268.4%.  In light 
of this growth, the committee confirmed 
that, in their opinion, the underlying 
financial performance of the Company has 
been satisfactory and therefore full vesting 
of the awards was permitted.

 

 As at the date of this Report, LTIP Conditional 
 Ownership Awards have been made in respect 
 of 5,853,321 ordinary shares which have not 

yet vested, equating to approximately 0.8% 
of the current issued share capital.  Details 
of the awards which have been made to 
directors of the Company under the LTIP are 
shown on page 47.  As at the date of this 
Report, LTIP Incentive Options have been 
made in respect of 20,350,000 ordinary 
shares, which have not yet vested.  This 
equates to approximately 2.8% of the 
current issued share capital.

 The committee intends to recommend 
further LTIP Conditional Ownership Awards 
over 385,986 shares to the executive 
directors, which equates to approximately 
0.1% of the current issued share capital.  The 
proposed awards to the executive directors 
are as follows:  

Remuneration report continued

LtIP Conditional Ownership 
Number of shares

Martin Gilbert 148,456

Andrew Laing 118,765

Bill Rattray 118,765

 It remains the committee’s intention not to 
recommend awards to any one individual in 
excess of 100% of annual salary in any one 
year except in exceptional circumstances, for 
example to aid recruitment or retention of 
staff.  However, as reported above, an 
element of annual bonus is also awarded in 
the form of shares with deferred vesting 
conditions.

iv)  Private medical cover
 Private health care is offered to all executive 

directors and employees who also have the 
option to cover their partners and unmarried 
dependent children.

v)  Pension
 Executives, including executive directors, are 

entitled to membership of the Group’s 
defined contribution pension arrangements.  
The employer’s contribution to this scheme 
on behalf of all employees, including 
executive directors, is 20% of basic salary.  In 
addition, on becoming a member of the 
Group pension scheme, the Group will 

provide life insurance cover that provides 
death in service benefits, currently 
amounting to four times basic salary.  The 
life insurance cover will also provide for a 
further three times basic salary to provide a 
dependant’s pension.

 In light of changes to pensions legislation 
introduced in the uK from 6 April 2006, 
certain of the Group’s uK employees have 
elected for employer contributions to the 
scheme to cease.  In these cases, the 
committee has approved additional cash 
payments to be made as an addition to 
basic salary, such that the overall cost to the 
Group is no greater than the pension 
contribution which would otherwise have 
been made.  Any similar requests which may 
be made by employees in future will be 
treated in the same manner.  No such 
request will arise in respect of the Group’s 
legacy defined benefit schemes, all of which 
are closed to future accrual.
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vi)  Executive share option scheme
 The Group has an Executive share option 

scheme which is approved by the Inland 
Revenue and was approved by shareholders 
prior to its introduction.  An unapproved 
schedule was added to this scheme in 1999 
to permit options to be granted within 
institutional guidelines but in excess of the 
reduced limits on approved options imposed 
by the Government.  In March 2004 the 
scheme reached the end of the 10 year 
period during which the grant of options was 
permitted.  Options were granted at the 
discretion of the committee, for no 
consideration, and were based on 
assessments of the individuals’ expected 
contribution to future Company 
performance.  All options outstanding are 
now capable of being exercised, all having 
met their performance criteria: that earnings 
per share, before amortisation and 
impairment of intangible assets, impairment 
of goodwill and exceptional items increased 
over the period of 3 years from the date of 
grant, by 5% per annum in excess of the 
average growth in the stock markets in 
which the Group’s AuM were invested.  At 
the date of this Report, awards under the 
Executive share option scheme have been 
made in respect of 5,194,100 ordinary 
shares which have not yet vested  
(see note 25).  Details of share options held 
by the executive directors are shown on 
page 46.

Total shareholder return
The Regulations require the inclusion of a 
graph which illustrates the total shareholder 
return for a holding in the Company’s shares 
against a broad equity market index.  The FTSE 
All-Share Index has been used on the basis 
that it includes all uK listed stocks, including 
the Company’s ordinary shares.  The graphs 
below also include as a comparator the FTSE 
All-Share General Financial Index.  The board 
considers this to be an appropriate index 
against which to measure performance 
because it includes all other uK listed financial 
stocks and therefore represents the closest 
comparator for benchmark purposes.  Both of 
these indices are calculated on a total return 
basis, ie assuming reinvestment of dividends.

The Regulations require this information to be 
provided for the five year period to 30 
September 2008.  The board has decided to 
include an additional graph showing equivalent 
information for three year period, consistent 
with the period over which the vesting of long-
term incentives is measured.

Service contracts
The executive directors have current service 
contracts, details of which are summarised 
below.  Executive directors are permitted to 
accept a limited number of directorships 
outwith the Group, recognising that this can 
assist in the development of a director’s 
knowledge and capabilities.  All such 

three year total shareholder return  
(dividends reinvested) to 30 september 2008, %
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(dividends reinvested) to 30 september 2008, %
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Remuneration report continued

appointments are approved in advance by the 
board.  Where the appointment is accepted in 
furtherance of the Group’s business any fees 
received are remitted to the Company.  If the 
appointment is not connected to the Group’s 
business, the director is entitled to retain any 
fees received.  The Group earned fees of 
£131,000 for Martin Gilbert’s services as a  
non executive director of several companies.  

Martin Gilbert earned and retained fees of 
£183,150 for acting as chairman of FirstGroup 
plc.  The board has a policy which requires 
executive directors to acquire and retain a 
beneficial shareholding in the Company 
equivalent to 100% of salary, to be acquired 
over a period of no more than five years.  The 
holdings of the executive directors comfortably 
exceed this requirement.

Name Date of contract Notice period unexpired term

Provision of 
compensation  
for loss of office3

M J Gilbert 30 August 19961 twelve/ 
six months2

Rolling twelve/ 
six months

One year's gross 
remuneration

A A Laing 30 August 19961 twelve/ 
six months2

Rolling twelve/ 
six months

One year's gross 
remuneration

W J Rattray 30 August 19961 twelve/ 
six months2

Rolling twelve/ 
six months

One year's gross 
remuneration

1 Amended by Deed of variation dated 30 November 2001.

2 Twelve months’ notice given by the Company or six months’ notice given by the director.

3 If the Company decides to terminate the director’s appointment without giving the required period of notice then the director is 
entitled to be paid one year’s remuneration, which will include the value of all benefits including any bonus to which the director 
would otherwise have been entitled.  The directors’ contracts also provide for termination on three months’ notice if, in the opinion of 
the board and having given the director adequate opportunity to improve, the director has failed to perform at a satisfactory standard.  
In such a case, the directors’ contracts do not provide for any liquidated damages to be paid.

Non executive directors
The remuneration of non executive directors is 
determined by the board.  Non executive 
directors are engaged under letters of 
appointment and they do not have contracts 
of service.  The letters of appointment are 
available for inspection at the Company’s 
registered office during normal business hours 
and are available on the Company’s website.  
The appointment will normally terminate on:

i)  a director choosing to resign voluntarily; or
ii)  a director being prohibited from serving by 

law, bankruptcy or illness; or
iii)  the ninth anniversary of his/her 

appointment; or

 
iv)  the third or sixth anniversaries of his/her 

appointment if the nominations committee 
does not approve the extension of his/her 
appointment; or 

v)  a director being found guilty of misconduct; 
or

vi)  a director not being re-elected by the 
shareholders following retirement by 
rotation at an Annual General Meeting.

The non executive directors do not participate 
in the annual bonus scheme or the Long Term 
Incentive Plan.  The chairman, who also chairs 
the nominations committee, receives a fee of 
£150,000 per annum.

Fees are paid to the other non executive directors at the following annual rates:

For services as a director £39,000

For services as senior independent director £5,000

For chairmanship of audit committee £15,000

For membership of audit committee £5,500

For chairmanship of remuneration committee £11,000

For membership of remuneration committee £5,500
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Directors’ emoluments (audited information)

2008

salary  
& fees 
£'000

Bonus 
payments

£'000

Other 
benefits 

£'000

total 
before 

pensions 
£'000

Pension 
costs 
£'000

total 
£'000

EXECutIVE

Duties within the uK

M J Gilbert  400  1,938    71  2,409  –    2,409 

A A Laing  250  275    1    526  50  576 

W J Rattray  250  275   1    526  50  576 

 900  2,488    73  3,461  100  3,561 

NON EXECutIVE

C L A Irby  146  –    –    146  –    146 

D H Waters  58  –    –    58  –    58 

Sir Malcolm Rifkind  49  –    –    49  –    49 

C G H Weaver  49  –    –    49  –    49 

R C Cornick  43  –    –    43  –    43 

A M Frew  47  –    –    47  –    47 

 392  –    –    392  –    392 

 1,292 2,488  73  3,853  100  3,953 

Proposed LTIP awards to executive directors are set out on page 42.

2007

Salary  
& fees 
£'000

Bonus 
payments

£'000

Other 
benefits 

£'000

Total  
before 

pensions 
£'000

Pension 
costs  
£'000

Total 
£'000

EXECutIVE

Duties within the uK

M J Gilbert  400  2,625    71  3,096  –    3,096 

A A Laing  250  400    1    651  50  701 

W J Rattray  238  400   1    639  47  686 

 888  3,425    73  4,386  97  4,483 

NON EXECutIVE

C L A Irby  132  –    –    132  –    132 

D H Waters  55  –    –    55  –    55 

Sir Malcolm Rifkind  47  –    –    47  –    47 

C G H Weaver  46  –    –    46  –    46 

R C Cornick  41  –    –    41  –    41 

A M Frew  41  –    –    41  –    41 

 362  –    –    362  –    362 

 1,250 3,425  73  4,748  97  4,845 

Martin Gilbert elected for employer contributions to the Group’s defined contribution pension 
arrangement on his behalf to cease and as a consequence, he has received an additional cash 
payment of £70,000 for the year to 30 September 2008 (2007: £70,000).  This amount is included 
within ‘Other benefits’ in the table above.  Full details are contained in note v) Pension on page 42.  
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Remuneration report continued

Directors' interests in shares arising from deferred element of annual bonus awards 
(audited information)

Interest at 
1 October 

2007

Awarded  
during 

the year
vested  
in year

Issue  
price

Interest at  
30 september  

2008
vesting  
date

M J Gilbert 769,344 – – 170.6p 769,344 Dec 2009

– 799,331 – 164.2p 799,331 Dec 2010

A A Laing 80,598 – – 170.6p 80,598 Dec 2009

– 83,740 – 164.2p 83,740 Dec 2010

W J Rattray 80,598 – – 170.6p 80,598 Dec 2009

– 83,740 – 164.2p 83,740 Dec 2010

These interests represent ordinary shares which will vest on the dates stated.  The value of the 
awards at the award date are included in the table of Directors' emoluments for the relevant year.

Directors’ interests in share options (audited information)

Number

Date of 
grant 2007

Exercised  
during year  2008

Exercise
price

Earliest  
exercise

Latest  
exercise

Status of 
performance

M J Gilbert 8.12.99  240,000 –    240,000 185p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved

23.01.04  413,000  –    413,000 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

  653,000  –    653,000  

A A Laing 8.12.99  200,000  –    200,000 185p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved

11.6.03  89,000  –    89,000 42p Jun 2006 Jun 2013 Achieved

23.01.04  89,000  –    89,000 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

 378,000  –    378,000  

W J Rattray 8.12.99  100,000  –    100,000 185p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved

23.01.04  144,000  –    144,000 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

 244,000  –    244,000 

The middle market price of the Company's ordinary shares at 30 September 2008 was 126p and 
the range during the year was 111p and 204p.
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Directors' interests in Long Term Incentive Plan (audited information)

Held at 
1 October 

2007

Awarded  
during 

the year
vested  
in year

Issue  
price

Held at  
30 september  

2008
vesting  
date

Partial 
settlement 
of share 
awards  
in year

M J Gilbert 140,000 –   (140,000) 116p – May 2008 £7,980

925,000 –   – 135p 925,000 Dec 2008 £52,725

73,271 – – 170.6p 73,271 Dec 2009 £4,177

– 76,127 – 164.2p 76,127 Dec 2010 £4,340

A A Laing 110,000 –   (110,000) 116p – May 2008 £6,270

94,000 –   – 135p 94,000 Dec 2008 £5,358

58,617 – – 170.6p 58,617 Dec 2009 £3,341

–  60,902  – 164.2p 60,902 Dec 2010 £3,471

W J Rattray 110,000 –   (110,000) 116p – May 2008 £6,270

82,000 –   – 135p 82,000 Dec 2008 £4,674

58,617 – – 170.6p 58,617 Dec 2009 £3,341

–  60,902  – 164.2p 60,902 Dec 2010 £3,471

The Remuneration report was approved by the board of directors on 8 December 2008 and signed 
on its behalf by:

 

sir Malcolm Rifkind
Non executive director
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Corporate governance report

Throughout the year ended 30 September 
2008, the Company has been in compliance 
with the code provisions set out in section 1 of 
the 2006 Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance (‘the Code’).  This report describes 
Aberdeen’s corporate governance 
arrangements, explaining how we have applied 
the principles of the Code.

The board
The board currently comprises the chairman, 
five non executive directors and three 
executive directors, all of whom served 
throughout the year.  The roles of the 
chairman and chief executive are separate, 
clearly defined and have been approved by the 
board.  The chairman, Charles Irby, is 
responsible for the effective conduct of the 
board and for shareholder relations, whilst the 
chief executive, Martin Gilbert, is responsible 
for the day to day management of the Group.  
The board considers all of the non executive 
directors to be independent and has appointed 
Donald Waters as the senior independent 
director.  In considering director independence, 
the board has taken into consideration the 
guidance provided by the Code.  Giles Weaver 
joined the board following the acquisition of 
the Murray Johnstone Group (‘MJ’) in 
November 2000.  Mr Weaver was formerly an 
executive director of MJ until December 1999, 
following which he became chairman of MJ 
until its acquisition.  In addition, Mr Weaver is 
a member of the Murray Johnstone Limited 
Retirement Benefits Plan.  On a literal 
interpretation of the guidance in the Code, he 
was never an executive of Aberdeen nor of any 
subsidiary while it has been a member of the 
Aberdeen Group but, in seeking to apply the 
spirit as well as the letter of the Code, the 
board chose not to regard Mr Weaver as 
independent until 2004.  A full eight years 
having now passed since his appointment, and 
taking into consideration his independence of 
character and judgement, the board reiterates 
its view that Mr Weaver is an independent non 
executive director.

Biographical details of directors can be found 
on page 33.

The board met eight times during the year to 
review financial performance and strategy and 
to follow a formal schedule of matters 
reserved for its decision, which includes the 

setting of Company goals, objectives, budgets 
and other plans.  Comprehensive board papers, 
comprising an agenda and formal reports and 
briefing papers, are sent to directors in advance 
of each meeting.  Throughout their period in 
office directors are continually updated, by 
means of written and verbal reports from 
senior executives and external advisers, on the 
Group’s business and the competitive and 
regulatory environments in which it operates, 
as well as on legal, environmental, social, 
governance and other relevant matters.

In addition to its formal business, the board 
received a number of briefings and 
presentations from senior executives, local 
management and external advisers during the 
year covering a wide range of topics across the 
range of the Group’s business.  The board also 
has a policy of making periodic visits to the 
Group’s key overseas offices in order to meet 
local management and clients and to obtain an 
understanding of the local business 
environment.  The board visited the Frankfurt, 
Philadelphia and Singapore offices during  
the year.

All directors have access to independent 
professional advice, if required, at the 
Company’s expense as well as to the advice 
and services of the company secretary.  New 
directors appointed to the board receive a full, 
formal and tailored induction, which includes 
meetings with relevant members of senior 
management, in order to help them gain a 
detailed understanding of the Group and its 
activities.  The company secretary, under the 
direction of the chairman, is responsible for 
facilitating this induction programme, ensuring 
good information flow between the board, its 
committees and management and assisting 
with directors’ continuing professional 
development needs.  Directors are also advised, 
at the time of their appointment, of the legal 
and other duties and obligations arising from 
the role of director of a listed company and 
are reminded of these duties and obligations 
on a regular basis.  Directors appointed during 
the year are required to seek election at the 
first Annual General Meeting following their 
appointment and all directors have submitted 
themselves for re-election by shareholders at 
intervals of no more than three years.  Details 
of the attendance of individual directors are 
shown in the table below.
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Performance evaluation
The board has established a formal process, led 
by the chairman, for the annual evaluation of 
the performance of the board, its appointed 
committees and each director, to ensure that 
they continue to act effectively and efficiently 
and to fulfil their respective duties, and to 
identify any training requirements.  A tailored 
questionnaire, taking into account 
developments over the year and including 
specific references to the objectives of the 
board and its committees, was completed by 
each director.  The responses were analysed 
and the results were subsequently discussed at 
meetings of the committees and of the board, 
as well as in individual discussions between the 
chairman and each director.  Additionally, the 
non executive directors held a meeting without 
the executive directors present at which 
executive directors’ performance was discussed.  
The non executive directors also met without 
the chairman present to discuss the results of 
the evaluation of the chairman’s performance, 
having taken into consideration the views of 
the executive directors, and the results of this 
meeting were subsequently discussed between 
the senior non executive director and the 
chairman.  

Board committees
The board has appointed the following 
committees to assist in the execution of its 
duties.  All of these committees operate on 
written terms of reference, which are reviewed 
annually and which are available on the 
Company’s website, and the chairman of each 
committee reports to each meeting of the 
board.  Each of the committees is authorised 
to obtain, at the Company’s expense, external 
legal or other professional advice to assist in 
carrying out its duties.  Only the members of 

each committee are entitled to attend its 
meetings but others, such as senior 
management and external advisers, may be 
invited to attend as appropriate.  Current 
membership of the committees is shown in 
the directors’ biographies on page 33.  The 
composition of these committees is reviewed 
annually, taking into consideration the 
recommendations of the nominations 
committee.

Nominations committee 
The nominations committee is chaired by 
Charles Irby and he is supported by two 
independent non executive directors, Sir 
Malcolm Rifkind and Donald Waters.  All served 
on the committee throughout the year.

The committee is responsible for reviewing the 
structure, size and composition of the board 
and for recommending new members for 
appointment to the board.  The board as a 
whole has responsibility for the appointment 
of new directors and for nominating them for 
election by shareholders at the first 
opportunity following their appointment.  The 
committee is also responsible for giving due 
consideration to succession planning for the 
board and other senior executives and for 
making recommendations to the board.

During the year the committee reviewed the 
proposals for rotation and re-election of 
directors at the Annual General Meeting; 
discussed the results of the annual 
performance evaluation exercise and noted the 
satisfactory operations of the committee; and 
reviewed its terms of reference.  The 
committee met on a number of occasions 
during the year including two formal meeting 
and details of the attendance of individual 
members are shown in the table below.

Maximum possible attendance Meetings attended

Charles Irby 8 8

Donald Waters 8 8

Roger Cornick 8 8

Anita Frew 8 8

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 8 8

Giles Weaver 8 8

Martin Gilbert 8 8

Bill Rattray 8 8

Andrew Laing 8 8
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Maximum possible attendance Meetings attended

Charles Irby 2 2

Donald Waters 2 2

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 2 2

Corporate governance report continued

Audit committee 
The audit committee is chaired by Donald 
Waters and he is supported by two 
independent non executive directors, Anita 
Frew and Giles Weaver.  All served on the 
committee throughout the year.  The board is 
satisfied that all of the committee’s members 
have recent and relevant commercial and 
financial knowledge and experience to satisfy 
the provisions of the Code, by virtue of their 
having held various executive and non 
executive roles in investment management and 
business management.  Additionally, Donald 
Waters and Giles Weaver are both Chartered 
Accountants.

The committee’s role is to assist the board in 
discharging its duties and responsibilities for 
financial reporting, internal control and risk 
management, and the appointment and 
remuneration of independent external auditors.   
The committee is also responsible for 
reviewing the scope and results of audit work 
and its cost effectiveness and the 
independence and objectivity of the auditors.  
In order to safeguard the objectivity and 
independence of the auditors, the committee 
has approved a comprehensive policy to 
regulate the provision of non-audit services by 
the Group’s external auditors.  The policy 
provides details of the types of service which 
are and are not permitted and those which 
require the explicit prior approval of the 
committee.  Permitted non-audit services 
include the provision of tax compliance 
services; the provision of certain recruitment 
services; and acting as reporting accountant in 
appropriate circumstances, provided there is no 
element of valuation work involved.  The 
provision of tax advisory services, due 
diligence/transaction services and litigation 
services may be permitted with the 
committee’s prior approval.  The provision of 
internal audit services, valuation work and any 
other activity that may give rise to any 
possibility of self-review are not permitted 
under any circumstance.  The committee also 
has responsibility for reviewing the Company’s 
arrangements on whistle blowing, ensuring 
that appropriate arrangements are in place for 
employees to be able to raise, in confidence, 

matters of possible impropriety, with suitable 
subsequent follow-up action.

During the year the committee discharged its 
responsibilities, under its terms of reference, by: 

(a) reviewing the Group’s draft 2007 financial 
statements and 2008 interim results 
statement prior to discussion and approval 
by the board and reviewing the external 
auditor’s detailed reports thereon;

(b) reviewing the continuing appropriateness of 
the Groups’ accounting policies;

(c) reviewing the external auditor’s plan for the 
audit of the Group’s 2008 financial 
statements, receiving and reviewing 
confirmations of auditor independence and 
approving the terms of engagement and 
proposed fees for the 2008 audit;

(d) making recommendations to the board for a 
resolution to be put to shareholders to 
approve the re-appointment of the external 
auditors; 

(e) reviewing management’s annual report on 
the Group’s system of internal control and 
its effectiveness, reporting to the board on 
the results of this review and receiving 
regular updates on key risks and controls;

(f) reviewing the internal audit department 
terms of reference, its work programme and 
regular reports on its work during the year;

(g) receiving reports from the chairman of the 
Group risk management committee;

(h) reviewing the committee’s terms of 
reference, carrying out an annual 
performance evaluation exercise and noting 
the satisfactory operation of the committee.

The committee receives regular reports from 
the Group’s external and internal auditors and 
can, and does, request supplementary reports 
from management to enable it to fulfil its 
duties under its terms of reference.  The 
committee met four times during the year, 
with representatives of senior management 
and KPMG Audit Plc in attendance at each 
meeting.  Details of the attendance of the 
individual members of the committee during 
the year are shown in the table below.
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Maximum possible attendance Meetings attended

Donald Waters 4 4

Anita Frew 4 4

Giles Weaver 4 4

Remuneration committee 
The remuneration committee is chaired by Sir 
Malcolm Rifkind, and he is supported by three 
independent non executive directors, Roger 
Cornick, Anita Frew and Giles Weaver.  Anita 
Frew was appointed to the committee during 
the year.  The role of the committee is to 
monitor, review and make recommendations 
to the board on the Group’s remuneration 
policy, as set out in the Report on pages 38 to 
47, and to make recommendations to the 
board on the remuneration packages of the 
executive directors and other senior employees 
of the Group.  The committee is also 

responsible for approving the design of all 
share incentive plans and for recommending 
their approval by the board and by 
shareholders.  The remuneration committee 
held six formal meetings during the year and 
details of the attendance of the individual 
members of the committee are shown in the 
table below.  In addition, and in accordance 
with the requirements of its terms of 
reference, the members of the committee were 
also consulted on a range of issues during the 
year, including specific matters related to both 
recruitment and redundancy.         

Maximum possible attendance Meetings attended

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 6 6

Roger Cornick 6 6

Anita Frew 6 5

Giles Weaver 6 6

Management board 
The operational management of the Group is 
delegated by the board to the management 
board which comprises the executive directors 
and other heads of department.  Brief 
biographies of its members are provided on 
page 34.  The management board meets three 
times each month, has specific terms of 
reference which have been approved by the 
board and has responsibility for implementing 
the board’s strategy.       

Relationships with shareholders
The Company places great importance on 
communication with investors and aims to 
keep shareholders informed by means of 
regular communication with institutional 
shareholders, analysts and the financial press 
throughout the year.  Annual and Interim 
Reports and interim management statements 
are widely distributed to other parties who 
may have an interest in the Group’s 
performance and these documents are also 
made available on the Company’s website.  The 
chief executive and finance director make 

regular reports to the board on investor 
relations and on specific discussions with 
major shareholders and the board receives 
copies of all research published on the 
Company.  Private investors are encouraged to 
attend the Annual General Meeting at which 
they have an opportunity to ask questions.  
The Annual General Meeting is normally 
attended by all directors, and the chairmen of 
the audit, nominations and remuneration 
committees are all available to answer 
questions.  The senior independent director is 
always available to shareholders if they have 
concerns which contact through the normal 
channels of chairman, chief executive or 
finance director has failed to resolve or for 
which such contact is inappropriate.  The 
Company continues to offer major 
shareholders the opportunity to meet any or 
all of the chairman, the senior independent 
director and any new directors.  The Group will 
continue its policy of announcing the number 
of proxy votes cast on resolutions at the 
Annual General Meeting and any other general 
meetings.
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Internal control
The board has overall responsibility for the 
Group’s system of internal controls and the 
management of significant risks.  The Group’s 
internal controls are designed to cover all risks 
to achieving the Group’s objectives including 
all business, operational, reputational, financial 
and regulatory compliance risks.  The internal 
controls are designed to manage, rather than 
eliminate, the risk of failure to meet the 
business objectives and to provide reasonable, 
but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.  The system of internal 
controls is embedded within the day to day 
operations of the Group and a strong control 
culture is combined with clear management 
responsibility and accountabilities for 
individual controls.  

The Group risk management committee, 
chaired by the Group head of risk, oversees  
the key risks and controls and the risk 
management process.  Membership of the 
committee comprises the executive directors 
and their senior colleagues plus the heads of 
the various risk functions.  The committee 
operates under terms of reference approved by 
the board.  The Group operates an automated 
risk management framework that requires 
management to record and regularly assess the 
risks and the effectiveness of internal controls 
and to report their findings to the board.  The 
risk management framework, which covers all 
material parts of the Group, also provides a 
continuous improvement process for the 
Group’s internal controls.   

The Group has separate functions which 
monitor the effectiveness of internal control.  
The primary control functions sit with the 
Group’s risk division, comprising the 
compliance, legal, internal audit, business risk 
and investment risk functions.  The compliance 
team reviews the effectiveness of controls that 
ensure compliance with regulatory 
requirements in each jurisdiction in which the 
Group operates while the legal team is 
responsible for ensuring that the Group 
complies with statutory requirements globally.  
The internal audit team reviews the 
effectiveness of all controls, either by reviewing 
the methods and findings of the other 
independent monitoring functions, or by 
directly auditing the controls operated by 
management.  Business risk covers operational 
and counterparty risk, with the latter being 
particularly focused on derivative markets and 

instruments, reflecting the increasing size and 
complexity of the Group.  Independent 
oversight of the risks within the strategies 
employed by the various investment teams is 
provided by the investment risk department.  
The heads of these functions each report to 
the Group head of risk who, in turn, reports to 
the chief executive and also attends and 
reports at meetings of the board.  The head of 
internal audit, however, primarily reports to the 
audit committee and has unrestricted access 
to the chairman of the audit committee.  
Further controls lie with the performance 
measurement division which reports on 
investment performance of assets managed by 
the Group to generally accepted industry 
standards.  The head of this division reports 
directly to the chief investment officer.

A summary of significant risks, key internal 
controls and findings arising from the risk 
management framework and the work of the 
monitoring functions is reported by the 
management board annually in a formal risk 
control report to the board.  Identifying, 
evaluating and managing the Group’s 
significant risks is an ongoing process which is 
regularly reviewed by the board and has been 
in place throughout the year to 30 September 
2008 and up to the date of approval of these 
financial statements.

Corporate responsibility
As part of the Group’s Corporate responsibility 
(‘CR’), the board takes account of the 
significance of environmental, social and 
governance (‘ESG’) matters that are of 
importance to the Group.  Primary 
responsibility for these matters rests with 
Andrew Laing, the deputy chief executive, 
however reporting to the board will come from 
a number of sources including the Group risk 
division via the Group’s automated risk 
management framework.  The board has 
identified and assessed the significant ESG 
risks to the Group’s short and long-term value, 
as well as the opportunities to enhance value 
that may arise from an appropriate response.  
The board confirms that it has received 
adequate information to make this assessment 
and that account is taken of the ESG matters 
in the induction and training of directors.  The 
board is of the opinion that the Group has in 
place effective systems for managing and 
mitigating significant risks which, where 
relevant, incorporate performance 

Corporate governance report continued
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management systems and appropriate 
remuneration incentives.  As previously stated, 
the most important ESG matters of relevance 
to the Group are employee retention and 
client relationships.  On both of these issues, 
the board has received specific reports from 
the Executive identifying the risks and the 
issues and have taken steps to ensure that 
they are managed in an appropriate manner.  
In addition, it is recognised that the Group’s 
activities do have an impact on the 
environment and in using the results of our 
recent environmental audit, the Group remains 
committed to minimising waste and using 
energy efficiently, thus aiming to reduce the 
negative impact of our operations on the 
environment.  Full details are available on the 
Group’s website.

The Group believes that the principles of 
transparency, fairness, accountability and 
integrity are fundamental to the Group’s 
operations. under the guidance of the CR 
committee, the Group has established five  
sub-committees focusing on employees, health 
and safety, environment management, 
suppliers and social and community activities.  
Each sub-committee comprises representatives 
from different divisions and regions.  These sub 
committees are charged with promoting their 
specialist interests and to report on such to 
the board of directors, via the CR committee.  
Further details are available on the Group’s 
website.

voting
The Group has codified and published its policy 
on corporate governance in relation to 
companies in which it has invested or is 
considering investing and on voting at 
shareholder meetings of investee companies.  
During the year under review, the Group 
engaged in dialogue with in excess of 60 
companies to improve our understanding of 
their CR issues.  Full details are available on the 
Group website.  

Employees
The Group has over 1,900 employees 
worldwide (1,517 in 2007) and recognises that 
their involvement is key to the future success 
of the business.  The practice of keeping 
employees informed on all matters affecting 

them, via email and the Group’s internal 
noticeboard and that all publicly announced 
documents are circulated internally to all 
employees continues.  The Group is also 
committed to following good practice in 
employment matters, recognising the part this 
plays in attracting and retaining staff.  

Employees work hard for the stakeholders and 
there is a remuneration strategy that 
recognises both corporate and individual 
performance, further details of which are 
contained in the Remuneration report on pages 
38 to 47.  Overall, the Group looks to staff to 
learn about the business, systems and 
processes, so as to develop their skills and 
knowledge.  One of the Group’s values is the 
focus on teamwork where everyone works to 
the same goals, whilst striving to do better.  
This takes talented and motivated people that 
put the customer at the heart of the business.  

The Group operates an integrated 
management development programme to 
develop the key competencies needed in the 
business and has a challenging graduate 
development programme, which provides the 
business with a skills and talent pipeline.  There 
are currently thirteen graduates on the 
graduate development programme, eight of 
whom started in September 2008.  The 
graduate development programme provides 
the opportunity to maximise the individuals’ 
experiences in the company, whilst enhancing 
their skills and knowledge.  Through various 
rotations round the Group, the programme 
aims to give individuals a well-rounded view of 
the asset management industry and its related 
functions.  Graduates gain experience in a 
number of departments, including 
performance, internal audit, group marketing, 
product development, fixed income, equities 
and property.  A placement typically lasts three 
to four months, and gives the graduate an 
excellent opportunity to understand the 
function of each department and to add 
significant value.

The Group promotes the importance of high 
ethical standards to all employees and staff 
have the opportunity to voice any concerns 
they may have, either direct with management 
or on a confidential basis via the whistle 
blowing process.
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Equal opportunities
The Group is committed to providing equal 
opportunities, both for existing employees and 
for new applicants, and seeks to ensure that 
the workforce reflects, as far as is practicable, 
the diversity of the many communities in 
which the Group operates.  It is the Group’s 
policy to give appropriate consideration to 
applications for employment from disabled 
persons, having regard to their particular 
aptitudes and abilities.  For the purposes of 
training, career development and promotion, 
disabled employees, including anyone who 
may become disabled during the course of his 
or her employment, are treated on equal terms 
with other employees.  The Group operates a 
zero tolerance policy to harassment and 
bullying.  Details of the Group’s equal 
opportunities policy is available on the 
Company's website and this policy is 
supplemented by specific policies that reflect 
local employment legislation and expectations.

Health and safety
The Group has in place appropriate health and 
safety policies which can be accessed by all 
staff via an internal database.  The aim is to 
provide both staff and visitors with a safe and 
healthy working environment.  The Group is 
committed to adhering to the high standards 
of health and safety set out by its policies and 
procedures and to provide training as 
necessary.

Environment
The Group continues to promote energy 
efficiency and the avoidance of waste 
throughout its operations.  The Group has 
again carried out an environmental audit, this 
time covering all our main offices worldwide, 
in order to obtain key performance indicator 
data and to be able to provide comment on 
the Group’s environmental performance.  The 
Group remains committed to using energy 
efficiently and minimising waste, thus aiming 
to reduce the negative impact of our 
operations on the environment.  

Energy consumption
We continue to look closely at our energy use, 
recognising that this is one of the most 
significant impacts that our operations have on 
the environment.  We have implemented a 
number of initiatives to conserve energy, 
including the use of low energy lighting and 
implementing a switch off policy and we 
remain committed to reducing our energy 
usage across all our offices.  Whilst we do not 
have access to data on energy consumption 
across all our offices due, primarily, to shared 
occupancy, we have data for our two largest 
uK offices and this is detailed below.  

After the end of the financial year under 
review, 195 staff in Aberdeen relocated to a 
new purpose built office in the centre of 
Aberdeen.  Relocating to this new office will 
enable us to benefit from the latest 
technologies on energy consumption and 
resource utilisation and we anticipate this will 
assist in our aim of reducing the Group’s 
energy consumption.

Corporate governance report continued
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Water consumption
We are all conscious of the global need to 
conserve water and we have established a 
number of initiatives to encourage this, 
including the use of sensors in taps and 
reduced flow mechanisms.  While we do not 
have access to data on water consumption 
across all our offices due, primarily, to shared 
occupancy, we have data for our two largest 
uK offices and this is noted on page 54.  
We remain committed to reducing water 
consumption, per employee, on an annual 
basis.

Social and community activities
Since its foundation, Aberdeen has been an 
active supporter of the communities in which 
it operates, both in the uK and around the 
world.  In our twenty-fifth year, we established 
a new charity sub committee to oversee 
donations and over the coming year, the 
committee will be reviewing the Group’s 
charitable giving policy in addition to 
implementing an employee volunteering 
programme.  We operate a payroll giving 
scheme for staff as well as being able to offer 
additional financial support as appropriate to 
applicants involved in fund-raising endeavours 
for the charity of their choice.  This sub 
committee also considers applications from 
external sources and over the course of 2008, 
it considered 109 requests, resulting in 100 
donations between £100 and £14,000.  This 
was reflected in our support of causes that are 
local to our offices, national in the countries in 
which we operate and international.  For 2008, 

our focus was on specific projects involving 
community groups, the armed forces, 
international development, health and older 
people.  We were very pleased to have the 
opportunity to contribute to the recruitment 
of an information and support worker, based in 
Aberdeenshire, for people with Parkinson's 
Disease, their carers and families.  This is a five 
year commitment, which will lead to 
significant benefits for those in the area who 
are affected by the illness.  In addition, we 
have given our support to Help for Heroes, in 
recognition of the bravery of the members of 
our armed forces, including one former staff 
member who served in Afghanistan.

Aberdeen's investments stretch across the 
globe and our reputation has in part been built 
upon our expertise in investing in developing 
countries.  To reflect this, we have chosen to 
assist EveryChild, an international development 
charity.  EveryChild has an outstanding record 
in providing families in developing countries 
with healthcare, education and support 
through sponsorship programmes and we 
continue to support its work with some of the 
world's most vulnerable children.  In addition, 
we have also chosen to support the British 
Memorial Garden in New York.  

Our sponsorship activities continue to focus on 
a limited number of major brand building 
sports sponsorships ranging from golf 
tournaments and players to yachting and 
adventure racing.  Most recently, Aberdeen has 
entered into a two year deal to sponsor 
Edinburgh Rugby Club.
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statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the Group and parent 
company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.  

Company law requires the directors to prepare 
Group and parent company financial 
statements for each financial year.  under that 
law they are required to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the Eu (‘IFRS’) and applicable law and have 
elected to prepare the parent company 
financial statements on the same basis.  

The Group and parent company financial 
statements are required by law and IFRS 
adopted by the Eu to present fairly the state 
of affairs of the Group and company and of 
the profit or loss of the Group and company 
for that period.  The Companies Act 1985 
provides in relation to such financial 
statements that references in the relevant part 
of the Act to financial statements giving a true 
and fair view are references to giving a fair 
presentation.

In preparing each of the Group and parent 
company financial statements, the directors 
are required to:

•	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	
apply them consistently;  

•	 make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	
reasonable and prudent;  

•	 state	whether	they	have	been	prepared	in	
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the Eu; 
and  

•	 prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the group and parent 
company will continue in business.  

The directors are responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the company and enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 1985.  They have 
general responsibility for taking such steps as 
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the 
assets of the company and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.  

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
company’s website.  Legislation in the uK 
governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.  

under applicable law and regulations the 
directors are also responsible for preparing a 
Directors’ report, Remuneration report and 
Corporate governance statement that comply 
with that law and those regulations.  
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Independent Auditors’ report to the Members of 
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC

We have audited the group and parent 
company financial statements (the ''financial 
statements'') of Aberdeen Asset Management 
PLC for the year ended 30 September 2008 
which comprise the Group Income Statement, 
the Group and Parent Company Balance 
Sheets, the Group and Parent Company 
Statements of Cash Flows, the Group and 
Parent Company Statements of Recognised 
Income and Expenses, and the related notes.  
These financial statements have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out therein.  
We have also audited the information in the 
Directors' Remuneration Report that is 
described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company's 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.  Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the company's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor's report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company's 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of  
Directors and Auditors
The directors' responsibilities for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Directors' Remuneration 
Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the Eu are set out in the 
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities on 
page 56.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors' 
Remuneration Report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on 
Auditing (uK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether 
the financial statements give a true and fair 
view and whether the financial statements and 
the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report 
to be audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, 
as regards the group financial statements, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.  We also report 
to you whether in our opinion the information 
given in the Directors' Report is consistent 

with the financial statements.  The information 
given in the Directors' Report includes that 
specific information presented in the 
Chairman’s Statement and Business Review 
that is cross referred from the business review 
section of the Directors' Report.  

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, 
the company has not kept proper accounting 
records, if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for 
our audit, or if information specified by law 
regarding directors' remuneration and other 
transactions is not disclosed.  

We review whether the Corporate Governance 
Statement reflects the company's compliance 
with the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined 
Code specified for our review by the Listing 
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and 
we report if it does not.  We are not required 
to consider whether the board's statements on 
internal control cover all risks and controls, or 
form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its 
risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in 
the Annual Report and consider whether it is 
consistent with the audited financial 
statements.  We consider the implications for 
our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with 
the financial statements.  Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (uK and 
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.  
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to 
be audited.  It also includes an assessment of 
the significant estimates and judgments made 
by the directors in the preparation of the 
financial statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the 
Group’s and company's circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to 
obtain all the information and explanations 
which we considered necessary in order to 
provide us with sufficient evidence to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial 
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statements and the part of the Directors' 
Remuneration Report to be audited are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or other irregularity or error.  In 
forming our opinion we also evaluated the 
overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the financial statements and 
the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report 
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

•	 the	group	financial	statements	give	a	true	
and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the Eu, of the state of the 
Group’s affairs as at 30 September 2008 and 
of its profit for the year then ended; 

•	 the	parent	company	financial	statements	
give a true and fair view, in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the Eu as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the 
parent company's affairs as at 30 September 
2008;

•	 the	financial	statements	and	the	part	of	the	
Directors' Remuneration Report to be 
audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 
and, as regards the group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; 
and

•	 the	information	given	in	the	Directors'	
Report is consistent with the financial 
statements.

KPMG Audit Plc 

Chartered Accountants 
Registered Auditor 
37 Albyn Place, Aberdeen

8 December 2008

Independent Auditors' report to the Members of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC continued
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the Eu, 
(‘IFRS’) and interpretations issued by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee or its predecessors (‘IFRIC’), which 
had been approved by the European 
Commission as at 30 September 2008.  

The financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis, except that certain 
of the Group’s financial instruments are stated 
at their fair values and the measurement of 
long-term employee benefits at present value 
of the obligation less fair value of any assets 
held to settle the obligation.  The principal 
accounting policies, which have been 
consistently applied, are set out below.

The Group has adopted the following 
standards and interpretations during the 
financial year:

•	 IFRS	7	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures
•	 IAS	1	Amendment	–	Presentation	of	

Financial Statements: Capital Disclosures

These standards have not had any impact on 
the Group’s financial statements other than to 
amend the disclosure of capital, financial 
instruments and risks and the disclosures are 
shown primarily in notes 30 and 38 to the 
financial statements.  

The group have also adopted the amendments 
to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures from 1 July 2008 and 
the impact on the financial statements is 
explained in notes 16 and 21.

The Group has classified certain seed capital 
investments made during the year as assets 
held for sale as described in note 23.

Statement of compliance
Both the parent company financial statements 
and the Group financial statements have been 
prepared and approved by the directors in 
accordance with IFRS.  On publishing the 
parent company financial statements here 
together with the Group financial statements, 
the Company is taking advantage of the 
exemption in section 230 of the Companies 
Act 1985 not to present its individual income 
statement and related notes that form part of 
the approved financial statements.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Preparation of the financial statements 
necessitates the use of estimates, assumptions 
and judgements.  These estimates, assumptions 
and judgements affect the reported values of 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at 
the balance sheet date as well as affecting the 
reported income and expenses for the year.  
Although the estimates are based on 
management’s knowledge and judgement of 
information and financial data, the actual 
outcome may differ from these estimates.  The 
key assumptions which affect these results for 
the year and the balances as at the year-end 
are specifically identified, where appropriate, in 
the following notes to the Group financial 
statements.

(a) Amortisation periods used for intangible 
assets – note 14

(b) Impairment testing of goodwill and 
intangible assets – note 14

(c) Deferred tax assets – note 17
(d) Provisions – note 31
(e) Pensions – note 35
(f) Share-based payments – note 25

On 27 March 2008 the Group’s wholly owned 
subsidiary, Aberdeen Property Investors Holding 
AB, completed the acquisition of 100% of the 
ordinary share capital of DEGI Deutsche 
Gesellschaft für Immobilienfonds mbH ('DEGI') 
from Dresdner Bank AG.  The transfer of 
economic benefits was effective from  
1 January 2008 and the Group governed the 
operational and financial policies of DEGI from 
that date.  The effective date of acquisition is 
therefore 1 January 2008.

New standards and interpretations  
not applied
During the year, a number of new standards 
and interpretations have been issued with 
effective dates after the date of these financial 
statements.  The directors do not anticipate 
that the adoption of these standards and 
interpretations will materially impact on the 
Group’s financial statements in the period of 
initial application although there will be 
revised and additional disclosures.  The Group 
plans to apply these standards in the reporting 
period in which they become effective.  The 
new standards and interpretations which have 
been endorsed by the European Commission 
include:
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IFRS 8 Operating Segments

Standards and interpretations not endorsed:

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and 
their Interaction.

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revision including requiring a statement of  
comprehensive income.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Consequential amendments arising 
to IFRS 3.

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – Amendments relating to vesting conditions and cancellations.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Comprehensive revision on applying the acquisition method.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial information 
contained within these financial statements 
incorporates the results, cash flows and 
financial position of the Company and its 
subsidiaries for the period to 30 September 
2008.  Subsidiaries are entities controlled by 
the Company and are included from the date 
that control commences until the date that 
control ceases.  Control exists when the Group 
has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  

The consolidated financial statements include 
the Group’s share of the total recognised  
gains and losses of associates on an equity 
accounted basis, from the date that significant 
influence commences until the date that 
significant influence ceases.  Associates are 
those entities in which the Group has 
significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating policies.  When the 
Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in 
an associate, the carrying amount is reduced 
to nil and recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that the 
Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of  
an associate.

All inter-company transactions, balances, 
income and expenses between Group entities 
are eliminated on consolidation.  unrealised 
gains arising from transactions with associates 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the entity.  unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

until 30 June 2008, the Group managed 
private equity investments on behalf of its 
clients and these investments were held by 
limited partnerships.  IAS 27 defines control as 
the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits.  Benefits in this context are 
interpreted as ownership benefits.  Whilst the 
Group had a small interest in the limited 
partnerships, the Group’s principal business 
rationale was to earn management fees by 
managing the partnerships on behalf of 
investors.  On that basis the Group considers it 
did not control the operating and financial 
decisions of the investee companies so as to 
obtain benefits of ownership.  Consequently, 
limited partnerships and any significant 
investment holdings were not consolidated but 
were held at fair value as set out in the 
financial instruments policy.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for 
using the purchase method.  The cost of the 
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the 
fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets 
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and 
equity instruments issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any 
costs directly attributable to the business 
combination.  The acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet 
the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 
Business Combinations are recognised at their 
fair values at the acquisition date.

Accounting policies continued
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Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured.  Revenue is recognised as the 
services are provided and includes 
management fees, transaction fees, 
performance fees and registration fees.

Initial income from the sale of shares in open 
ended investment companies received in 
advance is taken to the balance sheet and 
amortised over the period of the asset 
management service, which is estimated based 
on the Group’s experience of the average 
holding periods by investors.

The Group is entitled to earn performance fees 
from a number of clients where the actual 
performance of the clients’ assets exceeds 
defined benchmarks by an agreed level of 
outperformance over a set time period.  
Performance fees are recognised when the 
quantum of the fee can be estimated reliably, 
which is normally at the end of the 
performance period, when this occurs on or 
before the reporting date, or where there is a 
period of less than six months remaining to 
the end of the performance period and there is 
evidence at the reporting date which suggests 
that the current performance will be 
sustainable.

Finance revenue
Finance revenue comprises interest and 
dividends.  Interest income is recognised using 
the effective interest rate method as it accrues.  
Dividend income is recognised when the 
Group’s right to receive payment is established 
which, in the case of listed securities, is the 
ex-dividend date.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses 
on investments
Gains and losses (both realised and unrealised) 
on financial assets designated as held for 
trading are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.  Realised and unrealised 
gains are recognised as part of revenue.

Gains and losses on financial assets designated 
as available-for-sale are initially recognised 
through the consolidated statement of 
recognised income and expense.  upon 
disposal, any gain or loss taken through the 
consolidated statement of recognised income 

and expense is reversed out and the full gain or 
loss from purchase, after any impairment 
charge previously recognised, is taken through 
the consolidated income statement.

Realised gains and losses on investments are 
calculated as the difference between the net 
sales proceeds and cost or amortised cost.  
unrealised gains and losses on investments 
represent the difference between the valuation 
of investments at the balance sheet date and 
their original cost or, if they have been 
previously revalued, the valuation at the last 
balance sheet date.  The movement in 
unrealised gains and losses recognised in the 
period also includes the reversal of gains or 
losses previously recognised on investments 
disposed of during the current accounting 
period.

The Group has taken advantage during the 
year of the amendment to IAS 39 which 
permits the reclassification in rare 
circumstances of financial assets out of fair 
value through profit or loss.  Further details of 
this are set out in notes 16 and 21.

Exceptional income and costs
Where the Group incurs significant non-
recurring expenditure or earns significant non-
recurring income in respect of items that arise 
outwith the Group’s normal business activities 
and which are sufficiently material to warrant 
separate disclosure then the expenditure 
incurred is separately recognised on the face of 
the income statement as exceptional in order 
to provide more helpful information to 
investors.

Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on 
borrowings.

Leases
All Group leases are operating leases, being 
leases where the lessor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
leased asset.

Rental payments made under operating leases 
are charged to the income statement on a 
straight line basis over the term of the lease.  
Lease incentives received by the Group are 
recognised as a reduction in the rental 
expense, recognised on a straight line basis 
over the term of the lease.
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Pension costs
The principal pension scheme operated by the 
Group is a group personal pension scheme.  In 
addition overseas subsidiaries make 
contributions to various trade and state 
defined contribution schemes.  Contributions 
to these defined contribution pension schemes 
are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement as they become payable under the 
rules of the schemes.

The Group also operates three legacy defined 
benefit pension schemes in the uK which 
arose on acquisitions.  All three schemes are 
closed to new membership and to future 
service accruals.  In addition, defined benefit 
scheme obligations were added with the 
acquisition of DEGI during the year.  The 
Group’s net obligation in respect of these 
schemes is calculated separately for each 
scheme by estimating the amount of future 
benefit that members have earned in return for 
their service in prior periods; that benefit is 
discounted to determine its present value, and 
the fair value of any scheme assets is 
deducted.  The benefits are discounted at a 
rate equal to the yield on high credit rated 
corporate bonds that have maturity dates 
approximating to the terms of the Group’s 
obligations.  The calculation is performed by a 
qualified actuary using the projected unit 
credit method.

The surplus or deficit in respect of defined 
benefit schemes is expressed as the excess or 
shortfall of the fair value of the assets of the 
scheme compared to the present value of the 
scheme liabilities and is recognised as an asset 
or liability of the Group.

Interest costs on the liability, expected return 
on plan assets and the costs of curtailments 
and settlements are recognised in the income 
statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the 
period in which they occur directly in equity.  
When the calculation results in a benefit to 
the Group, the recognised asset is limited to 
the present value of any future refunds from 
the plan or reductions in future contributions 
to the plan.

Employee benefits
short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are recognised 
as an undiscounted expense and liability when 
the employee has rendered services during an 
accounting period.  Short term accumulating 
compensated absences are recognised when 
the employee renders the service that 
increases his entitlement to future 
compensated absence.  Non-accumulating 
compensated absences are recognised when 
the absence occurs.

Profit sharing and bonus payments
These are recognised when there is a present 
legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past events and a 
reliable estimate of the obligation can be 
made.

share based payments
The Executive Share Option Scheme allows 
Group employees to acquire shares of the 
Company.  The fair value of options granted 
after 7 November 2002 is recognised as an 
employee expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity.  The fair value is measured 
at grant date and spread over the period over 
which the employee becomes unconditionally 
entitled to the options.  The fair value of the 
options granted is measured using a trinomial 
lattice model, taking into account the terms 
and conditions upon which the options were 
granted.  The amount recognised as an expense 
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of 
share options that vest except where forfeiture 
is due only to share prices not achieving the 
threshold for vesting.

The fair value of awards under the Group’s 
long term incentive plan (‘LTIP’) is recognised 
as an expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity.  The fair value is initially measured at 
the date of the award and is spread over the 
period during which employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the shares.  The fair 
value of LTIP awards is based on the market 
price of the underlying shares at the date of 
the award, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the award was made.

Accounting policies continued
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Where the Company makes awards under the 
LTIP to employees of its subsidiaries it 
recharges the cost of these awards to each 
subsidiary based on the fair value of the shares 
awarded.

termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an 
expense and liability when the Group is 
committed to the termination of employment 
before the normal retirement date.  A 
commitment to such termination benefits 
arises when the Group has initiated detailed 
plans which cannot realistically be withdrawn.

Employee Benefits Trust
The Group has an Employee Benefits Trust 
(‘EBT’) which owns shares in the Company for 
the purposes of administering the Group’s 
Long Term Incentive Plan and the deferred 
share element of annual bonuses.  The EBT is 
consolidated into the Group’s financial 
statements, with these shares deducted from 
equity.  Any consideration received for such 
shares is recognised within retained earnings.  
No gain or loss is recognised in the income 
statement on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of equity shares.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises 
current and deferred tax.  Tax is recognised in 
the income statement except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable profit for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable 
or recoverable on differences between the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding 
basis used for tax purposes.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance 
sheet liability method and is calculated at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply when the 
asset is realised or the liability settled.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised, except:

•	 in	respect	of	taxable	or	deductible	
temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that they will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

•	 where	the	deferred	tax	asset	or	liability	
arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill.

•	 where	the	deferred	tax	asset	or	liability	
arises from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that
– is not a business combination; and
– at the time of the transaction, affects 

neither accounting profit nor loss.

Property, plant & equipment
Property, plant & equipment is stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure on property, plant & equipment is 
capitalised on initial recognition.  Subsequent 
expenditure is only capitalised when it is 
probable that there will be future economic 
benefits associated with the item and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably.  All other 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 
income statement as incurred.

Property, plant & equipment is depreciated so 
as to write off the cost of assets, on a straight 
line basis, over their estimated useful lives as 
follows:

•	 Heritable	property:	50	years
•	 Leasehold	property:	over	the	period	of	the	

lease
•	 Property	improvements:	shorter	of	5	years	or	

the period of the lease
•	 Computers,	fixtures	&	fittings:	3	–	10	years
•	 Motor	vehicles:	4	years	

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in the 
income statement.
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The carrying value of these assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date.  An assessment is made 
as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired; if any such indication 
exists and where the carrying value exceeds 
the estimated recoverable amount, the assets 
are written down to their recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount is the greater of fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use.  Any 
impairment losses are recognised in the 
income statement.

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no further 
future economic benefits are expected from its 
use.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying value of the asset) is included in the 
Income Statement in the year the asset is 
derecognised.  

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation, representing 
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the 
fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities acquired, is capitalised in the balance 
sheet.  The carrying value of goodwill at  
1 October 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, 
is equivalent to the carrying value under uK 
GAAP and is subject to annual impairment 
testing.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is stated 
at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses.  An impairment review is carried out at 
least annually and any impairment is recognised 
immediately in the income statement and is 
not subsequently reversed.  Goodwill is 
allocated to the appropriate cash-generating 
unit for the purpose of impairment testing.

Management contracts
Intangible assets such as management 
contracts acquired as part of a business 
combination are capitalised where it is 
probable that future economic benefits 
attributable to the assets will flow to the 
Group and the fair value of the assets can be 
measured reliably.

The management contracts are recorded 
initially at fair value and then amortised, if 
appropriate, over their useful lives.  The fair 

value at the date of acquisition is calculated 
using discounted cash flow methodology and 
represents the valuation of the net residual 
income stream arising from the management 
contracts in place at the date of acquisition.  
The contracts are included in the balance sheet 
as an intangible asset.

The useful lives of management contracts in 
respect of open end funds are considered to be 
indefinite and are therefore not subject to 
amortisation.  The indefinite nature of these 
contracts is re-assessed on an annual basis to 
ensure that the policy remains appropriate.   
The Group tests for impairment of these assets 
annually or more frequently if there is an 
indication that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable.  The recoverable amount is the 
greater of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use.  Management contracts in respect of 
segregated mandates are considered to have a 
finite life and are therefore amortised on a 
straight line basis over their estimated average 
contract term of 10 years, with amortisation 
charged to the income statement.  

Other intangible assets – software
Purchased intangible assets have a finite life 
and are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.  
Amortisation is charged to the income 
statement on a straight line basis according to 
the useful economic life of the intangible asset 
which, for software, is estimated at 3 years.

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised 
intangible assets is capitalised only when it 
increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates.  All other expenditure is expensed as 
incurred.  At each reporting date, an 
assessment is made as to whether there is any 
indication that an asset in use may be 
impaired.  If any such indication exists and the 
carrying values exceed the estimated 
recoverable amount, the assets are written 
down to their recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the greater of the fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use.  Where 
intangible software assets are not yet available 
for use, an assessment of whether the carrying 
values exceed the estimated recoverable 
amount is made irrespective of whether there 
is any indication of impairment.
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Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised initially at 
fair value plus, in the case of investments not 
at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs.  They are 
categorised as described below.

The fair value of financial instruments that are 
actively traded on organised financial markets 
is determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date.  For investments where 
there is no active market, the fair value is 
determined using valuation techniques.  These 
techniques include recent arm’s length market 
transactions, reference to the current market 
value of another financial instrument which is 
substantially the same; discounted cashflow 
analysis and option pricing models.

Financial instruments are categorised as 
described below.

Financial investments at fair value through 
profit or loss include investments held for 
trading purposes.  They are carried at fair value 
in the balance sheet and gains or losses are 
taken to the income statement in the period in 
which they arise.  The following assets and 
liabilities are classified as financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss:

•	 Current assets
– Financial investments
– Stock of units and shares

•	 Current liabilities
– Investment contract liabilities

Available for sale financial assets are also 
carried at fair value in the balance sheet.  
Movements in fair value are taken to the fair 
value reserve until derecognition of the asset, 
at which time the cumulative amount dealt 
with through this reserve is recognised in the 
income statement.

The following assets are designated as 
available for sale:

•	 Non-current assets
– Other investments

Included in this category are the Group’s 
investments in private equity partnerships.  The 
fair value of these investments represents the 
Group’s direct investments and entitlement to 

carried interest distributions, both of which are 
measured with reference to the International 
Private Equity and venture Capital Association 
valuation Guidelines.  

Loans and receivables and other financial 
liabilities are recognised at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.  

Convertible bonds that can be converted to 
share capital at the option of the holder, where 
the number of shares issued does not vary 
with changes in their fair value, are accounted 
for as compound financial instruments with a 
liability and equity component.  Transaction 
costs that relate to the issue of a compound 
financial instrument are allocated to the 
liability and equity components in proportion 
to the allocation of proceeds.  The equity 
component of the convertible bonds is 
calculated as the excess of the issue proceeds 
over the present value of the future interest 
and principal payments, discounted at the 
market rate of interest applicable to similar 
liabilities that do not have a conversion option.  
The interest expense recognised in the income 
statement is calculated using the effective 
interest rate method.

The Group has adopted trade date accounting.  
Accordingly, a financial investment is 
recognised on the date the Group commits to 
its purchase and derecognised on the date on 
which the Group commits to its sale.

Assets held for sale
Assets acquired with the intention to 
subsequently dispose of them by sale are 
classified as held for sale and measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.

Assets are only considered to be classified as 
held for sale if:

(a) the carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use;

(b) management is committed to the sale 
within one year of acquisition;

(c) the asset is available for immediate sale in 
its present condition;

(d) the asset is marketed for sale at a price that 
is reasonable in relation to its current fair 
value.



66 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2008 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
balances, call deposits and investments in 
money market instruments with an original 
maturity of three months or less.  Bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand are 
included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purposes of the statement 
of cash flows.

Investment contracts
The Group sells unit linked life and pension 
contracts through its insurance subsidiary, 
Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions 
Limited (‘L&P’).  Management fees earned 
from these contracts are accounted for as 
described in the accounting policy for revenue.

L&P is consolidated in the Group financial 
statements on a line-by-line basis.  unit linked 
policyholder assets held by L&P and related 
policyholder liabilities are carried at fair value, 
with changes in fair value taken to profit or 
loss.

Amounts received from and paid to investors 
under these contracts are treated as deposits 
received or paid and therefore not recorded in 
the income statement.  Charges to investors 
due under these contracts are recognised in 
the income statement.  At the balance sheet 
date the value of these contracts is stated at 
an amount equal to the fair value of the net 
assets held to match the contractual 
obligations.

Investments in subsidiaries
In the Company balance sheet, investments in 
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any 
provision for impairment.

Impairment
The Group performs annual impairment 
reviews in respect of goodwill and intangible 
fixed assets with indefinite lives.  The Group 
carries out impairment reviews in respect of 
property, plant & equipment and other assets, 
including fixed asset investments, whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 

exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount for any asset or cash-
generating unit is the higher of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
cash-generating units are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to cash-generating units and then to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets 
in the unit on a pro rata basis.

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are 
not reversed.  In respect of other assets, an 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

Equity instruments
Preference share capital
The issued preference capital is classified as an 
element of equity as it is irredeemable, except 
at the Company’s option, and dividend 
payments are discretionary.  Dividends on 
preference shares are recognised as 
distributions within equity.

Perpetual subordinated capital securities
The 7.9% Perpetual subordinated capital 
securities are classified as an element of equity 
as the securities are irredeemable, except at 
the Company’s option, and coupon payments 
are discretionary.  Coupon payments, net of 
attributable tax, are recognised as distributions 
within equity.

Repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognised as equity is 
repurchased, the amount of the consideration 
paid, which includes directly attributable costs, 
is net of any tax effects, and is recognised as a 
deduction from equity.  When these shares are 
sold or reissued subsequently, the amount 
received is recognised as an increase in equity, 
and the resulting surplus or deficit on the 
transaction is transferred to or from retained 
earnings.  Dividends on ordinary shares are 
recognised on the date of payment or, if 
subject to approval, the date approved by 
shareholders.  Dividends on certain own shares 
held by the Employee Benefit Trusts are waived 
by the Trustees.
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Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet 
when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation.  If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability.  Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as an interest expense.  No 
provision is established where a reliable 
estimate of the obligation cannot be made.

Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in sterling, the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency.  Each entity in the 
Group determines its own functional currency 
and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured in that functional 
currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are 
translated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the exchange rate ruling at the 
balance sheet date and any exchange 
differences arising are taken to the income 
statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured 
at historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated to the functional currency using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction 
and so no exchange differences arise.  Non-
monetary assets and liabilities stated at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated at 
the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet 

date.  Where fair value movements in assets 
and liabilities are reflected in the income 
statement, the corresponding exchange 
movements are also recognised in the income 
statement.  Where fair value movements in 
assets and liabilities are reflected directly in 
equity, the corresponding exchange 
movements are also recognised directly in 
equity.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations 
are translated to sterling at exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date.  The revenues 
and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated to sterling at rates approximating to 
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the 
transactions.

Hedge of net investment in  
foreign operation
Foreign currency differences arising on the 
retranslation of a financial liability designated 
as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign 
operation are recognised directly in equity, in 
the foreign currency translation reserve, to the 
extent that the hedge is effective.  To the 
extent that the hedge is ineffective, such 
differences are recognised in profit or loss.  
When the hedged part of a net investment is 
disposed of, the associated cumulative amount 
in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an 
adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.

Segment reporting
The Group’s primary reporting segments are its 
two operating divisions, namely the fund 
management division and the property 
division.  Additional information is provided by 
geographic segment whereby the results of the 
Group are disclosed according to the 
geographical location of its operating 
subsidiaries in the uK and Europe, Asia and  
the Americas.
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Group Income statement
For the year to 30 september 2008

Notes
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Revenue 1  430,086 347,843

Operating costs  (330,794) (251,299)
Exceptional costs 5  (25,002) (20,301)
Amortisation of intangible assets  (13,785) (9,404)
Exceptional settlement costs 8 – (46,776)

Operating expenses  (369,581) (327,780)

Exceptional gains 4 4,129 8,667
Gains on investments and other income 4 724 3,440

Other operating income 4 4,853 12,107

Operating profit before:  100,016 99,984
Exceptional gains and charges  (20,873) (58,410)
Amortisation of intangible assets  (13,785) (9,404)

Operating profit  65,358 32,170

Finance revenue 9  5,697 5,580
Finance costs 9  (10,598) (11,299)
Exceptional finance costs 9 – (2,778)

Net finance costs 9  (4,901) (8,497)

Profit before exceptional items, amortisation and taxation 95,115 94,265
Exceptional items and amortisation before taxation (34,658) (70,592)

Profit before taxation 60,457 23,673

Tax expense on profit before exceptional items and amortisation (16,491) (11,387)
Tax on exceptional items and amortisation 2,881 18,357

tax (expense) credit 10 (13,610) 6,970

Profit after taxation before exceptional items and amortisation 78,624 82,878
Exceptional items and amortisation after taxation (31,777) (52,235)

Profit for the year 46,847 30,643

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 35,216 26,957
Other equity holders 11,631 3,686

46,847 30,643

Earnings per share

Basic 13 4.57p 3.61p
Diluted 13 4.52p 3.50p
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statements of Recognised Income and Expense
For the year to 30 september 2008

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Net actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes  7,223  10,527 318  187 

Translation of foreign currency net investments  (1,425)  1,823 –  – 

Movement in fair value of available for sale investments  (4,992)  (4,054) (2,572)  1,411 

Tax on items taken directly to equity (1,269)  (5,772) 623  (742)

Net (expense) income recognised directly in equity (463)  2,524 (1,631)  856 

Profit for the year 46,847  30,643 40,018  68,561 

total recognised income and expense for the year 46,384  33,167  38,387  69,417 

Attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Ordinary shareholders 34,753  29,481  26,756  65,731 

Other equity holders  11,631  3,686  11,631  3,686 
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Balance sheets
30 september 2008

Group Company

Notes
2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Assets 
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets  14  828,461  619,687  26,682  25,652 
Property, plant and equipment  15  15,661  13,833  8,666  8,041 
Other investments  16  50,335  34,898  1,041,011  855,445 
Pension surplus 35 5,481 – – –
Deferred tax assets  17 24,109  21,155  449  279 
Trade and other receivables  18 8,898  4,485  –  – 
total non-current assets  932,945  694,058  1,076,808  889,417 

Current assets 
Stock of units and shares  19  268  537  –  – 
Financial investments  20  1,131,060  1,298,402  –  – 
Trade and other receivables  18  191,558  178,173  128,467  142,464 
Other investments  21  15,441  23,508  –  7,771 
Cash and cash equivalents  22  82,161  80,680  85  5,525 
Assets classified as held for sale  23  17,596 –  12,075  – 
total current assets  1,438,084  1,581,300  140,627  155,760 
total assets  2,371,029  2,275,358  1,217,435  1,045,177 

Equity 
Called up share capital  24  79,691  70,888  79,691  70,888 
Share premium account  26  396,010  287,565  396,010  287,565 
Other reserves  26  216,876  222,283  223,054  225,626 
Retained (loss) profit  26 (147,216)  (158,636)  22,590  22,002 
total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  545,361  422,100  721,345  606,081 

Attributable to other equity holders - perpetual  
capital securities  27  197,942  197,814  197,942  197,814 
total equity  743,303  619,914  919,287  803,895 

Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  28  172,340  85,334  172,340  85,334 
Other creditors 11,970  1,548  –  – 
Provisions  31  –  500  –  – 
Pension deficit  35  17,376  18,269  451  907 
Deferred tax liabilities  17  60,930  30,108  27  1,191 
total non-current liabilities  262,616  135,759  172,818  87,432 

Current liabilities 
Investment contract liabilities  20  1,131,060  1,298,402  –  – 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  28  46,529  48,320  80,831  84,734 
Trade and other payables  29  169,269  156,123  43,489  69,116 
Provisions  31 2,000  – –  – 
Deferred income  32  1,588  2,276 –  – 
Current tax payable  14,664  14,564 1,010  – 
total current liabilities  1,365,110  1,519,685  125,330  153,850 
total liabilities  1,627,726  1,655,444  298,148  241,282 
total equity and liabilities  2,371,029  2,275,358  1,217,435  1,045,177 

 The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8 December 2008, and signed on its behalf by: 

C L A Irby
Chairman 

W J Rattray
Finance Director
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statements of Cash Flows
For the year to 30 september 2008

Group Company

Notes
2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Core cashflow from operating activities  82,174  33,423 59,333  (10,379)

Effects of short-term timing differences on unit trust settlements (3,314)  3,728  –  – 

78,860  37,151 59,333  (10,379)

Exceptional settlement costs (paid) received  –  (46,776)  –  7,500 

Other non-recurring costs paid (14,358)  (20,301) (255)  (1,722)

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities  6 64,502 (29,926) 59,078  (4,601)

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of investments 19,877  33,539 5,761  15,040 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 17,161  22  –  – 

Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed of  –  1,500  –  1,500 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (195,741)  (50,009) (8,860)  (115,233)

Investment in existing subsidiary undertakings – – (181,094) –

Acquisition of intangible assets (2,433)  (15,356) (1,775)  (15,322)

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (2,959)  (6,367) (2,164)  (3,047)

Acquisition of investments (37,031)  (28,106) (21,446)  (12,197)

Net cash used in investing activities (201,126) (64,777)  (209,578)  (129,259)

Cash flows from financing activities   

Issue of ordinary share capital 95,206  1,571 95,206  1,571 

Issue of perpetual securities   –  196,465  –  196,465 

Purchase of own shares  –  (29,473)  –  (29,473)

New borrowings 98,582  22,947  98,582  22,947 

Repayment of borrowings  (373)  (25,683)  –  (25,041)

Dividends paid and coupon payments (54,959)  (39,409) (54,959)  (39,409)

Net cash from financing activities 138,456  126,418 138,829  127,060 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,832  31,715 (11,671)  (6,800)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 October 80,680  48,120 (31,262)  (24,462)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (351)  845 8,716  – 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 september 82,161  80,680 (34,217)  (31,262)
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Notes to the Accounts
For the year to 30 september 2008

1 Segment reporting

 The Group’s primary business segments, based on the Group’s management and reporting structure, are the investment 
management and property asset management divisions.  The results, analysed by these two business segments, are shown below.

year to 30 september 2008

Investment 
management 

£'000

Property asset 
management 

£'000

Group  
total  

£'000

Turnover  315,291  117,300  432,591 

Net fair value loss on assets at fair value through income (2,505)  –   (2,505)

Revenue  312,786  117,300  430,086 

Operating costs (229,704) (101,090) (330,794)

Exceptional costs (note 5) (11,094) (13,908) (25,002)

Amortisation of intangible assets (11,940) (1,845) (13,785)

Operating expenses (252,738) (116,843) (369,581)

Exceptional gain on sale of property – 4,129 4,129

Gains on disposal of other investments  724  –    724 

Other operating income 724 4,129 4,853

Operating profit (before exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles)  83,806 16,210  100,016 

Operating profit (after exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles)  60,772 4,586 65,358

Profit before tax 56,587 3,870 60,457

Total assets  2,151,222    219,807  2,371,029   

Total liabilities  1,541,440    86,286    1,627,726   

Depreciation  2,901  914  3,815 

Total significant non-cash expenses 14,716  –   14,716

Capital expenditure 2,518 441 2,959

Acquisitions and additions of intangible assets and goodwill  22,116   192,683 214,799

Exceptional impairment provision on property seed capital – 8,644 8,644
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1 segment reporting continued

Year to 30 September 2007

Investment 
management 

£'000

Property asset 
management 

£'000

Group  
total  

£'000

Turnover  277,958  69,016  346,974 
Net fair value gain on assets at fair value through income  869  –    869 

Revenue  278,827  69,016  347,843 

Operating costs (196,679) (54,620) (251,299)
Integration costs (20,301)  –   (20,301)
Amortisation of intangible assets (9,285) (119) (9,404)
Exceptional charge (46,776)  –   (46,776)

Operating expenses (273,041) (54,739) (327,780)

Exceptional gains on investments  8,667  –    8,667 
Gains on investments and other income  3,440  –    3,440 

Other operating income  12,107  –    12,107 

Operating profit (before exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles)  85,588  14,396  99,984 

Operating profit (after exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles)  17,893  14,277  32,170 

Profit before tax  9,267  14,406  23,673 

Total assets  2,227,514  47,844  2,275,358 

Total liabilities (1,624,654) (30,790) (1,655,444)

Depreciation  1,995  530  2,525 

Total significant non-cash expenses 7498  –    7,498 

Capital expenditure  5,802  565  6,367 

Acquisitions and additions of intangible assets and goodwill  79,573 107  79,680 
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1 segment reporting continued

The results of the Group presented on a geographical basis are shown below.  

year to 30 september 2008
uK/Europe 

£'000
Asia 

£'000
Americas 

£'000
Eliminations 

£'000
total  
£'000

Revenue  278,126   102,198 49,762  –   430,086

Operating profit (loss) 12,567 59,482 (6,691)  –   65,358

Profit (loss) before tax 5,334 64,732 (9,609)  –   60,457

Total assets 3,415,043 234,582 62,559 (1,341,155) 2,371,029

Total liabilities 1,761,221 25,320 21,232 (180,047) 1,627,726

Depreciation 2,522 686 607  –   3,815

Amortisation of intangible assets 11,995 205 1,585  –   13,785

Total significant non-cash expenses 7,856 1,632 5,228  –   14,716

Capital expenditure 1,090 691 1,178  –   2,959

Acquisitions of intangible assets and goodwill 194,962 155 19,682  –   214,799

Exceptional impairment provision on  
property seed capital 8,644 – – – 8,644

Year to 30 September 2007
uK/Europe 

£'000
Asia 

£'000
Americas 

£'000
Eliminations 

£'000
Total  

£'000

Revenue  212,863  100,540  34,440  –    347,843 

Operating profit (loss) (39,551)  76,405 (4,684)  –    32,170 

Profit (loss) before tax (50,873)  80,943 (6,397)  –    23,673 

Total assets  3,085,645  287,201  44,809 (1,142,297)  2,275,358 

Total liabilities  1,616,686  89,054  43,318 (93,614)  1,655,444 

Depreciation  1,736  492  297  –    2,525 

Amortisation of intangible assets  3,623  98  5,683  –    9,404 

Total significant non-cash expenses 3,841   791 2,866  –   7,498

Capital expenditure  3,616  1,392  1,359  –    6,367 

Acquisitions of intangible assets and goodwill  29,568  50,112  –    –    79,680 

Turnover and operating profit before interest and tax by origin are not materially different to the information given above.

 Eliminations
The total assets included in the uK geographical segment include the investments held by the parent company in, and 
intercompany balances with, its overseas subsidiaries.  The adjustments above represent the elimination of these investments and 
intercompany balances which are required to be made on consolidation to reconcile to the consolidated assets of the Group.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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2 Operating expenses

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Operating profit is stated after charging (crediting): 
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company's accounts  68    93 
Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for other services

– audit of the company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 833   550 
– other services pursuant to legislation (see below) 98    247 

999    890 
– tax services 119    89 
– all other services (see below)  255  370 

1,373   1,349 
Fees paid in respect of the Group’s pension schemes

– audit 28    22 
1,401    1,371 

Operating lease payments  10,968  7,553 
Depreciation  3,815  2,525 
Amortisation of intangible assets  13,785  9,404 
Directors’ emoluments  3,953    4,845 
Exchange (gain) loss (2,752)  1,118 
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment  1  183 

 Fees paid to the Company's auditors
In 2008, other services pursuant to legislation includes £36,000 for services provided to the groups property subsidiaries and 
£39,000 for the interim review.

The total for all other services in 2008 includes £218,000 (2007: £168,000) for work carried out in connection with unit trust 
fund mergers and fund audits, £24,000 (2007: £178,000) for services provided to the property division and Asian subsidiaries, 
£8,000 for employee tax advice and £5,000 for regulatory advice.

Fees paid to the Company's auditors, KPMG Audit Plc, and its associates for services other than the statutory audit of the 
Company are not disclosed since the consolidated accounts disclose non-audit fees on a consolidated basis.

Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 38 to 47.  

3 Net fair value (losses) gains on assets at fair value through income 

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Fair value (losses) gains on investments (2,505)  869 

The above fair value adjustment represents gains and losses, both realised and unrealised, on financial assets held for trading 
which have been recognised in revenue.
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4 Other operating income 

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Other operating income comprises the following items:
Gain on disposal of property 4,129 –
Gains on disposal of significant investments  –   7,892
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries and contracts  –   775

Exceptional gains  4,129   8,667

Gain on disposal of other investments  724 3,440

Other operating income  4,853  12,107 

 2008
The gain on disposal of property relates to the sale of a building acquired as part of the DEGI transaction.  The premium over the 
fair value on acquisition was achieved as a result of subsequent changes in the tenancy arrangements of the property and in the 
identification of a strategic purchaser.  The board considers this gain to be outwith the course of the Group’s normal business and 
sufficiently material that it should be disclosed separately to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements and has 
therefore chosen to disclose this item as an exceptional gain.

The gain on disposal of other investments comprises principally net gains realised on the disposal of private equity investments.

 2007
The gains on significant investments represent the final contingent deferred consideration received in respect of the sale, in 
January 2005, of the Group’s investment in Lombard International Assurance SA.  The gain includes the transfer of £7.0 million 
from the available for sale reserve.

The gain on disposal of subsidiaries and contracts comprises deferred proceeds received in the current year in respect of disposals 
completed in previous years.

The board considers that these two categories of gains are outwith the course of the Group’s normal business and sufficiently 
material that they should be disclosed separately to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements, and has therefore 
chosen to disclose these items as exceptional gains.

Gains on disposal of other investments comprises principally net gains on the disposal of private equity investments.  

5 Exceptional costs

Exceptional costs include rationalisation and redundancy costs related to acquisitions completed during the year, an impairment 
charge in respect of a seed capital investment and non-recurring costs incurred in implementing a cost reduction programme.

The exceptional provision for vAT on investment trusts represents vAT which may be repayable to the Group’s uK investment 
trust clients following conclusion of an action brought against HMRC by a uK investment trust.  The amount of this provision is 
an estimate of the costs which may arise in respect of historic periods in excess of the amount to be recovered from HMRC.

The exceptional impairment provision arose from the decision to discontinue marketing a proposed property fund in order to 
focus attention on completion and integration of the DEGI transaction.  As a result of this decision, the fair value of this fund was 
considered to be impaired because of the accelerated recognition of future costs arising from this portfolio.

Exceptional costs incurred in 2007 relate to the acquisition of certain fund management businesses of Deutsche Asset 
Management in late 2005 and integrating them with the existing businesses of the Group.  These integration costs comprised 
charges in respect of a transitional services agreement with the vendor to ensure that both people and systems were transferred 
in a controlled manner; set up costs in respect of the migration of the back office data and systems to the Group’s third party 
administrator; and costs of retaining duplicate staffing for a transitional period to ensure a smooth migration of data.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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5 Exceptional costs continued

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Transitional service costs from vendor  –    10,295 
Set-up costs in respect of back office data and systems  –    3,396 
Duplicate staff costs, redundancy costs and third party integration costs  
arising from acquisitions completed during the year  4,074    6,610 

Integration costs 4,074    20,301 

Redundancy and other non-recurring costs arising from implementation  
of the cost reduction programme 10,284 –
vAT expense on investment trusts (note 31) 2,000 –
Exceptional impairment provision on property seed capital  8,644 –

Total exceptional costs 25,002 20,301

6 Analysis of cash flows

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Reconciliation of profit after tax to operating cash flow

Profit after tax  46,847  30,643 40,018    68,561 
Depreciation charges  3,815  2,525  1,539  1,110 
Amortisation of intangible assets  13,785  9,404  745  747 
Fair value losses (gains) on investments  2,505 (869) 2,531 (869)
Gain on disposal of investments and other assets  (4,723)  (12,170)  (780)  (7,273)
Share based element of remuneration 14,716    7,498  14,716    7,498 
Net finance costs  4,901  8,497  8,966   10,560 
Income tax expense (credit) 13,610   (6,970)  4,550    6,216 

 95,456  38,558  72,285  86,550 
Increase (decrease) in provisions 1,500   (4,981)  79   (459)
Decrease (increase) in stock 269 (273)  –    –   
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables  (16,764)  (24,711)  12,719   (54,421)
Decrease (increase) in short-term loans to property funds 24,027   (24,027)  –   –
Decrease (increase) in trade and other payables (12,570)   20  (14,180)  (23,537)

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities  91,918 (15,414)  70,903 8,133 
Net interest paid (5,146)  (4,807)  (8,852) (13,011)
Corporation tax paid (22,270)  (9,705) (2,973)  277

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities  64,502 (29,926)  59,078 (4,601)
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7 Employees

2008 2007

Group
Recurring

£'000
Exceptional 

£'000
total
£'000

Recurring
£'000

Exceptional 
£'000

Total 
£'000 

Aggregate employee costs, including directors:
Salaries and bonuses  140,732   3,849    144,581   116,670 3,035  119,705 
Share based element of remuneration (note 25) 14,716    –   14,716   7,498 –  7,498 
Other benefits 3,019    –   3,019   2,464 –  2,464 
Social security costs 11,827   58   11,885   8,044 375  8,419 
Other pension costs 15,913   96   16,009   11,477 213  11,690 

186,207   4,003   190,210   146,153 3,623  149,776 
Redundancy costs 728   2,069   2,797   616 1,886  2,502 

186,935   6,072   193,007   146,769 5,509  152,278 

2008
Number

2007 
Number 

Average number of employees during the year

Investment management  1,127 931
Property asset management 683 449

 1,810  1,380 

Company
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Aggregate employee costs, including directors:
Salaries and bonuses 18,217    19,957 
Share based element of remuneration 6,110    1,336 
Other benefits 537    417 
Social security costs 2,567    1,620 
Other pension costs 3,063    2,458 

30,494    25,788 
Redundancy and exceptional staff costs 326    810 

30,820    26,598 

2008
Number

2007 
Number

Average number of employees during the year

Investment management 340 296

Notes to the Accounts continued
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8 Exceptional settlement costs 

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Recognised within operating profit

Settlement of legal action initiated by Real Estate Opportunities –    54,276 
Less payment made in 2006 to defend proceedings by Real Estate Opportunities –   (7,500)

–    46,776 

On 16 March 2007 the Company announced that it had reached agreement with Real Estate Opportunities Limited ('REO') to 
settle the Company's part in the legal action initiated in 2005 by REO against the Company and another party.  The Company 
made no admission whatsoever of any liability or acceptance of the validity of REO's claim, but the board recognised that it was 
in the interests of the Group and its shareholders to conclude this matter and to end the distraction it was causing to the 
Company.  The net cost to the Group, including the Group’s legal costs and after return of the defence payment of £7,500,000 
made in 2006, was £46,776,000.

9 Net finance costs 

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Interest on 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  4,582  4,518 
Interest on 4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  240  1,671 
Interest on 5.875% Convertible bonds 2007 –    421 
Interest on unsecured guaranteed loan notes  14  40 
Interest on overdrafts, revolving credit facilities other interest bearing accounts  5,649  4,313 

 10,485  10,963 
Amortisation of issue costs on Convertible bonds  113  336 

 10,598  11,299 
Adjustment to bond value on redemption –    2,778 

Total finance costs  10,598  14,077 
Finance revenue - interest income (5,697) (5,580)

Net finance costs  4,901  8,497 

The 2007 comparative figures have been restated to reflect the set off on consolidation of interest received and interest paid in 
respect of accounts of individual subsidiaries which are included within a Group working capital facility.
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10 Tax expense 

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Current tax expense

uK corporation tax on profits for the year 6,462   (451)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (2,412)  (4,536)

4,050 (4,987)

Foreign tax – current 18,035    13,692 
Foreign tax – adjustments in respect of prior periods (1,000)   242 

Total current tax 21,085  8,947 

Deferred tax credit

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (6,966) (15,384)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (509)  (533)

Total income tax expense (credit) in income statement 13,610   (6,970)

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before tax  60,457    23,673 

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate (29%) (2007: 30%) 17,533    7,102 
Effect of lower tax rates applicable in foreign jurisdictions (11,878)  (13,015)

Effect of capital gains deductions and exempt capital losses 582    193 

Effect of non-uK group dividends net of double tax relief 12,618    17,077 

Movement in unprovided deferred tax asset  3,043   (8,793)

Non-taxable income/disallowed expenses  (4,367)  (754)

Gain on significant investment not subject to tax  –   (2,367)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (3,412)  (5,880)

Deferred tax prior year (509)  (533)

 13,610  (6,970)

 Domestic tax rate
The domestic tax rate of 29% is based on the uK tax rate of 30% which applied for the first six months of the year and the 
reduced rate of 28% which applied during the second six months of the year.

 Factors affecting future tax charge
The Group’s overseas profits are subject to overseas tax rates some of which are lower than the standard rate of uK corporation 
tax (28%) (2007: 30%).  The tax benefit of lower tax rates is only one of timing to the extent that these overseas profits are 
subsequently remitted to the uK.  Additionally, the Group will be able to benefit from the offset of tax losses brought forward 
from prior years against its taxable profits for the next 3 years.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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11 Profit for the financial year

The profit dealt with in the accounts of the Company was £40,018,000 (2007: £68,561,000).   

12 Dividends

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Dividends on perpetual preference shares:   

Dividend paid 30 June  5,395  5,395 

Coupon payments in respect of perpetual capital securities (net of tax)

Coupon payments made during the year  11,461  2,742 

Ordinary dividends

Declared and paid during the year

Dividends paid on ordinary shares:   
Final dividend for 2007 – 2.9p (2006: 2.4p )  18,451  14,978 
Interim dividend for 2008 – 2.8p (2007: 2.6p)  19,652  16,294 

 38,103  31,272 

Total dividends and coupon payments paid during the year  54,959  39,409 

Proposed for approval at the Annual General Meeting  
(not recognised as a liability at 30 september)

Dividends on ordinary shares:   
Final dividend for 2008 – 3.0p (2007: 2.9p ) 21,086    18,366 

The total ordinary dividend for the year is 5.8p per share including the proposed final dividend for 2008 of 3.0p per share.  This 
payment will trigger an adjustment to the subscription price applying to the warrants which form part of the 6.75% Convertible 
Preference Share units issued in June 2005.  Assuming approval of the final dividend payment at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting, the subscription price will reduce from 97p per ordinary share to 94p per ordinary share.
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13 Earnings per share

The calculations of earnings per share are based on the following profits and numbers of shares.

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the potentially dilutive shares into ordinary shares.

underlying earnings per share figures are calculated by adjusting the net profit to exclude exceptional items and amortisation of 
intangible assets.

The purpose of providing the underlying earnings per share is to allow readers of the accounts to clearly consider trends without 
the impact of exceptional and non-cash items.

IAs 33 underlying

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Basic earnings per share

Profit attributable to shareholders 46,847 30,643 46,847 30,643 
Dividends on redeemable preference shares (5,395) (5,395) (5,395) (5,395)
Coupon payments in respect of perpetual capital securities (net of tax) (11,631) (3,686) (11,631) (3,686)

Profit for the financial year - IAS 33 basis 29,821 21,562 29,821 21,562 

Amortisation of intangible assets, net of attributable taxation 12,285 9,054 
Exceptional gains on disposal of investments and property,  
net of attributable taxation (2,932) (6,067)
Exceptional integration costs and expenses associated with cost 
reduction programme, net of attributable taxation 22,424 14,211 
Exceptional finance costs, net of attributable taxation – 1,945 
Exceptional settlement costs, net of attributable taxation – 32,743 

Profit for the financial year - underlying basis 61,598 73,448 

Weighted average number of shares (000's) 652,149 597,388 652,149 597,388 

Basic earnings per share 4.57p 3.61p 9.45p 12.29p 

Diluted earnings per share

Profit for calculation of basic earnings per share, as above 29,821 21,562 61,598 73,448 
Add: interest on 2010 convertible bonds, net of attributable taxation N/A N/A 170 1,170 
Add: dividend on convertible preference share units N/A N/A 5,395 5,395 

Profit for calculation of diluted earnings per share 29,821 21,562 67,163 80,013 

Weighted average number of shares (000's)

For basic earnings per share 652,149 597,388 652,149 597,388 
Dilutive effect of 2010 convertible bonds N/A N/A 2,793 24,737 
Dilutive effect of convertible preference share units N/A N/A 82,395 81,554 
Dilutive effect of LTIP awards  5,745  14,629  5,745  14,629 
Dilutive effect of exercisable share options  2,202 3,291  2,202 3,291 

660,096 615,308 745,284 721,599 

Diluted earnings per share 4.52p 3.50p 9.01p 11.09p 

The effects of the 2010 convertible bonds and the convertible preference share units were anti-dilutive on an IAS 33 basis in  
both years.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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14 Intangible assets

Group
Goodwill

£'000

Management 
contracts 

£'000
software

£'000
total 
£'000 

Cost

At 1 October 2006  400,262  160,536  9,699  570,497 
Additions  –    21,004  341  21,345 
Arising on acquisition  34,096  24,239  –    58,335 
Exchange movement (389) (3,765)  –   (4,154)

At 30 September 2007  433,969  202,014  10,040  646,023 
Additions  49  –    2,384  2,433 
Arising on acquisition  101,201  111,165  –    212,366 
Exchange movement  1,386  6,377 (3)  7,760 

At 30 september 2008  536,605  319,556  12,421  868,582 

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 October 2006  –    8,958  7,974  16,932 
Amortisation for year  –    8,742  662  9,404 

At 30 September 2007  –    17,700  8,636  26,336 
Amortisation for year  –    12,966  819  13,785 

At 30 september 2008  –    30,666  9,455  40,121 

Net book value 

At 30 september 2008  536,605  288,890  2,966  828,461 

At 30 September 2007  433,969  184,314  1,404  619,687 

Company
Goodwill

£'000

Management 
contracts 

£'000
software

£'000
total 
£'000 

Cost

At 1 October 2006  5,999  1,102  8,802  15,903 
Additions  –    21,004  307  21,311 

At 30 September 2007  5,999  22,106  9,109  37,214 
Additions  –   –  1,775  1,775 

At 30 september 2008  5,999  22,106  10,884  38,989 

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 October 2006  3,665  –    7,150  10,815 
Amortisation for year  –    120  627  747 

At 30 September 2007  3,665  120  7,777  11,562 
Amortisation for year  –    160  585  745 

At 30 september 2008  3,665  280  8,362  12,307 

Net book value 

At 30 september 2008  2,334  21,826  2,522  26,682 

At 30 September 2007  2,334  21,986  1,332  25,652 
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14 Intangible assets continued

The Group has determined that it has two business segments or cash generating units ('CGus') for the purpose of assessing the 
carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets: (i) the investment management division and (ii) the property asset management 
division.  Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the most appropriate CGu.  The carrying value of goodwill 
and intangible assets attributable to each segment is as follows:

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Investment management  623,295  606,040 26,682 25,652
Property asset management 205,166  13,647 –   –   

 828,461  619,687  26,682  25,652 

 The recoverable amount of each CGu is determined by value-in-use calculations which use cash flow projections based on the 
Group’s latest approved budgets which cover the 2008/09 financial year.  These budgets were prepared taking into account the 
market conditions prevailing at the time.  The long term cash flow projections extrapolate the 2008/09 budget figures over ten 
years with assumptions made on revenue, market growth and increases in overheads to cover inflation and increased levels of 
business.  Revenue is assumed to increase at a rate based on the Group’s recent experience of new business inflows.  Equity assets 
under management ('AuM') are assumed to increase by 6% (2007: 6%) per annum and fixed income AuM by 3% (2007: 3%) per 
annum to reflect general market performance and or reinvestment of income by clients.  Increases in operating costs have been 
factored in at existing rates to cover assumed new business volumes and an allowance of 3% (2007: 3%) per annum has been 
made for general inflation of costs.  To arrive at a net present value the cash flows are discounted using the weighted average cost 
of capital for each CGu which has been calculated at 10.5% (2007: 10.5%) for investment management and 14% (2007: 12.3%) 
for property asset management at 30 September 2008.

The value-in-use is estimated by calculating a terminal value and adding this to the net present value of the cash flows.  This 
overall value is then compared to the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets in order to assess whether any impairment 
exists.  The board considers the terminal value fairly reflects the long term nature of the business and there is no reason to believe 
that the business will not continue in the long term.

The impairment review included a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions underpinning the cash flow projections and the rate 
at which the projections were discounted to arrive at the final value-in-use.  The sensitivity analysis included testing assumptions 
relating to future revenue growth and the assumptions surrounding the level of operating margins.  The review also covered 
management contracts in respect of open end funds which are considered to have indefinite lives and are therefore not subject to 
amortisation.  These assets are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if there is an indication that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.

The impairment review of goodwill and intangible assets revealed a surplus in value-in-use over book value for both CGus and 
therefore no impairment charge is required.

Management contracts within investment management at 30 September 2008 includes £121.6 million of assets which are 
considered to have an indefinite life.  These assets comprise contracts for the management of unit trusts and open ended 
investment companies ('OEICs') and are contracts with no limit of time or termination provisions.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Group

Heritable 
property 

£'000

short 
leasehold 
property 

£'000

Computers 
fixtures and 

fittings 
£'000

Motor 
vehicles 

£'000
total  
£'000

Cost 

At 1 October 2006  2,446  7,023  19,346  160  28,975 
Additions  –    3,315  3,052  –    6,367 
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries  –    705  46  –    751 
Disposals  –   (23) (710) (33) (766)
Exchange movement  –   (79)  60 (3) (22)

At 30 September 2007  2,446  10,941  21,794  124  35,305 
Additions – 2,021 714 224 2,959
Transfer to trade and other receivables – (706) – – (706)
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 13,221 – 2,391 – 15,612
Disposals (13,221) (115) (3,477) (84) (16,897)
Exchange movement – 551 705 23 1,279

At 30 september 2008  2,446  12,692  22,127  287  37,552 

Depreciation 

At 1 October 2006  393  4,038  15,118  75  19,624 
Charge for year  49  691  1,749  36  2,525 
On disposals  –   (22) (515) (24) (561)
Exchange movement  –    19 (133) (2) (116)

At 30 September 2007  442  4,726  16,219  85  21,472 
Charge for year  282 1,232 2,250 51 3,815
Transfer to trade and other receivables – (32) – – (32)
On disposals (233)  (68) (3,350) (84) (3,735)
Exchange movement  –   167 182 22 371

At 30 september 2008  491  6,025 15,301 74 21,891

Net book value 

At 30 september 2008  1,955  6,667 6,826 213 15,661

At 30 September 2007  2,004  6,215  5,575  39  13,833 
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15 Property, plant and equipment continued

Company

Heritable 
property 

£'000

short 
leasehold 
property 

£'000

Computers 
fixtures and 

fittings 
£'000

Motor 
vehicles 

£'000
total  
£'000

Cost

At 1 October 2006  2,446  4,616  14,248  37  21,347 
Additions  –    1,467  1,580  –    3,047 

At 30 September 2007  2,446  6,083  15,828  37  24,394 
Additions  –    886  1,278  –    2,164 

At 30 september 2008  2,446  6,969  17,106  37  26,558 

Depreciation 

At 1 October 2006  392  2,586  12,238  27  15,243 
Charge for year    49  283  773  5  1,110 

At 30 September 2007  441  2,869  13,011  32  16,353 
Charge for year    49  565  920  5  1,539 

At 30 september 2008  490  3,434  13,931  37  17,892 

Net book value 

At 30 september 2008  1,956  3,535  3,175  –    8,666 

At 30 September 2007  2,005  3,214  2,817  5  8,041 

16 Non-current asset investments

Group   £'000

shares

At 1 October 2006  13,818 
Additions  24,998 
Arising on acquisition 15
Fair value adjustment  4,576 
Disposals (8,540)
Exchange movement  31 

At 30 September 2007  34,898 
Additions  13,275 
Reclassified from current asset investments  7,599 
Fair value adjustment (3,715)
Disposals (2,291)
Exchange movement  569 

At 30 september 2008  50,335 

Net book value 

At 30 september 2008

Available for sale  50,335 

At 30 September 2007
Available for sale  34,898 

Notes to the Accounts continued
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16 Non-current asset investments continued

On 1 July 2008 the Group reclassified £7.6 million of investments in equity securities previously classified as current assets held 
for trading to non-current assets available for sale.  This is in line with the changes to International Accounting Standards (IAS 39) 
which permits such changes in rare circumstances.  The Group regards the turmoil in global financial markets during 2008 as a 
once in a generation event which meets the definition of rare circumstance.  The fair value of these assets at 30 September 2008 
is £6.4 million and the reduction in fair value since reclassification of £1.2 million has been taken to fair value reserve.  The 
movement in fair value in the current year prior to reclassification was a reduction in value of £2.0 million which has been 
recognised in the income statement.  The movement in fair value recognised through the income statement in the year ended  
30 September 2007 for the reclassified assets was an increase in value of £0.6 million.  

Additions to unlisted investments comprise of £9.6 million of seed capital investments made by the Group’s property division and  
£3.6 million of investments made pursuant to a commitment to a private equity fund operated by the Group until 30 June 2008.  
Additions to other unlisted investments in 2007 comprise principally £15.7 million of seed capital investments made by the 
Group’s property division.

Company

subsidiary 
undertakings 

(unlisted) 
£'000

Other 
investments 

(unlisted) 
£'000

total  
£'000

shares

At 1 October 2006  717,147  11,797  728,944 
Additions:  increase in existing subsidiary undertakings  111,210  –    111,210 
 investment in subsidiaries  9,462  –    9,462 
 other investments  –    6,242  6,242 
Fair value adjustment  –    3,678  3,678 
Disposals  –   (4,091) (4,091)

At 30 September 2007  837,819  17,626  855,445 
Additions:  increase in existing subsidiary undertakings  181,094  –    181,094 
 investment in subsidiaries  98  –    98 
 other investments  –    3,645  3,645 
 reclassified from current asset investments  –    7,599  7,599 
Fair value adjustment  –   (956) (956)
Disposals (2,684) (3,230) (5,914)

At 30 september 2008  1,016,327  24,684  1,041,011 

Net book value 

At 30 september 2008

At cost less provisions for impairment  1,016,327  –    1,016,327 

Available for sale  –    24,684  24,684 

At 30 September 2007
At cost less provisions for impairment  837,819  –    837,819 
Available for sale  –    17,626  17,626 

 Acquisitions 2008
On 1 October 2007 the Group completed the acquisition of the uS equity asset management businesses of Nationwide Financial 
Services Inc.  The acquisition includes a broad cross-section of uS equity strategies in sub-advisory mandates for 30 mutual funds 
and variable insurance trusts amounting to £3.4 billion in assets under management.  The acquisition was completed for a cash 
consideration of uS$32 million (£16 million) of which uS$6 million (£2.9 million) was paid on completion and uS$26 million 
(£13.1 million) was paid on 20 June 2008.

On 27 March 2008 the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Aberdeen Property Investors Holding AB, completed the acquisition of 
100% of the ordinary share capital of DEGI Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Immobilienfonds mbH ('DEGI') from Dresdner Bank AG.  
The economic benefit of the acquisition was effective from 1 January 2008 as the Group were governing the operating and 
financial policies of DEGI from that date.  The Group has therefore taken 1 January 2008 as the acquisition date.  DEGI has 
approximately e6.4 billion (£5.8 billion) of assets under management in a number of property funds offering German, European 
or global commercial property exposure.  The acquisition was completed for a cash consideration of e110 million (£87.4 million).
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16 Non-current asset investments continued

On 30 May 2008 the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Aberdeen Property Investors Holding AB, completed the acquisition of 
Goodman Property Investors Limited (‘GPI’) from Goodman Group.  The initial consideration for the acquisition was £88.8 million 
plus an amount of £5.2 million which was linked to the value of GPI's net assets at completion.  The payment for net assets was 
subsequently amended to £8.9 million.  In addition, further deferred consideration of up to £12.5 million consideration is payable 
dependent on the value of GPI’s assets under management flows over a 24 month period from completion and £3.1 million has 
been included in the cost of acquisition as an estimate of the deferred consideration payable.

Independent valuation specialists were engaged to carry out purchase price allocation exercises in respect of the three 
acquisitions noted above in order to allocate the purchase price between tangible assets, goodwill and intangible assets.  The fair 
value adjustments from this allocation process are reflected in the table below.  The fair value adjustments in respect of DEGI 
reflect an adjustment to the value of heritable property acquired as part of this transaction.

The assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition and the fair value adjustments were as follows:

Businesses acquired from 
Nationwide Financial services Acquisition of DEGI Acquisition of GPI

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

Intangible assets – 12,000 12,000 66 61,599 61,665 – 37,500 37,500

Property, plant 
& equipment 965 – 965 8,969 5,678 14,647 113 (113) –

Trade and other 
receivables – – – 15,704 – 15,704 9,844 (1,161) 8,683

Current asset 
investments – – – 12,448 – 12,448 270 – 270

Cash and cash 
equivalents – – – 12,858 – 12,858 2,467 – 2,467

Trade and other 
payables – – – (24,410) – (24,410) (7,481) – (7,481)

Pension deficit – – – (7,480) (1,581) (9,061) – – –

Deferred tax on 
intangible assets – (3,224) (3,224) – (20,706) (20,706) – (10,144) (10,144)

Net assets of 
acquired 
business 965 8,776 9,741 18,155 44,990 63,145 5,213 26,082 31,295

Goodwill 7,682 25,895 67,624

17,423 89,040 98,919

Discharged by:
Cash 
consideration 15,976 87,398 94,061

Expenses of 
acquisition 1,447 1,642 1,780

Deferred 
consideration – – 3,078

17,423 89,040 98,919

The businesses acquired during the year are being integrated with the Group’s existing business therefore the results and 
cashflows can no longer be separately identified.

 Acquisitions 2007
On 1 June 2007 the Group completed the acquisition of certain Australian fund management businesses from Deutsche Australia 
Limited for a cash consideration of Au$112 million (£47.4 million).  The assets acquired consisted of Au$8.5 billion of segregated 
client mandates and Au$3.0 billion (£1.3 billion) of unit trust assets.

An independent firm of valuation specialists was engaged to carry out a purchase price allocation exercise of the goodwill and 
intangible assets acquired.  The value of goodwill in the acquisition takes account of the value of the assembled workforce in 
place and the value of the new business flows.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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16 Non-current asset investments continued

On 24 August 2007 the Company completed the acquisition of Sutherland Holdings Limited and Glasgow Investment Managers 
Limited for a cash consideration of £6.25 million plus the value of net assets of £2.8 million.  The assets acquired consisted of 
three investment trusts and a number of institutional client mandates.

The assets and liabilities at the date of the acquisition and the fair value adjustments were as follows:

Businesses acquired from 
Deutsche Bank Australia

sutherland Holdings/ 
Glasgow Investment Managers

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

Intangible assets – 19,447 19,447 – 4,792 4,792
Property, plant & equipment 731 – 731 20 – 20
Trade and other receivables 702 – 702 1,045 – 1,045
Investments 885 – 885 15 – 15
Cash and cash equivalents 1,843 – 1,843 2,538 – 2,538
Trade and other payables (1,557) – (1,557) (1,017) – (1,017)
Deferred tax 238 (5,445) (5,207) 172 (1,342) (1,170)

Net assets of acquired business 2,842 14,002 16,844 2,773 3,450 6,223
Goodwill 30,665 3,431

47,509 9,654

Discharged by:
Cash consideration 46,572 6,250
Expenses of acquisition 937 631
Deferred consideration – 2,773

47,509 9,654

 
The principal companies in which the Group interest was more than 10% at 30 September 2008 were as follows: 

subsidiary undertakings Principal activity % owned
Country of 
registration

Country of 
operation

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited Fund management 100 Singapore Singapore 
Aberdeen Asset Management Company Limited Fund management 100 Thailand Thailand
Aberdeen Asset Management Funds Limited unit trust management 100 England uK 
Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions Limited unit linked pensions 100 England uK 
Aberdeen Asset Management Limited 1 Fund management 100 Australia Australia
Aberdeen Asset Management Sdn Bhd Fund management 100 Malaysia Malaysia
Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited Fund management 100 Scotland uK 
Aberdeen Asset Management, Inc Fund management 100 uSA uSA 
Aberdeen Fund Management Limited Fund management 100 England uK 
Aberdeen Fund Management Ireland Limited Fund management 100 Ireland Ireland 
Aberdeen Global Services SA Fund management 100 Luxembourg Luxembourg
Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited Fund distribution 100 Hong Kong Hong Kong
Aberdeen Murray Johnstone Limited 2 Fund management 100 Scotland uK 
Aberdeen Private Wealth Management Limited Fund management 100 Jersey Jersey
Aberdeen Property Investors Holding AB 3 Property asset management 100 Sweden Sweden
Aberdeen Asset Management Japan Limited Fund Management 100 Japan Japan
Aberdeen unit Trust Managers Limited unit trust management 100 England uK 
Edinburgh Fund Managers Group Limited Holding company 100 Scotland uK 
Glasgow Investment Managers Limited Fund management 100 Scotland uK 

1  Held by Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited 
2  Includes the Murray Johnstone Group of companies 
3  Includes the Aberdeen Property Group of companies
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16 Non-current asset investments continued

All of the above investments consist of holdings of ordinary share capital.  The Company also owns 100% of the deferred shares 
issued by Aberdeen unit Trust Managers Limited and holds investments in other subsidiary undertakings, the results of which are 
not significant in the Group context. 

17 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Balance at
1 Oct  
2006 
£'000

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£'000

Recognised
in equity 

£'000

Arising in
business

combination 
£'000

Balance at
30 Sept 

2007 
£'000

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£'000

Recognised
in equity 

£'000

Arising in
business

combination 
£'000

Balance at
30 sept 

2008 
£'000

Intangible assets (22,916)  863  –   (6,787) (28,840)  1,984    –   (34,074)  (60,930)

Available-for-sale
financial assets (110)  –   (637)  –   (747) –   1,010   –   263

Loans and borrowings (1,354)  966  –    –   (388) 361    –    –   (27)

Employee benefit 
plans  9,599  –   (4,498)  –    5,101 –    (2,279)  –    2,822 

Share-based 
payments  1,389 (748)  –    –    641  1,297    –    –    1,938 

Other items  34 (577)  –    410 (133) 1,873    –    –   1,740

Tax loss  
carry-forward  –    15,413  –    –    15,413 1,960    –    –    17,373 

(13,358)  15,917 (5,135) (6,377) (8,953) 7,475    (1,269)  (34,074)  (36,821)

The Group has tax losses which arose in the uK of £68.3m (2007: £51.9m) and overseas of £9.6m.  Deferred tax assets of £17.4m 
(2007: £15.4m) have been recognised in respect of these losses as they will be used to offset taxable profits in future years.

 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net

Group
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Intangible assets  –    –   (60,930)  (28,840) (60,930)  (28,840)
Employee benefits 4,464    5,742  –    –   4,464    5,742 
Tax loss carry-forward 17,373    15,413  –    –   17,373    15,413 
Financial instruments 236    –    –   (1,135) 236   (1,135)
Other items 2,036    –    –   (133) 2,036   (133)

Net tax assets (liabilities)  24,109    21,155 (60,930)  (30,108) (36,821)  (8,953)

Assets Liabilities Net

Company
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Employee benefits  125  254  –    –    125  254 
Other items  324  25  –    –    324  25 
Financial instruments  –    –   (27) (1,191) (27) (1,191)

Net tax assets (liabilities)  449  279 (27) (1,191) 422 (912)

unrecognised deferred tax on the Company's investment in subsidiaries at 30 September 2008 was £284 million. 
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18 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Current assets

unit trust trustees for units liquidated  20,140  11,166  –    –   
Debtors for unit sales  23,133  13,002  –    –   

  43,273  24,168  –    –   
Other trade debtors 32,368    26,076 459  332 
Amounts due by subsidiary undertakings  –    –   113,957    130,500 
Other debtors 17,774    49,550 2,804    7,688 
Accrued income 69,557 60,590 24 502
Prepayments 28,586  17,789 11,223 3,442

191,558  178,173 128,467  142,464 

Non-current assets

Other debtors  8,898   4,485  –    –   

19 Stock of units and shares

Group

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

units and shares in managed funds  268  537 

Stocks of units and shares are held in relation to fund management activities and are classified as held for trading current assets.

20 Investment contract liabilities

The following assets are held by the Group’s life assurance subsidiary to meet its contracted liabilities.

Group

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

Listed investments  798,304  972,740 
unit trusts  252,723  267,372 
Cash and deposits  80,537  57,634 
Other (liabilities) assets (504) 656 

 1,131,060  1,298,402 
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21 Other investments

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Listed equities - held for trading  846  8,978  –    7,771 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  14,595  14,530  –    –   

 15,441  23,508  –    7,771 

On 1 July 2008 the Group reclassified £7.6 million of investments previously classified as current assets held for trading to  
non-current assets available for sale.  This is in line with the changes to International Accounting Standards (IAS 39) which 
permits such changes in rare circumstances.  The Group regards the turmoil in global financial markets during the third quarter of 
2008 as a once in a generation event which meets the definition of rare circumstance which meant that there was no longer an 
active market for these investments.  The fair value of these assets at 30 September 2008 is £6.4 million and the movement in 
fair value since reclassification of £1.2 million has been taken to fair value reserve.  The movement in fair value in the current year 
prior to reclassification was a reduction in value of £2.0 million which has been recognised in the income statement.  The 
movement in fair value recognised in the income statement in the year ended 30 September 2007 for the reclassified assets was 
an increase in value of £0.6 million.  

22 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Cash at bank and in hand  82,161  80,680 85  5,525 
Bank overdrafts  –    –   (34,302) (36,787)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  82,161  80,680 (34,217) (31,262)

The cash and cash equivalents are all subject to floating rates of interest.  Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on 
daily bank deposit rates.  The book value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value.  The Group’s exposure to 
credit risk is represented by the carrying value of the assets.  

At 30 September 2008, the Group had £3.5 million (2007: £52.0 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities under its 
revolving credit arrangements (note 28).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Sterling 10,270    12,892 (59,741)  (33,312)
uS dollar 5,881    33,812 567    1,668 
Euro 41,044    1,712 24,950    381 
Nordic currencies 8,102    15,771  –    –   
Other currencies 16,864    16,493 7    1 

 82,161    80,680  (34,217)  (31,262)
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23 Assets held for sale

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

Seed capital investments  17,596  –    12,075  –   

The Group has injected seed capital into two new funds launched during the year with the expectation that these will be 
disposed of as soon as practicable.  The Group holds more than 50 per cent of the beneficial and voting rights attached to the 
holdings and technically controls the funds.  As the Group is committed to dispose of its entire investment in these funds they 
have not been consolidated and are classified as held for sale. 

24 Share capital

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000 

Authorised:

1,000,000,000 (2007: 1,000,000,000) Ordinary shares of 10p  100,000  100,000 
Nil (2007: 39,000,000) 5.25% Redeemable preference shares of £1  –    39,000 
80,000 (2007: 80,000) 6.75% Non-cumulative, non-voting perpetual preference shares of £100  8,000  8,000 

 108,000  147,000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

716,984,837 (2007: 628,948,167) Ordinary shares of 10p  71,698  62,895 
79,926 (2007: 79,926) 6.75% Non-cumulative, non-voting perpetual preference shares of £100  7,993  7,993 

 79,691  70,888 

At the Company's Annual General Meeting held on 17 January 2008 a resolution was passed cancelling the authorised 5.25% 
Redeemable preference shares.  This class of shares was fully redeemed in October 2003.

On 13 November 2007 and 12 December 2007 a total of 21,943,670 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued in respect of the 
conversion of £23,570,000 of the 4.5% Convertible bonds 2010.

On 9 May 2008 a total of 65,100,000 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued at 150p each by way of a placing.  The proceeds of 
the placing were used to fund the acquisition of Goodman Property Investors by the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Aberdeen 
Property Investors Holding AB.

During the year a total of 993,000 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued at an average price of 56.9p pursuant to the exercise 
of options granted to employees under the 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme.

80,000 convertible preference share units of £1,000 each were issued on 30 June 2005.  Each convertible preference share unit of 
£1,000 comprised one preference share and one warrant to subscribe to ordinary shares, of which £800 relates to the preference 
share and £200 to the warrant.  

Each preference share is entitled to a non-cumulative dividend accruing at a rate of £67.50 per share per annum payable annually 
in arrears on 30 June in each year (payments subject to the directors' discretion).

The convertible preference shares are perpetual securities and have no maturity date but are redeemable in whole, but not in part, 
only at the option of the Company on 30 June 2012 or any dividend payment date thereafter at a price equal to the aggregate of 
£1,000 and any dividends accrued for the then current dividend period.
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25 Share-based payments

The Group has in place the following share-based payment arrangements: 

 1994 Executive share Option scheme
This scheme was established in 1994 and is approved by the Inland Revenue and was approved by the shareholders prior to its 
introduction.  In accordance with its rules, options can only be issued within a 10 year period and no further options can be issued 
under this scheme.

 The following share options granted under the Scheme were in place at 30 September 2008:

Number of shares

Date option granted Option price per share Period of exercise  total  Directors

20 January 1999 71p  20 January 2004 - 20 January 2009 400,000 –   
8 December 1999 166p  8 December 2004 - 8 December 2009 103,000 –
8 December 1999 185p  8 December 2004 - 8 December 2009 1,584,000 540,000 
11 June 2003 42p 11 June 2006 - 11 June 2013 1,061,100 89,000 
23 January 2004 57p 23 January 2007 - 23 January 2014 118,600 –   
23 January 2004 59p 23 January 2007 - 23 January 2014 1,927,400 646,000 

Options may only be exercised if the remuneration committee is satisfied that the Group’s earnings per share have increased over 
a period of three years by 5% per annum in excess of the average growth in the stock markets in which the Group’s assets under 
management are invested.

Full details of options held by directors who served during the financial year are given in the Remuneration Report on pages  
38 to 47.  

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options is as follows:

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
2008

Number  
of options  

2008 

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
2007

Number  
of options  

2007 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  6,287,100  9,111,600 
Exercised during the year 56.9p (993,000) 55.6p (2,824,500)
Lapsed during the year (100,000) –   

Outstanding at the end of the year  5,194,100  6,287,100 

Exercisable at the end of the year  5,194,100  6,287,100 

The options outstanding at 30 September 2008 have exercise prices in the range 42p to 185p and a weighted average contractual 
life of 3.5 years (2007: 4.5 years).

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options 
granted.  The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a trinomial lattice model using a Monte 
Carlo simulation model for assessing the likelihood of performance conditions being satisfied.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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25 share-based payments continued

The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain the fair value of options are as follows:

Date option granted
11 June  

2003
23 January  

2004
23 January  

2004

Number of options granted  3,543,000  436,700  4,097,800 
Share price at grant date 42p 57p 59p 
Exercise price 42p 57p 59p 
vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 96.9% 78.9% 78.9%
Risk free rate at grant date  
(based on 3 month sterling LIBOR)

3.65% 4.07% 4.07%

Expected dividend yield 6.10% 4.50% 4.40%
Average expected term to exercise 7.5 years 7.6 years 7.6 years
Fair value of options £381,000 £120,000 £1,190,000

 2005 Long term Incentive Plan
The fair value of services received in return for LTIP shares awarded are measured by reference to the fair value of LTIP shares 
awarded.  The estimate of the fair value of the services received has been measured based on a trinomial lattice model using 
assumptions for employee exit/forfeiture rates, zero dividend yields (because dividends accrue to the employee as from the date 
of the award) share price and composite volatility and performance conditions.

The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain the fair value of LTIP shares and options 
are as follows:

Date option granted
16 December  

2005
1 December  

2006
 14 December 

2007
 17 June  

2008

Number of LTIP shares awarded  4,146,100  1,108,305  696,416  –   
Number of LTIP options awarded  –    –    –    20,400,000 
Share price at award date 135p 171p 166p 130.25p 
vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 56.5% 35.7% 37.5% 32.1%
Risk free rate at award date  
(based on 3 month sterling LIBOR)

4.62% 5.25% 6.50% 5.95%

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average expected term to vesting 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years

 
During the year, a total of 20,506,233 LTIP shares awarded in May 2005 and December 2005 vested.

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Employee expenses

Share options granted in 2003  –    89  –    22 
Share options granted in 2004  –    103  –    26 
Expense arising from the award of shares/options under the LTIP  8,960    7,306 711  788 
Deferred share awards 5,756 – 5,399 –

Total expense recognised as employee costs  14,716    7,498  6,110    836 
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26 Reserves

Group

share 
capital
£’000

share 
premium 
account

£’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000

Merger 
reserve

£’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

£’000

Fair value 
reserve

£’000

Warrant/
other 

reserve
£’000

total  
other 

reserves
£’000

Retained 
earnings

£’000

At 1 October 2006  70,605  286,277  31,115  172,690 (5,693)  7,365  19,037  224,514 (131,301)
Total recognised income and 
expense  –    –    –    –    1,823 (4,054)  –   (2,231)  35,398 
Arising on the issue of shares  283  1,288  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
Amortisation of share based 
payments  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    7,498 
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (1,349)
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (29,473)
Dividends paid to 
shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (39,409)

At 30 September 2007  70,888  287,565  31,115  172,690 (3,870)  3,311  19,037  222,283 (158,636)
Total recognised income and 
expense  –    –    –    –   (1,425) (3,982)  –   (5,407)  51,791   
Arising on the issue of shares  8,803  108,445  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
Amortisation of share based 
payments  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   14,716   
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    (128)  
Dividends paid to 
shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (54,959) 

At 30 september 2008  79,691  396,010  31,115  172,690 (5,295)  (671)  19,037  216,876 (147,216)

Company

share 
capital
£’000

share 
premium 
account

£’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000

Merger 
reserve

£’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

£’000

Fair value 
reserve

£’000

Warrant/
other 

reserve
£’000

total  
other 

reserves
£’000

Retained 
earnings

£’000

At 1 October 2006  70,605  286,277  31,115  172,690  1,008  365  19,037  224,215  16,729 
Total recognised income and 
expense  –    –    –    –    –    1,411  –    1,411  68,006 
Arising on the issue of shares  283  1,288  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    7,498 
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (1,349)
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (29,473)
Dividends paid to 
shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (39,409)

At 30 September 2007  70,888  287,565  31,115  172,690  1,008  1,776  19,037  225,626  22,002 
Total recognised income and 
expense  –    –    –    –   – (2,572)  –   (2,572) 40,959
Arising on the issue of shares  8,803  108,445  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   14,716   
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    (128)  
Dividends paid to 
shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    (54,959)  

At 30 september 2008  79,691  396,010  31,115  172,690 1,008  (796)  19,037  223,054  22,590 

Notes to the Accounts continued
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26 Reserves continued

 Nature and purpose of reserves
 share premium account

The share premium account is used to record the issue of share capital above par value.  This reserve is not distributable and can 
only be reduced with court approval.

 Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve is created on the cancellation of share capital and the balance reflects the value of preference 
share capital redeemed by the company.  This reserve is not distributable.  

 Merger reserve
The merger reserve is used to record share premium on shares issued by way of consideration in respect of acquisitions.  The 
realised element of the merger reserve can be used to offset amortisation and impairment of intangible assets charged to the 
Income Statement.  This reserve is not distributable.

 Warrant reserve
The warrant reserve was created on the issue of the £80,000,000 convertible preference share units in June 2005.  Each 
convertible preference share unit issued comprised one preference share and one warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares, of 
which £800 related to the preference share and £200 to the warrant.  The balance in the reserve reflects the value of unexercised 
warrants.  The equity element of the bonds, net of deferred tax, is shown within warrant and other reserves.

 Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

 Fair value reserve
This reserve records fair value changes on available for sale investments until the investments are derecognised.

 Retained earnings
Retained earnings comprises:

•	 all	realised	gains	and	losses	through	the	Income	Statement	less	dividend	distributions;
•	 actuarial	gains	and	losses	recognised	in	the	pension	liability;
•	 deferred	tax	on	actuarial	gains	and	losses;
•	 transactions	relating	to	equity-settled	share-based	payments,	and	all	deferred	tax	movements	on	share-based	payments	

reflected through equity; and
•	 the	purchase	and	sale	of	own	shares.

The total movements in retained earnings relating to the issue of the LTIP shares represent the value of the shares issued to 
participants in any period less the annual amortisation of these shares which is charged through the income statement.

The Company reserve is distributable.

2008 2007

Group and company
Number  

of shares

% of  
issued  
shares

Cost 
£'000

Market  
value
£'000

Number  
of shares

% of  
issued  
shares

Cost 
£'000

Market  
value
£'000

Own shares  14,127,564 2.0  26,219  17,801 17,510,653 2.8  32,497  32,044 

These shares are held by the Group’s Employee Benefits Trust for the purpose of satisfying deferred share bonuses that will vest in 
future periods.  The maximum number of shares held during the year was 17,510,653.

27 Perpetual subordinated capital securities

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

uS $400 million 7.9% Perpetual subordinated capital securities  196,465  196,465 
Coupon outstanding at 30 September  1,477  1,349 

 197,942  197,814 
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27 Perpetual subordinated capital securities continued

The 7.9% Perpetual subordinated capital securities were issued on 29 May 2007.  They have no fixed redemption date but the 
Company may, at its sole discretion, redeem all, but not part, of these securities at their principal amount on 29 May 2012 or any 
subsequent coupon payment date.  In addition, under certain circumstances defined in the terms and conditions of the issue, the 
Company may at its sole discretion:

•	 redeem	all	(but	not	part)	of	the	securities	at	their	principal	amount	at	any	time	prior	to	29	May	2012;

•	 on	any	coupon	payment	date,	exchange	all	(but	not	part)	of	the	securities	for	fully	paid	non-cumulative	preference	shares	in	
the Company.  The preference shares would entitle holders to receive a preferential dividend, if declared by the board, at a 
fixed rate of 7.9% per annum of their nominal value.  Such preference shares may be redeemed, at the Company’s sole 
option, on any coupon payment date later than five years after their issue.

The Company has the option to defer coupon payments on the securities on any relevant payment date.  Deferred coupons shall 
be satisfied only in the following circumstances, all of which occur at the sole option of the Company:

•	 redemption;	or
•	 substitution	by	preference	shares.

No interest will accrue on any deferred coupon.  Deferred coupons will be satisfied by the issue and sale of ordinary shares in the 
Company at their prevailing market value, to a sum as near as practicable to (and at least equal to) the relevant deferred coupons.  
In the event of any coupon deferral the Company would not declare or pay any dividend on its ordinary or preference share capital.

Coupon payments are made quarterly in arrear on 28 February, 29 May, 29 August and 29 November in each year from  
29 August 2007.

28 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Non-current liabilities

7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  70,126  61,353  70,126  61,353 
unamortised issue costs (656) (710) (656) (710)
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  2,904  25,185  2,904  25,185 
unamortised issue costs (34) (494) (34) (494)
Amount drawn under bank revolving credit facility 100,000 – 100,000 –

  172,340  85,334  172,340  85,334 

Current liabilities

Amount drawn under bank revolving credit facility  46,529  47,947  46,529  47,947 
Bank overdraft  –    –    34,302  36,787 
unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2003 - 2008  –    373  –    –   

46,529  48,320  80,831  84,734 

uS $125 million 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016 were issued on 7 July 2006.  The notes have a term of 10 years although the 
Company has the option, subject to certain restrictions, to prepay all (but not part) of the notes from 8 July 2011 onwards.  
Interest is payable semi-annually on 7 July and 7 January each year until 7 July 2011.  From 8 July 2011 each note converts to a 
floating rate note bearing interest at the LIBOR rate in effect for the applicable quarterly interest period plus 2.25%.

£26.57 million 4.5% Convertible bonds 2010 were issued on 8 March 2005.  The bonds are convertible into ordinary shares of  
the Company at any time on or after 20 April 2005 at a conversion price of 107.41p (after adjustment for the rights issue on  
23 September 2005).  unless the bonds have been previously purchased and cancelled, redeemed or converted, the bonds will be 
redeemed on 10 March 2010 at their principal amount.  £23.57 million of these convertible bonds were converted to ordinary 
shares during the year (note 24).

Notes to the Accounts continued
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28 Interest bearing loans and borrowings continued

The liability in respect of the unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2003 - 2008 was taken on by the Group as a result of the 
acquisition of Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc.  The loan notes were fully redeemed on 30 June 2008.  

The Company entered into a revolving credit and guarantee facility with Bank of Scotland on 16 April 2007.  The limit on the 
revolving credit facility was increased from £100 million to £200 million in March 2008 to facilitate the DEGI purchase and 
reduced to its current limit of £150 million on 30 September 2008.  The limit will reduce to £100 million on 1 April 2009 until 
expiry on 16 April 2010.  The facility carries an interest rate of 1.1% over LIBOR pa on drawn amounts up to £100 million and 
1.75% over LIBOR pa thereafter.  A non utilisation fee of 0.5% pa is charged on undrawn amounts.

The Company's bank overdraft is part of a Group working capital facility in support of which cross guarantees are provided by 
certain subsidiary undertakings.  At 30 September 2008 the net amount guaranteed under this arrangement was £nil (2007: £nil).  
The Company regards such guarantees as insurance contracts and accounts for them accordingly.  The Group’s borrowings are 
subject to a number of covenants which, in accordance with standard practice, are reviewed and discussed with lenders from time 
to time.  The board, having regard to its business plans is confident that the Group will continue to comply with applicable 
conditions for the foreseeable future.

29 Trade and other payables

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

unit trust trustees for units created  25,332  17,258  –    –   
Creditors for unit repurchases  18,541  11,093  –    –   

 43,873  28,351  –    –   

Other trade creditors  8,787    6,974 3,472  4,367 
Accruals 96,876  80,880 27,908  17,698 
Tax and social security 4,208  2,374 3,312  731 
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings  –    –   8,052    44,903 
Deferred consideration due on acquisition 3,078  8,762  –    –   
Other creditors 12,447  28,782 745  1,417 

169,269  156,123 43,489  69,116 

 

30 Financial instruments

 (i) Designated as held for trading

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  268  537  –    –   
Other investments  846  8,978  –    7,771 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  14,595  14,530  –    –   

 15,709  24,045  –    7,771 

 (ii) Designated as available for sale investments

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

unlisted investments  50,335  34,898  24,684  17,626 
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30 Financial instruments continued

 (iii) Assets classified as held for sale

Available for sale financial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares, warrants and private equity investments and deferred 
consideration on sale of assets.

The fair value of the unlisted available for sale investments has been estimated using a valuation technique based on assumptions 
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.  The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from 
the valuation technique which are recorded in the balance sheet, and the related fair value gains recorded in the income 
statement, are reasonable and most appropriate at the balance sheet date.  The Group’s accounting policy in respect of private 
equity investments is detailed on page 60.

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Seed capital investments 17,596 – 12,075 –

 Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group and Company's financial 
instruments that are carried in the financial statements.

Group Company

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Group
2008
£’000

2007
£’000

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

2008
£’000

2007
£’000

Financial assets

Other investments 50,335    34,898 50,335  34,898 1,041,011  855,445 1,041,011  855,445 
Other financial investments  1,131,060  1,298,402  1,131,060  1,298,402 –  –   –  –   
Other current assets 
investments  15,441  23,508  15,441  23,508  –    7,771  –    7,771 
Stock of units and shares  268  537  268  537  –    –    –    –   
Cash and cash equivalents  82,161  80,680  82,161  80,680  85  5,525  85  5,525 
Assets held for sale  17,596  –    17,596  –    12,075  –    12,075  –   

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings:

– Fixed rate borrowings  73,030  86,538  73,052  90,459  73,030  86,538  73,052  90,459 
– Floating rate borrowings  146,529  48,320  146,529  48,320  180,831  84,734  180,831  84,734 
– No interest liabilities  –    500  –    500  –    –    –    –   

Insurance contract liabilities  1,131,060  1,298,402  1,131,060  1,298,402  –    –    –    –   

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments 
reflected in the above table:

 securities
The fair value of listed investments is based on market bid prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction 
costs.

The fair value of unlisted investments have been valued in accordance with International Private Equity and venture Capital 
valuation guidelines for Limited Partnership agreements where possible.

 Interest bearing loans
The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.  The 
valuations have considered similar issues available in the market and the liquidity of the assets and liabilities.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated cash flows are based on management's best estimates and the 
discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date.  Where other pricing models are used, 
inputs are based on market related data at the balance sheet date.
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30 Financial instruments continued

 Interest rate and currency risk profiles
The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company's financial liabilities at 30 September were as follows:

2008 2007

Group
Fixed rate

£’000

Variable 
rate

£’000
total

£’000
Fixed rate

£’000

variable 
rate

£’000

No  
interest

£’000
Total

£’000

sterling

Bank revolving credit facility  –    146,529  146,529  –    47,947  –    47,947 
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  2,904  –    2,904  25,185  –    –    25,185 
unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2003 - 2008  –    –    –    –    373  –    373 
Long term business provision  –    –    –    –    –    500  500 

 2,904  146,529  149,433  25,185  48,320  500  74,005 

us dollar

7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  70,126  –    70,126  61,353  –    –    61,353 

 73,030  146,529  219,559  86,538  48,320  500  135,358 

2008 2007

Company
Fixed rate

£’000

Variable 
rate

£’000
total

£’000
Fixed rate

£’000

variable 
rate

£’000

No  
interest

£’000
Total

£’000

sterling

Bank revolving credit facility  –    146,529   146,529  –    47,947  –    47,947 
Bank overdraft  –    34,302   34,302    –    36,787  –    36,787 
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010 2,904    –    2,904   25,185  –    –    25,185 

2,904   180,831 183,735  25,185  84,734  –    109,919 

us dollar

7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  70,126    –   70,126  61,353  –    –    61,353 

73,030   180,831 253,861  86,538  84,734  –    171,272 

The sterling liabilities comprise the Convertible bonds 2010 which bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.5% p.a. and the unsecured 
guaranteed loan notes which bear interest at 1% below LIBOR.  Interest on the revolving credit facility is at a variable rate of 
1.1% above LIBOR and on the overdraft at the variable rate of 1% over base rate.  Further details of the liabilities are given in 
note 28.

The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company’s financial assets at 30 September were as follows:

2008 2007

Group

Floating 
rate

£’000

No 
interest

£’000
total

£’000

Floating 
rate

£’000

No  
interest

£’000
Total

£’000

Sterling  25,865   21,116 46,981  28,422  20,403  48,825 
uS dollar 17,964 3,099 21,063  33,841  2,983  36,824 
Euro currencies 41,044 – 41,044  1,712  –    1,712 
Nordic currencies 8,102 23,735 31,837  15,771  15,196  30,967 
Other currencies 16,864 8,012 24,876  16,493  4,802  21,295 

total 109,839 55,962 165,801  96,239  43,384  139,623 
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30 Financial instruments continued

2008 2007

Company

Floating 
rate

£’000

No 
interest

£’000
total

£’000

Floating 
rate

£’000

No  
interest

£’000
Total

£’000

Sterling 1,051   18,605 19,656  4,475  17,889  22,364 
uS dollar 12,075 3,038 15,113  1,668  2,980  4,648 
Euro 28  –   28  381  –    381 
Other currencies 6 2,041 2,047  1  3,528  3,529 

total 13,160 23,684 36,844  6,525  24,397  30,922 

The no interest financial assets do not have a maturity date.  They principally comprise available for sale investments and assets 
and other debtors.

The floating rate financial assets principally comprise cash and deposit balances which earn interest at rates which fluctuate 
according to money market rates.

 Foreign net investment
The majority of the Group’s subsidiaries use sterling as their functional and presentation currencies.  The foreign currency net 
monetary assets of subsidiaries which adopt a different reporting currency are as follows:

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

uS dollar  13,459   28,963
Singapore dollar 63,162  61,255 
Australian dollar 6,195  11,692 
Nordic currencies (75,662) 13,204
Euro 14,480 1,274
Other 11,218 6,693

 Financial instruments relating to unit linked contracts
The Group’s life assurance subsidiary provides unit linked wrappers which avail clients of a number of benefits from these pooled 
arrangements.  From the Group’s perspective, the risks and rewards of managing these assets are the same as other assets under 
management as the financial risks and rewards attributable to theses assets also fall to be borne by, or to the benefit of, clients.  
Hence, while a number of significant financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the subsidiary, the key 
risk to the Group is the impact of the level of the fees which are earned from this entity which are directly impacted by the 
underlying value of the policyholder assets.  While by necessity this Group subsidiary company has some insurance risks, these 
risks are completely reinsured, thereby negating any ultimate insurance risk to the Group’s equity holders.

The unit linked assets are matched by the associated insurance contract liabilities disclosed in note 20.

The assets above are all unit linked and held for the sole benefit of the policyholders within Aberdeen Asset Management Life and 
Pensions Limited.  Investment and credit risk in respect of assets and liabilities held within unit linked funds is borne by the 
policyholders.
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31 Provisions

Group 

Long term 
business 

provision
£'000

Non-current liabilities

At 1 October 2007 500
Released in the year (500)

At 30 september 2008 –

Group 

Provision for 
Investment 

trust VAt
£'000

Current liabilities

At 1 October 2007 –
Provided in the year 2,000

At 30 september 2008 2,000

An action against HM Revenue and Customs ('HMRC') brought jointly by the Association of Investment Companies ('AIC') and a 
uK investment trust in early 2004 sought to establish that charges for investment management services provided to uK 
investment trusts should be exempt from vAT, rather than being subject to the standard rate as required by uK vAT legislation.  
Following a decision of the European Court of Justice on certain questions referred by the uK vAT Tribunal, HMRC announced on 
26 October 2007 that would no longer seek to defend this case.

A number of the Group’s uK subsidiaries, in common with other uK asset managers, now face claims from investment trust 
clients for the repayment of vAT previously charged for periods back to 1990.

The Group charged vAT in accordance with applicable legislation at the time, but provision has been recognised to the extent that 
payments to investment trusts are expected to exceed the amounts recoverable from HMRC.  The provision of £2 million 
represents the estimated net cost to the Group.  Significant uncertainty remains as to the final quantification of amounts 
recoverable from HMRC and amounts payable to investment trusts.  Also uncertainty remains over the methodology to be 
adopted by HMRC and the timing of such payments.

32 Deferred income

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Initial fees on sales of open ended funds  1,588  2,276 –   –   

Initial fees on sales of open ended funds are being spread over the average life of the contracts which has been estimated at  
3 years.
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33 Operating leases

The Group and Company have non-cancellable operating lease rentals which are payable as follows:

Land and buildings
Motor vehicles and 

plant and equipment

Group
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Within one year 7,389    1,194 434   214
Between two and five years 12,449    4,613 1,095   207
After five years 60,201    45,591  –    –   

80,039    51,398 1,529    421 

During the year ended 30 September 2008, £10,968,000 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of 
operating leases (2007: £7,553,000).

Land and buildings
Motor vehicles and 

plant and equipment

Company
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Within one year  49    8  –    –   
Between two and five years  603    69  –    –   
After five years  40,513    36,492  –    –   

 41,165    36,569  –    –   

 sub-lease receivables
At the year end future minimum rentals under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

Land and buildings

Group
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

Within one year 75 126
Between two and five years 614 685
After five years 6,473 6,990

7,162 7,801

Land and buildings

Company
2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

Within one year 75 126
Between two and five years 614 685
After five years 3,051 3,412

3,740 4,223

34 Commitments

In 2002 the Group made a commitment to invest up to £10 million in the Aberdeen Murray Johnstone Private Equity Fund, a 
limited partnership managed until 30 June 2008 by its wholly owned subsidiary, Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited.  Of that 
amount some £8.2 million has subsequently been drawn and a further £1.8 million remains committed but not yet drawn.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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35 Retirement benefits

The Group’s principal form of pension provision is by way of three defined contribution schemes operated world-wide.  The Group 
also operates three legacy defined benefit schemes in the uK: the CGA Staff Pension Fund, the Murray Johnstone Limited 
Retirement Benefits Plan and the Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death Benefits Scheme.  All three uK defined 
benefit schemes are closed to new membership and to future service accrual.  In addition, the Group acquired a further defined 
benefit scheme in Germany as part of the DEGI acquisition.

 The total contributions charged to the income statement in respect of the schemes operated by the Group were as follows:

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

(i) In respect of the Group’s money purchase schemes: 
 Pension cost charged to operating profit:  uK schemes  6,787    5,873 
  Overseas schemes 8,322    5,046 

15,109    10,919 

(ii) In respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes:  
 Pension cost charged to operating profit 900    774 

The pension surplus and deficits of the Group are summarised as follows:

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

Pension surplus

Edinburgh Fund Managers Retirement & Death Benefits Plan 5,481 –   

Pension deficits

Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan  (10,515)  (17,362) 
CGA Staff Pension Fund (451) (907)
DEGI Pension Plan (6,410) –  

(17,376) (18,269)

 Disclosure relating to the Group’s defined benefit obligations
The information given in (1) and (2) below reflects the aggregate disclosures in respect of the Group’s three uK defined benefit 
pension arrangements.  The information provided in (3) relates to the DEGI pension scheme.  The information in (4) reflects the 
aggregate disclosures for the three uK schemes plus the scheme operated by DEGI in Germany.  The DEGI plan assets are invested 
in life insurance products and are therefore not included in the tables below.

(1) Plan assets and expected rate of return

2008 2007

£'000 % £'000 % 

Plan assets

Equities and alternatives  46,976 52.2  55,589 57.7
Gilts and other bonds  8,362 9.3  11,782 12.2
LDI funds  33,844 37.6  27,343 28.4
Cash  818 0.9  1,684 1.7

 90,000 100.0  96,398 100.0

2008 
%

2007
% 

Expected rate of return

Equities and alternatives 7.60 7.70
Gilts and other bonds 4.60 4.70
Liability driven investment funds 4.20 4.70
Cash 5.00  5.75
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 Basis used to determine the expected rate of return on plan assets 
To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Group considered the current level of expected 
returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds) , the historical level of risk premium associated with the other 
asset classes in which the portfolio is invested, and the expectations for the future returns of each asset class.  The expected 
return for each asset class was then weighted, based on the target asset allocation, to develop the expected long-term rate of 
return on assets assumptions for the portfolio.

(2)  Major assumptions used by uK schemes' actuaries

2008 
%

2007 
% 

Discount rate 7.00 5.90
Pension increases

– pre July 1997 accrual (Edinburgh 3%) 3.50 5.00
– post July 1997 accrual 3.50 3.20

Contributory salary increases (applies to Murray Johnstone only) 5.50 5.20
Price inflation 3.50 3.20

The range of assumptions used to determine the obligations are as follows:

2008 
%

2007 
% 

Discount rate 7.00 5.90
Rate of compensation increase (applies to Murray Johnstone only) 5.50 5.20
Rate of price inflation 3.50 3.20

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net pension cost are as follows:

2008 
%

2007 
% 

Discount rate 5.90 5.10
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

– during the financial year 6.43 5.88
Rate of compensation increase (n/a for Edinburgh) 5.20 4.80
Rate of price inflation 3.20 2.80

 Mortality assumptions
The mortality assumptions for the uK defined benefit schemes at 30 September are shown below.

2008 2007 

Mortality table for males retiring in the future PMA92MC(yOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for females retiring in the future PFA92MC(yOB) PFA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table current male pensioners PMA92MC(yOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for current female pensioners PFA92MC(yOB) PFA92MC(YOB)

2008 
years

2007 
Years 

Impact of mortality assumptions

Expected age at death for a male currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 87.8 87.8
Expected age at death for a female currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 90.7 90.7
Expected age at death for a current male pensioner aged 60 86.6 86.6
Expected age at death for a current female pensioner aged 60 89.5 89.5
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35 Retirement benefits continued

(3)  Major assumptions used by DEGI scheme actuaries

2008 
%

2007 
% 

Discount rate 6.30 n/a
Rate of compensation increase 3.25 n/a
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 5.40 n/a

The mortality tables used for the DEGI scheme were RT2005G.

(4)  Aggregate disclosure obligations

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2006
£'000

2005
£'000

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  111,067  121,400  106,570  89,127 
On acquisition of subsidiary 9,435 – – –
Past service cost  –    –    240  173 
Interest cost  7,045  6,131  5,103  5,043 
Amendments  –    –    15  268 
Actuarial (gain) loss recognised (18,019) (14,069)  12,163  13,941 
Benefits paid from scheme (3,467) (2,395) (2,691) (1,982)

Benefit obligation at end of year  106,061  111,067  121,400  106,570 

Change in scheme assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  96,398  89,145  76,536  61,954 
On acquisition of subsidiary 374 – – –
Expected return on scheme assets  6,145  5,357  4,612  4,083 
Actuarial (loss) gain on scheme assets (14,396)  58  5,598  7,973 
Employer contributions  9,112  4,233  5,360  4,508 
Benefits paid from scheme (3,467) (2,395) (2,961) (1,982)

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year  94,166  96,398  89,145  76,536 
Restriction on actuarial gain due to asset ceiling  –    3,600  –    –   

Deficit recognised at end of year (11,895) (18,269) (32,255) (30,034)

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2006
£'000

2005
£'000

Movement in deficit during the year

Deficit in scheme at beginning of year (18,269) (32,255) (30,034) (27,173)
On acquisition of subsidiary (9,061) – – –
Movement in year:
Employer contributions in the financial year 9,112  4,233 5,360 4,508
Pension expense recognised in income statement in the financial year (900) (774) (746) (1,401)
Amounts recognised in the SORIE in the financial year 7,223  10,527 (6,835) (5,968)

Net deficit in scheme at end of year (11,895) (18,269) (32,255) (30,034)

Surplus in scheme at end of year 5,481 – – –
Deficits in schemes at end of year (17,376) (18,269) (32,255) (30,034)

Net deficit in schemes at end of year (11,895) (18,269) (32,255) (30,034)
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Company

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 1 October  907  1,190 
Reversal of restriction on actuarial gain due to asset ceiling – –
On acquisition of subsidiary – –
Contributions paid (200) (150)
Expense recognised in the income statement  62  54 
Actuarial gains recognised (318) (187)

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 30 September  451  907 

 The Group expects to pay £4.9 million to the uK defined benefit schemes in the next financial year.

Group

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Expense recognised in the income statement

Interest cost 7,045  6,131 
Expected return on scheme assets (6,145) (5,357)

 900  774 

Actual return on scheme assets (8,251)  5,415 

Amount recognised in statement of recognised income and expense

Actuarial gain in the year (3,623) (14,127)
Restriction on actuarial gain recognised due to asset ceiling (3,600)   3,600 

Recognised in statement of recognised income and expense (7,223) (10,527)

Cumulative amount recognised (9,499) (2,276)

Group

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Analysis of net interest cost on pension scheme

Expected return on pension scheme assets  6,145  5,357 
Interest on pension liabilities (7,045) (6,131)

Net interest cost (900) (774)

The amounts under IAS 19 that have been recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense ('SORIE') are set out 
below:

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2006
£'000

History of experience gains and losses

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets (14,396) 58  5,598 
Percentage of year end market value of scheme assets -15.3% 0.1% 6.3%
Experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities  6,456 (121) 39
Percentage of year end present value of scheme liabilities 6.1% 0.1% 0.0%
Change in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme liabilities  12,404 14,190 (12,472)
Percentage of year end present value of scheme liabilities 11.7% 12.4% 10.3%
Actuarial gains (losses) recognised in SORIE  7,223  10,527 (6,835)
Percentage of year end present value of scheme liabilities 6.8% 9.2% 9.8%
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 Relationship between the Company and the trustees of the defined benefit schemes
The schemes assets are held in separate Trustee-administered funds to meet long-term pension liabilities to past employees.   
The Trustees of the funds are required to act in the best interests of the funds' beneficiaries.

36 Related party transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiary undertakings carry out transactions with related parties, as 
defined by IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures'.  Material transactions for the year are set out below.

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 16.  During the year, the Group entered into the 
following transactions with related parties.

(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the group

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Short-term employee benefits  6,051   9,216
Share based payments 8,937 6,188
Pension contributions 442    626 
Termination benefits 1,500 –

Total 16,930  16,030 

Deferred elements of employee benefits outstanding at the year end:
Amounts owed to related parties (including amounts deferred from previous years)  21,045   20,761 

The remuneration policy is described in more detail in the remuneration report on pages 38 to 47.

(b) transactions with subsidiaries

Details of transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company are shown below:

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Interest receivable 4,771    1,299 
Interest payable 167    326 
Management fees 55,681    26,740 
Dividends 75,938    85,422 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 113,957    130,500 
Amounts due to subsidiaries 8,052    44,903 

(c)  transactions and balances with related parties

 Post employment benefit plans
The Group operates and participates in several post employment benefit plans as detailed in note 35.

The Group contributed the following amounts to defined benefit and defined contribution plans and had amounts outstanding at 
30 September each year as follows:

Employer 
contributions

Outstanding at
30 september

2008 
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008 
£'000

2007 
£'000 

CGA Staff Pension Fund  200  150  –    –   
Murray Johnstone Retirement Benefits Plan  2,573  2,040  –    –   
Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death Benefits Plan  2,144  2,043  –    –   
DEGI Pension Plan 4,195 –  –    –   
Defined contribution schemes  15,109    10,919  –    –   
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37 Financial risk management

 Overview
The Group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 credit	risk
•	 liquidity	risk
•	 market	risk

Information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks is provided in this note which, describes the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and ongoing management of the Group’s risk management 
framework and the implementation and operation of the board's policies are handled by the Group’s risk management 
committee.

The Group’s audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.  Internal 
audit assist the Group audit committee in its oversight role by undertaking both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures and report the results of these reviews directly to the audit committee.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.  The Group, through its training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees are involved and 
understand their roles and obligations.

 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument is unable to pay in full 
amounts when due, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.  Debt levels are monitored locally by 
senior management and historically the level of default has not been significant and in the majority of cases there is an ongoing 
relationship with the client.

 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or can only do so at a 
significantly increased cost.  The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the 
Group’s income or the value of it's holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Interest on the Group’s borrowings is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying 
operations of the Group, primarily Sterling, Euro and uS dollars.  This provides an economic hedge and no derivatives are entered 
into.

The Group’s investment in its uS subsidiary is hedged by the Group’s uS dollar 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016, which mitigates 
the currency risk arising from the subsidiary's net assets.  The Group’s investments in other subsidiaries are not hedged as those 
currency positions are considered to be long-term in nature.

Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities.  These securities are managed on a individual basis and all buy and 
sell decisions are approved by the Group management board.

 unit-linked assets
The Group’s balance sheet contains a significant level of assets relating to the Group’s life and pensions subsidiary for which the 
risks and rewards fall to the benefit of or are borne by the underlying policyholders.  Therefore the investment contract liabilities 
shown in the Group’s balance sheet are equal and opposite in value to the assets held on behalf of the policyholders.  As a result 
the Group has no direct exposure to fluctuations in the value of assets which are held on behalf of policyholders.  The Group’s 
exposure in relation to these assets lies in the revenue earned from the assets which varies in line with the movement in value of 
the assets.  The Group has no exposure to fluctuations in the value of the assets arising from changes in market prices or credit 
default.
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37 Financial risk management continued

 stock of units and shares
These represent units and shares of Open Ended Investment Companies (OEIC's) which are operated and managed by the Group.  
These are funds into which both institutional and retail investors can invest and the Group maintains a stock of units and shares 
in these funds in order to facilitate the creation and redemption of units by investors.  The Group’s risk management committee 
has set specific limits for the overall value of units which can be held by the Group at any one time and also placed a limit on the 
value of units held in any single fund.

 trade debtors and accrued income
Trade debtors and accrued income represent amounts recognised in revenue in the Group income statement which have not been 
settled by clients.  The majority of the Group’s asset management fees accrue based on daily, month-end or quarter-end asset 
values except performance fees which typically are earned based on annual performance.  Fees are billed to clients as soon as 
values are available and settlement is due within agreed contractual terms.  As a result, the average level for debtors and accrued 
income outstanding, at any point in time, will represent approximately 4 months revenue.  

The Group, in some situations, may be exposed to a concentration of credit risk, particularly from some of its larger clients or 
groups of connected clients.  This may arise during the period from recognition of management fees in the income statement and 
settlement of fees by clients.  very few clients have external credit ratings.

 unit trust debtors
The Group operates and manages a number of OEIC's and in doing so it seeks, as far as possible, to match the purchase and sale 
of investments in order to match the receipt or payment of funds from or to clients.  Where these positions are not matched the 
Group may be required to fund any shortfall although due to the short settlement period for these transactions the risk relating 
to unsettled transactions is considered to be small.  In addition should any investor default on any payment due the Group would 
be entitled to recover any costs from the investor.

 Cash and cash equivalents
The Group adopts a low risk strategy in respect of its treasury management, at all times ensuring, as far as possible, that its 
capital is preserved and financial risks are managed in line with the Group’s risk management policy which is designed to manage 
the risks associated with the Group’s cash and cash equivalent assets.

The treasury function for the Group is managed on a daily basis by the Group finance department who manage the Group’s cash 
resources within guidelines set by the board who receive regular reports on both the treasury and regulatory positions for the 
Group.

The main parameters within which the treasury function operates include: 

•	 Cash	placed	on	deposit
•	 Deposits	are	only	placed	with	counterparties

Foreign currency risk is managed in order to minimize, where possible, the risk of movement in exchange rates.  This involves the 
repatriation of cash held by overseas subsidiaries to Sterling and this is achieved by way of dividends from subsidiaries as well as 
the settlement of intercompany transfer pricing arrangements.

Cash placed on deposit may be subject to changes in interest rates and the Group manages its deposits to maximise the returns 
but at the same time ensuring that the Group’s working capital requirements can be met.  

 Management of capital
The board's policy with respect to capital is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to provide a sufficient base to sustain the future development of the business while at the same time ensuring 
compliance with regulatory capital requirements.  

The Company's ordinary shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange and the board monitors the composition of the 
shareholder base.  

Details of substantial interests in the share capital of the Company are provided in the Director's Report on page 35.  Movements 
in share capital during the year which, include new shares issued to finance acquisitions as well are provided in note 24.  The 
board gives careful consideration to the appropriate funding structure for each acquisition which in the past have been structured 
to include both debt and equity funding.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of these purchases depends on market prices.  
Primarily the shares are intended to be used for issuing shares under the Group’s share-based payment schemes.  Buy and sell 
decisions are made on a specific transaction basis by the Group management board.
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 Working capital
The Group monitors the level of its working capital closely to ensure that it has sufficient cash available to meet its liabilities as 
they become due.  In addition, the Group’s treasury function monitors cash balances on a daily basis.

 Regulatory capital requirements
In accordance with the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) the Group is required to maintain a minimum level of capital as 
prescribed in the uK by the Financial Services Authority (FSA).

The Group has been granted a waiver obtained from the FSA from the requirement to meet the minimum capital requirement 
under the consolidated supervision rules of the CRD.  The waiver has been in place since 1 December 2007 and is currently 
effective until 31 December 2011.

At 30 September 2008 there were 28 regulated companies in the Group, 12 of which are registered in the united Kingdom and 
are regulated by the FSA.  With the exception of Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions Limited which is a regulated 
insurance firm, all others are regulated investment firms.  Only the regulated investment firms are part of the Group consolidation 
for regulatory capital reporting purposes.  The Group has 16 overseas regulated companies all of which are subject to regulatory 
capital requirements which are determined by their local regulator.

The measurement of Capital Resources and Capital Resource Requirements (CRR),  which are referred to as the Pillar 1 capital 
requirements under CRD, are set out in regulatory rules.  The CRR for uK regulated investment firms is the higher of:

•	 the	sum	of	the	credit	risk	capital	requirement	and	the	market	risk	capital	requirement;	and
•	 the	fixed	overhead	requirement

The credit risk relates to the risk of a third party becoming unable to meet it's obligations to a firm.  The risk is calculated by 
using risk weighted percentages which are applied to the various exposure amounts.  Market risk represents the risk of a loss being 
incurred from fluctuations in exchange rates, calculated as a percentage of the total of the long or short positions, denominated 
in foreign currencies, whichever is the greater.  The fixed overhead requirement is calculated as a quarter of a firm's relevant fixed 
annual expenditure in the year's audited financial statements.

The regulated companies are required to submit financial returns to the FSA, or the local regulatory authority for overseas 
companies, setting out the calculation of the regulatory capital surplus (or deficit).  The Group’s regulated companies are required 
to submit returns quarterly or semi-annually and the Group must submit a consolidated return semi-annually.

The Group is required, as part of the CRD, to conduct an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), referred to as 
Pillar 2 capital requirements.  The objective of this process is to ensure that firms have adequate capital to enable them to 
manage their risks not deemed to be adequately covered under the Pillar 1 minimum requirements.  This is a forward looking 
exercise which includes stress testing on major risks, considering how the firm would cope with a significant market downturn for 
example, and an assessment of the Group’s ability to mitigate the risks.

All the regulated companies in the Group maintained surpluses of regulatory capital throughout the year.
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments

This note presents a numerical analysis of the Group’s exposure to financial risk, as described in note 37.  The Group’s direct and 
indirect exposure to financial risks arising from financial instruments and the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk and the management of the Group’s capital resources are described in note 37.

Disclosures relating to policyholder unit linked assets and liabilities in respect of the Group’s life and pensions subsidiary have 
been excluded from this analysis as the risks and rewards from these assets and liabilities rest with the policyholders.

 Credit risk
 (i)  Maximum exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure of each class of financial assets is the carrying value of these assets which are shown below.

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  268  537  –    –   
Other investments 846   8,978  –    7,771 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  14,595  14,530  –    –   

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments 50,335    34,898 24,684    17,626 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments 17,596 – 12,075 –

Loans and receivables

unit trust trustees for units liquidated  20,140    11,166  –    –   
Debtors for units sales  23,133    13,002  –    –   
Trade debtors  32,368    26,076 459  332 
Accrued income  69,557    60,590 24  502 
Other debtors 17,774    49,550 2,804  7,688 
Cash and cash equivalents  82,161  80,680  85  5,525 

328,773  300,007  40,131  39,444 
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An analysis of the financial assets showing the credit rating of the counterparties is set out below:

 Group

As at 30 september 2008
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  –    –    –    268    268   

Other investments  –    –    –   846   846  

Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  –    –    –   14,595   14,595   

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –   50,335   50,335   

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments  –    –    –   17,596 17,596

Loans and receivables

unit trust trustees for units liquidated  –    –    –    20,140    20,140   

Debtors for units sales  –    –    –   23,133   23,133   

Trade debtors  –    –    –   32,368   32,368   

Accrued income  –    –    –   69,557   69,557   

Other debtors  –    –    –   17,774   17,774   

Cash and cash equivalents  –   66,562   15,566 33   82,161   

 –   66,562   15,566 246,645   328,773

As at 30 September 2007
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

Total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  –    –    –    537  537 
Other investments  –    –    –    8,978  8,978 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  –    –    –    14,530  14,530 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –    34,898  34,898 

Loans and receivables

unit trust trustees for units liquidated  –    –    –    11,166  11,166 
Debtors for units sales  –    –    –    13,002  13,002 
Trade debtors  –    –    –    26,076 26,076
Accrued income  –    –    –   60,590 60,590
Other debtors  –    –    –    49,550  49,550 
Cash and cash equivalents  –    52,540  28,128  12  80,680 

 –    52,540  28,128 219,339 300,007
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 Company

As at 30 september 2008
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Seed capital investments  –    –    –    12,075   12,075 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –   24,684 24,684

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors  –    –    –   459 459

Accrued income  –    –    –   24 24

Other debtors  –    –    –   2,804 2,804

Cash and cash equivalents  –   58    –    27   85

 –    58    –   40,073 40,131

As at 30 September 2007
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

Total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Other investments  –    –    –    7,771  7,771 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –    17,626  17,626 

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors  –    –    –    332  332 
Accrued income  –    –    –    502  502 
Other debtors  –    –    –    7,688  7,688 
Cash and cash equivalents  –    5,525  –    –    5,525 

 –    5,525  –   33,919 39,444



116 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2008 

38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 (ii)  Analysis of ageing of financial assets

 Group

As at 30 september 2008

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired

£’000

Less than 
30 days

£’000

Between 
30 and  

90 days
£’000

Between 
90 days 

and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  268  –    –    –    –    268 

Other investments  846    –    –    –    –    846   

Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  14,595  –    –    –    –    14,595 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  50,335   –    –    –    –    50,335   

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments 17,596  –    –    –    –   17,596

Loans and receivables

unit trust trustees for units liquidated  20,140  –    –    –    –    20,140 

Debtors for units sales  23,133  –    –    –    –    23,133 

Trade debtors  15,250   8,892 5,409 2,732 85 32,368

Other debtors 17,774  –    –    –    –   17,774

Accrued income 69,557    –    –    –    –    69,557   

Cash and cash equivalents  82,161  –    –    –    –    82,161 

311,655 8,892 5,409 2,732 85 328,773

As at 30 September 2007

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired

£’000

Less than 
30 days

£’000

Between 
30 and  

90 days
£’000

Between 
90 days 

and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

Total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds 537  –    –    –    –    537 
Other investments  8,978  –    –    –    –    8,978 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  14,530  –    –    –    –    14,530 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  34,898  –    –    –    –    34,898 

Loans and receivables

unit trust trustees for units liquidated  11,166  –    –    –    –    11,166 
Debtors for units sales  13,002  –    –    –    –    13,002 
Trade debtors  14,704  5,371  4,594  1,297  110  26,076 
Other debtors  49,546  2  –    2  –    49,550 
Accrued income  60,590  –    –    –    –    60,590 
Cash and cash equivalents  80,680  –    –    –    –    80,680 

 288,631 5,373  4,594  1,299  110 300,007

Notes to the Accounts continued
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 Company

As at 30 september 2008

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired

£’000

Less than 
30 days

£’000

Between 
30 and  

90 days
£’000

Between 
90 days 

and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

total
£’000

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments 24,684    –    –    –    –   24,684   

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments 12,075  –    –    –    –   12,075

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors  378  45 7 29  –   459

Other debtors 2,804    –    –    –    –   2,804

Accrued income  24    –    –    –    –    24   

Cash and cash equivalents 85  –    –    –    –   85

40,050 45 7 29 – 40,131

As at 30 September 2007

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired

£’000

Less than 
30 days

£’000

Between 
30 and  

90 days
£’000

Between 
90 days 

and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

Total
£’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Other investments  7,771  –    –    –    –    7,771 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  17,626  –    –    –    –    17,626 

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors  236  44  19  15  18  332 
Other debtors  7,688  –    –    –    –    7,688 
Accrued income  502  –    –    –    –    502 
Cash and cash equivalents  5,525  –    –    –    –    5,525 

39,348  44  19  15  18 39,444

 (iii) Impairment losses

Details of impairment of financial assets at 30 September are as follows:

Group

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

trade debtors provision:

Balance at 1 October  135  3,344 
Bad debt charge in the year 125  –   
utilised in the year (125) (3,209)

Balance at 30 September  135  135 

During the year an exceptional impairment provision of £8.6m (2007: nil) was made in respect of property seed capital as 
described in note 5.
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 (iv) Concentration risk
At 30 September 2008 the Group had one (2007: one) individual client with greater than £1 million outstanding.  The total 
outstanding was £1.5 million (2007: £1.2 million) which was paid in full during November 2008.

 Liquidity risk – Group
The Group has a committed £150 million revolving credit facility in place with Bank of Scotland.  Details of the undrawn element 
of this facility are disclosed in note 22.  

The maturity dates of the Group’s financial liabilities are as follows:

As at 30 september 2008

Within  
1 year or 

repayable on 
demand

£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facility  46,529  100,000    –    –    146,529 

4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –    2,904  –    –    2,904 

7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    70,126  70,126 

Trade and other payables  –   

– Trade creditors 8,787 – – – 8,787

– Other creditors 12,447 – – – 12,447

– Accruals 96,876 – – – 96,876

164,639 102,904  –    70,126  337,669 

As at 30 September 2007

Within  
1 year or 

repayable on 
demand

£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facility  47,947  –    –    –    47,947 
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –    –    25,185  –    25,185 
7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    61,353  61,353 
unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2003-2008 373  –   –  –   373
Long term business provision  –   500  –   – 500
Trade and other payables

– unit trust trustees for units created  17,258 – – –  17,258 
– Creditors for unit repurchases  11,093 – – –  11,093 
– Trade creditors  6,974  –    –    –    6,974 
– Other creditors  28,782  –    –    –    28,782 
– Accruals  80,880  –    –    –    80,880 

 193,307 500    25,185  61,353  280,345 
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 Liquidity risk – Company
The maturity dates of the Company's financial liabilities are as follows:

As at 30 september 2008

Within  
1 year or 

repayable on 
demand

£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facility  46,529 100,000    –    –    146,529 

Bank overdraft  34,302  –    –    –    34,302 

4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –    2,904  –    –    2,904 

7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    70,126  70,126 

Trade and other payables
– Trade creditors  3,472    –    –    –   3,472

– Other creditors 745  –    –    –    745   

– Accruals 27,908  –    –    –   27,908

112,956  102,904  –    70,126 285,986

As at 30 September 2007

Within  
1 year or 

repayable on 
demand

£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facility  47,947  –    –    –    47,947 
Bank overdraft  36,787  –    –    –    36,787 
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –    –    25,185  –    25,185 
7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    61,353  61,353 
Trade and other payables

– Trade creditors  4,367  –    –    –    4,367 
– Other creditors  1,417  –    –    –    1,417 
– Accruals  17,698  –    –    –    17,698 

 108,216  –    25,185  61,353  194,754 

 Market risk
 (i) Market price risk

The following financial assets are exposed to market risk:

Group Company

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial investments  846  8,978  –    7,771 
Stock of units and shares  268  537  –    –   

Available for sale financial assets

Financial investments  50,335  34,898  24,684  17,626 

 51,449  44,413  24,684 25,397

The Group’s defined benefit pension schemes hold assets which are exposed to market price risk.  Details of these assets are 
shown in note 35.
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 (ii)  Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk in respect of the following assets and liabilities:

(i)  financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies; and 
(ii)  the foreign currency risk of net assets of foreign operations.

Details of the Groups exposure to currency risk are provided in note 30.

 (iii)  Interest-rate risk
The carrying value and maturity profile of the Group and Company's financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk 
are shown in the following tables:

 Group

As at 30 september 2008

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Fixed rate

4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –   (2,904)  –    –   

uS dollar 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –   (70,126)

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents  82,161  –    –    –   

Bank revolving credit facility (46,529)  (100,000)   –    –   

35,632 (102,904)  –   (70,126)

As at 30 September 2007

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Fixed rate

4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –    –   (25,185)  –   
uS dollar 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –   (61,353)

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents  80,680  –    –    –   
unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2003-2008 (373)  –    –    –   
Bank revolving credit facility (47,947)  –    –    –   

 32,360  –   (25,185) (61,353)

 Company

As at 30 september 2008

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Fixed rate

4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –   (2,904)  –    –   

uS dollar 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –   (70,126)

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents 85  –    –    –   

Bank overdraft (34,302)  –    –    –   

Bank revolving credit facility (46,529)  (100,000)   –    –   

(80,746) (102,904)  –   (70,126)

Notes to the Accounts continued
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

As at 30 September 2007

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1-2 years

£’000

Within
2-5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Fixed rate
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  –    –   (25,185)  –   
uS dollar 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –   (61,353)

Floating rates 
Cash and cash equivalents  5,525  –    –    –   
Bank overdraft (36,787)  –    –    –   
Bank revolving credit facility (47,947)  –    –    –   

(79,209)  –   (25,185) (61,353)

 (v)  sensitivity analysis
The following analysis provides an indication of the impact of changes in the significant market risk variables on the fair value and 
cash flows of the Group's financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis covers the financial instruments at each of the balance sheet dates and assumes changes in market 
variables.  It should however be noted that due to the inherent uncertainty in world financial markets the assumptions made may 
differ significantly from the actual outcome particularly as market risks tend to be interdependent and are therefore unlikely to 
move in isolation.

The following assumptions have been made in respect of the market risks:

•	 Sterling	exchange	rates	are	assumed	to	increase	or	decrease	by	10%	
•	 Market	interest	rates	are	assumed	to	increase	or	decrease	by	1%	
•	 Fair	values	of	investments	are	assumed	to	increase	or	decrease	by	10%	at	each	reporting	date

The impact of the assumptions on the risk variables, net of tax, are as follows:

 Group

As at 30 september 2008

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Currency
Sterling/uSD exchange rates 364 (364) 4,906 (4,906)

Sterling/Euro – – 4,104 (4,104)

Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Investments
Sterling equity prices 1,271 (1,271) 2,083 (2,083)

Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%

Sterling market interest rates (264) 264 (264) 264

As at 30 September 2007

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Currency
Sterling/uSD exchange rates 318 (318) 2,453 (2,453)
Sterling/Euro – – 171 (171)
Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Investments
Sterling equity prices 627 (627) 1,082 (1,082)
Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%
Sterling market interest rates 105 (105) 105 (105)



122 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2008 

38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 Company

As at 30 september 2008

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement

Currency
Sterling/uSD exchange rates 364 (364) 5,501 (5,501)

Sterling/Euro – – 3 (3)

Fair value movement

Investments
Sterling equity prices 857 (857) 1,669 (1,669)

Interest rate movement

Sterling market interest rates (1,078) 1,078 (1,078) 1,078

As at 30 September 2007

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement

Currency
Sterling/uSD exchange rates 318 (318) 5,671 (5,671)
Sterling/Euro – – 38 (38)
Fair value movement

Investments
Sterling equity prices 542 (542) 998 (998)
Interest rate movement

Sterling market interest rates (639) 639 (639) 639

Responsibility statement

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 

•	 the	financial	statements,	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	applicable	set	of	accounting	standards	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole; and

•	 the	directors'	report	includes	a	fair	review	of	the	development	and	performance	of	the	business	and	the	position	of	the	issuer	and	
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that they face.

For and on behalf of the board

scott E Massie
Secretary

8 December 2008

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Five year summary

IFRs uK GAAP

2008 
£'000

2007
£'000

2006 
£'000

2005 
£'000

2004 
£'000

Revenue 430,086 347,843 302,124 156,124 140,011

Operating expenses
 –  Other (330,794) (251,299) (227,903) (123,215) (113,783)
 –  Exceptional integration costs (25,002) (20,301) (33,282) – (85,308)
 –  Amortisation of goodwill (13,785) (9,404) (9,847) – (19,122)
 –  Exceptional release of provisions – (46,776) (236) 2,600 –
Provision for impairment of goodwill and  

intangible assets – – – – (584)
Total operating expenses (369,581) (327,780) (271,268) (120,615) (218,797)

Other operating income 4,853 12,107 26,306 11,047 1,116
Operating profit before goodwill amortisation,  

impairment provisions and exceptional  
operating items 100,016 99,984 82,146 35,076 27,344

Amortisation of goodwill, impairment provisions  
and exceptional operating items (13,785) (9,404) (9,847) – (105,014)

Exceptional gains on investments and amortisation  
of intangibles (20,873) (58,410) (15,137) 11,468 –

Operating profit (loss) 65,358 32,170 57,162 46,556 (77,670)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – – – – 1,940
Gain on disposal of management contracts – – – – 421
Net finance costs (4,901) (8,497) (3,315) (14,897) (12,273)
Share of results of associates – – – (12) –

Profit (loss) before taxation 60,457 23,673 53,847 31,647 (87,582)
Tax on profit (loss) on ordinary activities (13,610) 6,970 (9,975) (5,869) 6,981

Profit (loss) after taxation 46,847 30,643 43,872 25,778 (80,601)
Minority interests - equity – – – – (170)

Profit (loss) for the financial year 46,847 30,643 43,872 25,778 (80,771)

Dividends

Equity dividends on ordinary shares (9,437)
Non-equity dividends on preference shares (46)

(9,483)

Retained loss for financial year (90,254)

Earnings (loss) per share - basic

Before goodwill amortisation, impairment  
provisions and exceptional costs 9.45p 12.29p 9.52p 4.68p 3.01p

After goodwill amortisation, impairment  
provisions and exceptional costs 4.57p 3.61p 6.41p 6.68p (22.46)p

Earnings per share - diluted

Before goodwill amortisation, impairment  
provisions and exceptional costs 9.01p 11.09p 8.95p 4.60p 3.01p

After goodwill amortisation, impairment  
provisions and exceptional costs 4.52p 3.50p 6.27p 6.64p (22.46)p

Dividend per share 5.80p 5.50p 4.40p 3.00p 2.57p

Assets under management at year end £111.1bn £95.3bn £73.2bn £59.7bn £22.1bn
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Notice of Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-sixth Annual General Meeting of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC will be held at The Marcliffe 
Hotel, North Deeside Road, Aberdeen, AB15 9YA at 12.00 noon on 22 January 2009 for the following purposes:

For ease of reference, explanatory notes are attached to each resolution.  The formal resolutions are contained in bold text.  
Resolutions 1 to 7 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions.

1 to receive the Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 30 september 2008 together with the Auditors’ 
Report thereon.

 Each financial year, the directors are required to present to the meeting the audited accounts and the directors’ and auditor’s 
reports for the financial year.  

2 to declare a final dividend of 3.0 pence per ordinary share of 10 pence each in the capital of the Company (‘ordinary 
share’).

 The board recommend that a final dividend of 3.0 pence per ordinary share is paid.  If approved by the shareholders, this dividend 
will be paid on 29 January 2009 to ordinary shareholders on the register of members at 5.00 pm on 12 December 2008.

3 to reappoint KPMG Audit Plc as Auditors and to authorise the directors to agree their remuneration.

 The Company’s auditors must offer themselves for reappointment at each Annual General Meeting at which accounts are presented.  
On the advice of the audit committee, the board propose that KPMG Audit Plc be reappointed as auditor of the Company.

4 to re-elect as a director Mr M J Gilbert who retires by rotation.

5 to re-elect as a director Mr A A Laing who retires by rotation.

 The Company’s Articles of Association provide that, one third of the directors must retire by rotation at each Annual General 
Meeting and that no director may serve beyond three years without offering themselves for re-election by the shareholders.  In 
accordance with these provisions and following the decision by Mr Irby not to seek re-election, Mr Gilbert and Mr Laing offer 
themselves for re-election.  Biographies of each of these directors are contained on page 33.

 The chairman confirms that following the completion of the annual performance evaluation and appraisal exercise, the performance 
of both directors seeking re-election continues to be effective and that these directors demonstrate commitment to their roles.  
Their re-election is therefore recommended.  

6 to approve the Remuneration Report.

 The Companies Act 1985  (the ‘1985 Act’) requires the directors to prepare an annual report detailing the remuneration of the 
directors and the Company’s remuneration policy and to seek shareholder approval to its contents.  The remuneration report is 
contained on pages 38 to 47.  

7 that the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purpose of section 80 of the 
1985 Act to exercise all the powers conferred pursuant to Article 12.2.1 of the Company’s Articles of Association up to 
an aggregate nominal amount equal to £17,223,012 (‘section 80 amount’) representing authorised unissued present 
share capital provided that this authority shall expire (unless previously renewed varied or revoked by the Company in 
general meeting) at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2010 (the 
‘prescribed period’).

 This resolution seeks to renew the authority conferred on the directors at last year’s Annual General Meeting to allot the authorised 
but unissued share capital up to a maximum nominal amount of £17,223,012, which represents the authorised unissued present 
share capital at 8 December 2008.  This authority will expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting.  

To consider the following resolutions which will be proposed as special resolutions:

8 that the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all powers conferred 
pursuant to Article 12.2.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association and pursuant to section 94 (2) to section 94 (3A) of 
the 1985 Act up to an aggregate nominal amount equal to £3,584,924 such authority to expire at the conclusion of the 
prescribed period (the ‘section 89 amount’).

 This resolution seeks to renew the authority conferred on the directors at last year’s Annual General Meeting to issue equity 
securities of the Company for cash other than on a pre-emptive basis as provided by the 1985 Act.  Other than in connection with a 
rights, scrip dividend or other similar issue, the authority contained in this resolution will be limited to issues of ordinary shares and/
or sales of treasury shares representing an aggregate nominal value of £3,584,924, which in turn represents 5% of the issued 
ordinary share capital at 8 December 2008.  This authority will expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting.
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9 that the Company is, pursuant to section 166 of the 1985 Act, hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to 
make market purchases (within the meaning of section 163 of the 1985 Act) of ordinary shares provided that:

(1) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 71,698,483 representing 10% of the 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company;

(2)  the minimum price which may be paid for ordinary shares is 10 pence per ordinary share;

(3)  the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an ordinary share shall be the higher of not more 
than (i) 5 per cent above the average of the middle market quotations for an ordinary share on the London stock 
Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which any such purchase is 
made and (ii) the higher of the last independent trade and the highest current bid on the London stock Exchange;

(4)  the Company may make a contract to purchase ordinary shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the 
expiry of such authority which contract to purchase will be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority, 
and may make the purchase of the ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract and;

(5)  the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to be 
held in 2010.

 This resolution renews the authority granted at last year’s Annual General Meeting and gives the Company authority to buy back its 
own ordinary shares as permitted by the 1985 Act.  The authority limits the number of ordinary shares that could be purchased to a 
maximum of 71,698,483, representing 10% of the issued share capital at 8 December 2008 and sets the minimum and maximum 
prices that can be paid.  This authority would only be exercised if the directors believed that to do so would result in an increase in 
earnings per share and would be in the interests of the shareholders generally.  At present, the directors have no current intention of 
utilising this authority.  If this authority was exercised, the ordinary shares repurchased would be cancelled or held in treasury.  There 
are 79,925 convertible preference share units which consist of a preference share and a warrant in Aberdeen Warrants (Jersey) 
Limited which if exercised would eventually result in a total of 82,396,907 ordinary shares in Aberdeen in issue.  There are also 
25,594,100 ordinary shares under option and 300 convertible bonds 2010 which if exercised or converted could result in a further 
2,793,000 ordinary shares in Aberdeen in issue.  There would therefore be a further 110,784,007 ordinary shares in Aberdeen, if all 
rights to subscribe were exercised representing 15.5% of the current issued share capital but before the buyback authority is utilised 
and would represent 17.2% of the issued share capital if the full authority sought at the Annual General Meeting is utilised.

10 that in accordance with sections 366 to 367 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘2006 Act’) the Company and all 
companies that are subsidiaries of the Company at any time during the period commencing on the date of this 
resolution and ending at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2010 be and is hereby 
authorised:

(1) to make political donations to political parties, and/or independent election candidates;

(2)  to make political donations to political organisations other than political parties; and 

(3)  to incur political expenditure;

 up to an aggregate amount of £100,000 and the amount authorised under each of paragraphs (1) to (3) shall also be 
limited to such amount.  Words and expressions defined for the purposes of the 2006 Act shall have the same meaning 
in this resolution.  

  All existing authorisations and approvals relating to political donations or expenditure under section 347C of the 1985 
Act are hereby revoked without prejudice to any donation made or expenditure incurred prior to the date hereof 
pursuant to such authorisation approval.

 It is the Company’s policy not to make any donations to political parties or incur political expenditure and the board does 
not intend to change that policy.
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 The 1985 Act required companies to obtain shareholders’ authority for donations to registered parties and other political 
organisations totalling more than £5,000 in any twelve month period and for any political expenditure, subject to limited 
exceptions.  The definition of donations in this context was very wide and extended to bodies such as those concerned with policy 
review and law reform, with the representation of the business community or sections of it.  It could also have included special 
interest groups, such as those involved with the environment and campaigning charities.  The relevant provisions of the 1985 Act 
have been replaced by similar provisions in Part 14 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘2006 Act’) with effect from 1 October 2007.

  The terms of this year’s resolution have been adjusted to reflect the different technical requirements of Part 14 of the 2006 Act.  
The board considers that it would be prudent, and to avoid inadvertent infringement of the 2006 Act, to obtain authority in 
accordance with Sections 366 to 367 of the 2006 Act to incur political expenditure, as defined in Section 365 of the 2006 Act, not 
exceeding £100,000 during the period from the date of the Annual General Meeting to the conclusion of next year’s Annual General 
Meeting.

By order of the board

scott E Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG
8 December 2008

Notes:
1 A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, vote and speak instead of him.  A proxy 

need not be a Member of the Company but must attend the Meeting to represent you.  You may appoint more than one proxy 
provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares.  You may not appoint more than one proxy to 
exercise the rights attached to any one share.  A form of proxy is enclosed.

  A Form of Proxy, in order to be valid, must be delivered to Equiniti Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 6ZR not 
later than 12.00 noon on 20 January 2009.

 The return of a completed Form of Proxy will not prevent you attending the meeting and voting in person if you wish to do so.

2 Copies of all contracts of service and letters of appointment of directors of the Company are available for inspection during normal 
business hours at the Company’s registered office on any weekday except Saturdays and public holidays, and at the place of the 
meeting for a period of fifteen minutes prior to the Annual General Meeting and during the meeting.

3   Only those Members entered on the Company’s Register of Members not later than 6.00pm on 20 January 2009 or, if the meeting 
is adjourned, shareholders entered on the Company’s Register of Members not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the 
adjourned meeting shall be entitled to attend, vote and speak at the meeting.

Notice of Meeting continued
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4 CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on 22 January 2009 and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the 
CREST Manual.  CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a 
voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate 
action on their behalf.

 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a ‘CREST 
Proxy Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear uK & Ireland Limited’s (‘Euroclear’) specifications 
and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual.  The message, regardless of 
whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or to an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy 
must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer's agent (ID RA19) by 12 noon on 20 January 2009.  For 
this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the 
CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer's agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner 
prescribed by CREST.  After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to 
the appointee through other means.

 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear does not make 
available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages.  Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in 
relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions.  It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST 
member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST 
sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of 
the CREST system by any particular time.  In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting 
service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST 
system and timings.

 The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the 
uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.  

5 You may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of Meeting or any related documents to communicate with 
the Company for any purpose other than as expressly stated.

6 In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives at the meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so that  
(i) if a corporate member has appointed the chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative with instructions to vote on a 
poll in accordance with the directions of all of the other corporate representatives will give voting directions to the chairman and 
the chairman will vote (or withhold a vote) as corporate representative in accordance with those directions; and (ii) if more than 
one corporate representative for the same corporate member attends the meeting but the corporate member has not appointed the 
chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative, a designated corporate representative will be nominated, from those 
corporate representatives who attend, who will vote on a poll and the other corporate representatives will give voting directions to 
that designated corporate representative.  Corporate members are referred to the guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and corporate representatives – www.icsa.org.uk – for further details on this procedure.  
The guidance includes a sample form of representation letter if the chairman is being appointed as described in (i) above.

7 As at 8 December 2008, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 716,985,867 of 10p each.  Each ordinary share carries the 
right to one vote at general meetings of the Company.  

 There are also 79, 925 convertible preference share units in existence which each consist of one preference share in Aberdeen 
(which in certain limited circumstances has voting rights) and one warrant to subscribe for preference shares in Aberdeen Warrants 
(Jerseyco) Limited (‘Jerseyco’).  upon the exercise of a warrant, preference shares in Jerseyco will be issued which are then (in 
accordance with the terms of the Jerseyco warrants) immediately exchangeable for ordinary shares in Aberdeen.  The total number 
of ordinary shares in Aberdeen which could result after the exercise of warrants and subsequent share exchange are 82,396,907 
ordinary shares with voting rights.  There are also 25,594,100 ordinary shares under option and 300 convertible bonds 2010 which if 
exercised or converted would result in a further 2,793,000 of ordinary shares (in aggregate) with voting rights.  The total number of 
voting rights in the Company as at 8 December 2008 is 716,985,867 ordinary shares.
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Principal offices

united Kingdom and Channel Islands  
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
10 Queen’s Terrace, Aberdeen AB10 1YG
Tel: +44 (0) 1224 631999 
Fax: +44 (0) 1224 647010

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
One Bow Churchyard, Cheapside, 
London EC4M 9HH
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7463 6000 
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7463 6001

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
Sutherland House
149 St vincent Street, Glasgow G2 5NW
Tel: +44 (0) 141 306 7400 
Fax: +44 (0) 141 306 7401

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
40 Princes Street
Edinburgh EH2 2BY
Tel: +44 (0) 131 528 4000 
Fax: +44 (0) 131 528 4400

Aberdeen Private Wealth Management Limited
No.1 Seaton Place, St Helier, Jersey JE4 8YJ
Tel: +44 (0) 1534 758847 
Fax: +44 (0) 1534 705052

Asia Pacific 
Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited
21 Church Street, #01-01 Capital Square Two, 
Singapore 049480
Tel: +65 6395 2700 
Fax: +65 6535 7159

Aberdeen Asset Management Limited
Level 6, 201 Kent Street, Sydney, 
NSW 2000, Australia
Tel +61 2 9950 2888 
Fax +61 2 9950 2800

Aberdeen Asset Management Japan Limited
E.T.S.  Muromachi Building
8F, 3-3-1 Nihonbashi, 
Muromachi Chuo-ku, Tokyo 103-0022
Japan
Tel +81 3 3245 2271  
Fax+81 3 3245 2300

Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited
Rooms 2605-06, 26/F Alexandra House,
18 Chater Road,Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2103 4700  
Fax: +852 2103 4788

Aberdeen Asset Management Company Limited
Bangkok City Tower, 28th Floor, 179 South Sathorn Road, 
Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120, Thailand
Tel: +66 2 352 3333  
Fax: +66 2 636 6482

Aberdeen Asset Management sdn Bhd
Suite 25.3 Level 25, Menara IMC, 
Letter Box No.  66
No.  8 Jalan Sultan Ismail, 
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel: +60 3 2053 3800  
Fax: +60 3 2031 1868

Aberdeen International securities Investment Consulting 
Company Limited
Exchange Square No 2
3/F-1, No 97
Songren Road
Taipei City, Taiwan
Tel +886 2 8722 4500  
Fax +886 2 8722 4501

Continental Europe 
Aberdeen Property Investors Holding AB
Luntmakargatan 34,  
Box 3039,  
103 63 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel: +46 8 412 8000   
Fax: +46 8 412 8004

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited 
WTC, A-Tower, 3rd Floor
Strawinskylaan 303
PO Box 79074
1070 NC Amsterdam
The Netherlands
Tel +31 20 6870 500
Fax +31 20 6844 291

Aberdeen Global services sA 
2b, rue Albert Borschette
L- 1246 Luxembourg
Tel +352 2 643 3000
Fax +352 2 643 3097

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited 
Main Building
Taunusanlage 15
60325 Frankfurt
Germany
Tel +49 69 719 16140
Fax +49 69 719 161411

united States of America
Aberdeen Asset Management Inc.
1735 Market Street, 37th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103
Tel: +(1) 215 405 5700  
Fax: +(1) 215 405 5780

Details of other office locations can be found on the  
Group’s website at www.aberdeen-asset.com
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Corporate information

Company Secretary
Scott E Massie

Registered Office
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG

Registered Number
82015

Registrar
Equiniti Limited
PO Box 28448
Finance House, Orchard Brae
Edinburgh EH4 1PF

Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
37 Albyn Place
Aberdeen AB10 1JB

Bankers
Bank of scotland Corporate
North of Scotland
3/5 Albyn Place
Aberdeen AB10 1YP

Stockbrokers
JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

The photography of the front cover and inside front pages feature Aberdeen Asset Management's new administration offices at union Plaza in the West End of the  
City of Aberdeen, Scotland.  Aberdeen Asset Management took space on the fourth and fifth floors of the building, moving much of its local operations there in October 2008.  
Photography© C. Irby, 2008.  Other photographs used in this annual report celebrate triangulation, which reflects the triangular shape within Aberdeen's distinctive logo.



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
10 Queen’s Terrace 
Aberdeen AB10 1YG 

Tel +44 (0) 1224 631999 
Fax +44 (0) 1224 647010

www.aberdeen-asset.com

A
berdeen A

sset M
anagem

ent PLC
 A

nnual Report and A
ccounts 2008

01 1001_1208


